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Management Report 
1 ––– POSITIONING OF THE MAYR-MELNHOF GROUP AND THE DIVISIONS 

GROUP 

Cartonboard and folding carton – our core business  

The core business of the Mayr-Melnhof Group is the production and sale of cartonboard and folding 

cartons. The cartonboard division, MM Karton, is the world’s largest producer of coated recycled fiber-

based cartonboard with a significant position in virgin fiber-based cartonboard. The packaging divi-

sion, MM Packaging, is the largest producer of folding cartons in Europe with a leading market posi-

tion in several countries outside of Europe.  

Cartonboard is the most important raw material in the production of folding carton packaging, folding 

cartons the most important packaging material for consumer goods. In the MM Group, both core busi-

ness areas are managed as independent profit centers which carry out business transactions at arm's 

length conditions. MM Karton supplies around 11 % of the cartonboard sales to MM Packaging, with 

the remaining share being sold to folding carton producers outside the Group. MM Packaging pro-

cures approximately one third of tonnage processed from MM Karton, while the remaining require-

ments are covered by third-party suppliers. 

Long-term orientation 

The Mayr-Melnhof Group is characterized by its long-term orientation. Our aim is to obtain sustainable 

profitable growth on a solid financial basis. Therefore, we focus on cost, technology, and innovation 

leadership in our core business areas. Excellent industrial production through continuous performance 

benchmarking among the locations, ongoing investments in state-of-the-art technologies, and innova-

tions as well as the constant development of our employees form the basis of our success, presently 

and in the future. 

Sustainable growth 

Based on our leading position in Europe, the Group's growth course is focused on expansion into new 

markets with attractive future potential as well as on intensified penetration of existing markets. The 

aim is to take a leading position in all countries and market segments in which we operate. The com-

bination of organic and acquisitive growth is intended to allow for a sustainable dynamic. 
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MAYR-MELNHOF KARTON 

Leading in coated recycled fiber-based cartonboard 

With an annual production capacity of around 1.7 million tons, MM Karton is the world's largest pro-

ducer of coated recycled fiber-based cartonboard with a significant position in the market of virgin 

fiber-based cartonboard. In 2015, approximately 80 % of the production was directed to recycled fiber-

based cartonboard and 20 % to virgin fiber-based cartonboard.  

High-performance cartonboard qualities for consumer goods packaging 

The cartonboard products of MM Karton are primarily used for manufacturing packaging for everyday 

consumer goods. With a wide product range and continuous development of cartonboard grades, a 

huge and growing spectrum of applications can be covered. Through development and innovation 

expertise MM Karton distinguishes itself in the market, setting new standards for products and ser-

vices along the entire value added chain.  

The main areas of use for our cartonboard products are particularly food packaging as well as packag-

ing for hygiene and household products. Accordingly demand for cartonboard correlates largely with 

private consumption.  

Plastic is the most important competitive product for cartonboard in the packaging market with a high 

dependency on the price of crude oil, a different range of applications and a broad variety of  

specializations. 

Broad customer base 

MM Karton supplies primarily printing companies in the still highly fragmented folding carton indus-

try. Accordingly, more than 1,000 customers are served worldwide. The sales organization focuses on 

the main product groups recycled fiber-based cartonboard, virgin fiber-based cartonboard, and liner 

(coated top layer for the corrugated board industry) in order to meet the specific requirements and 

needs of our markets in a more individual manner.  

Highly efficient concentrated production and worldwide sale 

MM Karton produces on nine highly efficient cartonboard machines at seven European locations in 

four countries: Germany, Austria, Slovenia and the Netherlands. By delivering the same products from 

several locations, we ensure maximum supply security, reliability, and logistical advantages.  

Continuous reduction of unit costs and technological progress are decisive competitive factors in the 

cartonboard production. For this reason, we have concentrated our production on high-performing 

cartonboard machines and sustainably invest in the further development of our mills to achieve the 

highest technical level. The capital efficiency of additional capacity created in this way is generally 

significantly higher than that provided by newly built machines. 
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Due to a competitive cost base, we are able to sell our cartonboard products all over the world. How-

ever, our main market is Europe, where MM Karton has been keeping the leading market position for 

several decades.  

Owing to a high level of specific finishing of cartonboard in individual formats and high logistical de-

mands regarding short-term delivery to customers, the European cartonboard market is primarily 

supplied from Europe. Trade between the continents still plays a minor role, particularly for recycled 

fiber-based cartonboard. 

Production of coated cartonboard is an industrial process with a high level of raw material and energy 

consumption. A so called "coating", consisting primarily of chalk, fillers and binders, is applied to the 

cartonboard, making it suitable for high-quality print. Fibers, in particular recovered paper and 

groundwood pulp, count, alongside energy, chemicals and logistics, among the most important cost 

factors. The strategic raw material recovered paper is purchased primarily on the spot market. In addi-

tion to this, long-term supply opportunities from municipalities and waste-management companies 

are also used. Due to sustainable high recycling quotas in Europe, we consider the continued supply of 

our cartonboard mills secured in the long term.  

According to our estimates, recorded global cartonboard capacities amount to around 48 million tons 

per year, with cartonboard for folding cartons accounting for around 38 million tons and special prod-

ucts, such as cartonboard for liquid packaging and technical cartonboard (plasterboard), accounting 

for approximately 10 million tons. 

Concentration in the cartonboard industry in Europe and the US is already far advanced. The five larg-

est suppliers currently account for around 70 % of European cartonboard capacities. Asia has experi-

enced the most dynamic growth in consumption and new capacities in the recent past, whereby the 

last years already turned out noticeably subdued.  

As a result of the shift from the production of graphical papers to cartonboard packaging products 

made from virgin fibers, the competition among suppliers of virgin fiber-based cartonboard qualities 

will intensify.  

The goal of MM Karton remains to maintain sustainable profitability through the highest level of effi-

ciency in production and continuously developing the key product recycled fiber-based cartonboard as 

well as attractive virgin fiber-based qualities. 
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MAYR-MELNHOF PACKAGING 

Leading folding carton producer 

MM Packaging, including the youngest acquisition in France, processes 753,000 tons of recycled and 

virgin fiber-based cartonboard per year into around 59 billion consumer goods packages. Therefore 

MM Pacakging is not only the leading producer of folding cartons in Europe but also one of the largest 

worldwide.  

Europe is the core market with a sales share of around 90 %. In addition, we hold a leading position in 

several future markets outside of Europe. By means of an extensive international network of sites, which 

currently comprises 38 production plants in 16 countries on 4 continents, we are not just located near our 

largely international customers, but also supply a broad range of specialized sales segments. 

The geographical areas of focus of our production sites are Europe, the region Middle East/North  

Africa, Latin America, and the Far East. In technological and sales terms, we meet the needs of the 

large market of fast-moving consumer goods (FMCG) as well as the highly specialized areas of ciga-

rettes, pharmaceuticals, detergents, personal care and luxury products. In addition to multinational 

customers, who account for around three quarters of sales, business with a large number of regional 

customers is another key area. In total, more than 1,500 customers are supplied, supported by a key 

account management dedicated to the specific aspects of the respective markets.  

Targeted growth with strong customers and a continuous acquisition activity have determined the 

expansion path of MM Packaging for a long time. Along this path, tonnage processed of the division 

has increased by more than seven times in the last 20 years.  

Broad technological basis 

The production of folding cartons is a multi-step process: Cartonboard is printed, cut, glued and fin-

ished in various processes and then delivered to the respective customer’s packing system to be filled 

with consumer goods.  

The division's plant and equipment comprise all common state-of-the-art preprinting, printing and 

finishing technologies. By constant optimization of processes and products as well as ongoing innova-

tions, we pursue a continuous lead in all our sales markets with regard to quality as well as efficiency. 

According to the profit center principle, the most significant raw material cartonboard is purchased by 

an own procurement organization of MM Packaging at market conditions. 



 

MANAGEMENT REPORT 

MAYR-MELNHOF KARTON AG, ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2015 6 

Focus on high-performance production  

The folding carton industry shows a more fragmented structure than the cartonboard industry and 

faces continuous predatory competition. A constant reduction of unit costs and high-quality perfor-

mance are crucial for long-term competitiveness. Therefore, MM Packaging has focused particularly on 

industrial volume business and high-end packaging. With the aim of establishing "best practice" and 

cost leadership, processes are highly standardized and are further optimized across the division by 

permanent benchmarking at state-of-the-art technology. 

Pursuing this approach in the long run also means that acquisitions and capacity expansions can be 

integrated into the Group with manageable risk. 

Similarly to the cartonboard market, demand for folding cartons develops parallel to the overall econo-

my, especially to private consumption. Accordingly, MM Packaging has been growing for years 

through displacement, organically as well as through acquisitions. Outside of Europe, the main focus 

of expansion has largely been on future markets with attractive demographic development and eco-

nomic potential.  

As the economic supply radius compared to the cartonboard market is clearly restricted to the relevant 

regional market, it is our goal to be present in new sales markets with high-performance production 

facilities and high quality at the earliest stage possible. The same applies to our activity in product 

segments in which supplier concentration for folding carton packaging is not very advanced yet. 

According to our estimates, the five largest European producers still have a market share of around 

one third, with MM Packaging being by far the largest producer.  

The majority of suppliers is characterized by medium-sized business operations. In contrast, concen-

tration among consumer goods manufacturers as well as retailers is continuing, thus several large 

folding carton producers have specialized in certain customer segments.  

The strategic goal of MM Packaging, as cost, market and technology leader and partner of large cus-

tomers from different consumer goods industries, aims at expanding our position in mature as well as 

new markets and securing a high return on capital employed in the long run.  
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2 ––– DEVELOPMENT IN THE YEAR 2015 

GENERAL ECONOMIC SITUATION 

The dynamic of the global economy slowed down in 2015. While developed economies, such as the US 

and Europe, experienced a robust business cycle, the economic situation in many emerging markets 

deteriorated further. Although the decline in energy prices as well as falling commodity prices promote 

growth in advanced industrial countries for the foreseeable future, they are the source of major prob-

lems for export-oriented, developing economies. In the euro area, lower oil prices increased real dis-

posable household income and the monetary easing strengthened price competitiveness over curren-

cies of the most important trading partners. Against the backdrop of stable domestic demand, the 

economies in the EU member states of Central and Eastern Europe also showed a solid performance. 

As a consequence, the important indicators for our business, such as private purchasing power and 

consumption, developed robustly in our main market Europe. 

 

INDUSTRY DEVELOPMENT 

On the whole, sales of consumer goods in 2015 were solid under the stable general economic condi-

tions in Europe which, however, still lacked momentum. Demand for cartonboard and folding cartons 

was therefore characterized by a high degree of continuity, but without any sign of a noticeable reviv-

al. Due to sufficiently available capacities, the European cartonboard as well as the folding carton 

market were again subject to fierce price competition. Short-term planning by customers continued 

within the strongly optimized supply chain and required a high degree of flexibility in production and 

sales. Prices for recovered paper which had increased significantly towards the middle of the year due 

to the robust market development stabilized at a high level in the second half of the year. In contrast, 

spot prices for energy developed favorably. There were no major changes in the composition of the 

large European cartonboard manufacturers in 2015. However, the consolidation process in the Europe-

an folding carton industry continued.  

Demand outside of Europe, especially in the markets of Turkey, Russia as well as the Middle East and 

North Africa, tended to be strained as a result of the political and economic situation. 
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DEVELOPMENT OF BUSINESS 2015 

GROUP 

The Mayr-Melnhof Group was able to maintain its position in 2015 very successfully despite a lack of 

general economic impulses and concluded the financial year with solid growth of both sales and profit. 

Both divisions, MM Karton and MM Packaging, made a significant contribution to this with high ca-

pacity utilization at the plants as well as improved productivity and cost efficiency. Market shares 

were maintained or selectively expanded in a persistingly highly competitive market environment. 

Besides organic growth, the first step towards the market for luxury and pharmaceutical packaging 

was made with the acquisition of a leading French folding carton group.  

As a result of the positive profit development, a recommendation will be made to the 22nd Ordinary 

Shareholders’ Meeting on April 28, 2016, to distribute a dividend of EUR 1.20 per share. Together with 

the interim dividend for 2015 of EUR 1.60 per share, which has already been paid out, this represents 

an increase in the total dividend from EUR 2.60 in 2014 to EUR 2.80 per share. 

 

Consolidated income statements 

Consolidated income statements (condensed version) 

  

(in millions of EUR) 
Year ended 

Dec. 31, 2015 
Year ended 

Dec. 31, 2014 +/- 

Sales 2,181.5 2,087.4 +4.5 % 

Operating profit 199.9 180.2 +10.9 % 

Financial result and result from investments (9.3) (9.2)   

Income tax expense (48.5) (39.4)   

Profit for the year 142.1 131.6 +8.0 % 
  

 

The Group’s consolidated sales totaled EUR 2,181.5 million and were thus 4.5 % or EUR 94.1 million 

above the previous year’s amount (2014: EUR 2,087.4 million). This rise primarily results from increased 

volumes in both divisions. Around one-fifth of the growth is accounted for by the latest acquisition of 

MM Packaging in France. Regional sales allocation remained almost unchanged, with the main focus 

on Western Europe (2015: 58.4 %; 2014: 58.7 %), followed by Eastern Europe (2015: 26.5 %; 2014:  

26.3 %) and markets outside of Europe (2015: 15.1 %; 2014: 15.0 %). Intra-group sales amounted to  

EUR 102.5 million (2014: EUR 103.2 million) and principally involved deliveries from MM Karton to  

MM Packaging. 
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Group sales by destination 

  

(in %) 
Year ended 

Dec. 31, 2015 
Year ended 

Dec. 31, 2014

Western Europe (excl. Austria) 55.8 % 55.3 % 

Austria 2.6 % 3.4 % 

Eastern Europe 26.5 % 26.3 % 

Latin America 5.5 % 5.1 % 

Asia 5.3 % 5.6 % 

Other 4.3 % 4.3 % 

Total 100.0 % 100.0 % 
 

 

Cost of sales 

Percentage of sales    

(in millions of EUR) 
Year ended

Dec. 31, 2015
Year ended

Dec. 31, 2014 +/- 
Year ended 

Dec. 31, 2015 
Year ended 

Dec. 31, 2014

Cost of materials and purchased services 1,259.6 1,192.0 5.7 % 57.7 % 57.1 % 

Personnel expenses 290.3 276.6 5.0 % 13.3 % 13.3 % 

Depreciation, amortization and impairment1) 84.2 83.42) 1.0 % 3.9 % 4.0 % 

Other expenses 46.3 64.72) -28.4 % 2.1 % 3.1 % 

Cost of sales 1,680.4 1,616.7 3.9 % 77.0 % 77.5 % 
  

1) of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 
2) adjusted by impairment 

 

Cost of sales for operating performance increased in relation to the comparative value of the previous 

year by EUR 63.7 million or 3.9 % to EUR 1,680.4 million (2014: EUR 1,616.7 million). This rise mainly 

resulted from the expansion of business volumes in both divisions. Its share in sales amounted to  

77.0 % (2014: 77.5 %). 

Selling and distribution, administrative  

and other operating expenses 

Percentage of sales    

(in millions of EUR) 
Year ended

Dec. 31, 2015
Year ended

Dec. 31, 2014 +/- 
Year ended 

Dec. 31, 2015 
Year ended 

Dec. 31, 2014

Personnel expenses 115.8 112.8 2.7 % 5.3 % 5.4 % 

Depreciation, amortization and impairment1) 15.4 10.5 46.7 % 0.7 % 0.5 % 

Other expenses 187.3 182.5 2.6 % 8.6 % 8.7 % 

Selling and distribution, administrative 
and other operating expenses 318.5 305.8 4.2 % 14.6 % 14.6 % 

  
1) of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 

 

Selling and distribution costs as well as administrative expenses went up from EUR 305.8 million to 

EUR 318.5 million, especially due to higher transportation and personnel costs. The share of selling and 
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distribution costs, administrative expenses and other operating costs in sales, at 14.6 % (2014: 14.6 %), 

remained largely constant.  

At EUR 199.9 million, operating profit was 10.9 % or EUR 19.7 million above the previous year (2014: 

EUR 180.2 million). Both divisions made substantial contributions to this growth. Thus, the Group’s 

operating margin increased from 8.6 % to 9.2 %. The return on capital employed amounted to 16.1 % 

(2014: 15.5 %). 

With continuing low base interest rates, financial income of EUR 2.2 million (2014: EUR 1.5 million), 

was offset by financial expenses of EUR -6.3 million (2014: EUR -5.2 million). The financial result, at 

EUR -9.3 million (2014: EUR -9.2 million), remained overall negative. 

Profit before tax thus went up by 11.5 % to EUR 190.6 million after EUR 171.0 million in the previous 

year. Income taxes, which are paid in 27 countries, totaled EUR 48.5 million (2014: EUR 39.4 million), 

resulting in an effective Group tax rate of 25.4 %, which was above the level of the previous year  

(2014: 23.0 %). 

 

Profit for the year, earnings per share 
Profit for the year thus rose by 8.0 % to EUR 142.1 million (2014: EUR 131.6 million). Consequently, the 

net profit margin increased from 6.3 % to 6.5 %. In the financial year 2015, there was an unchanged 

total of 20,000,000 shares outstanding, resulting in earnings per share of EUR 7.08 (2014: EUR 6.54) 

related to the profit for the year attributable to the shareholders of the Company totaling  

EUR 141.6 million (2014: EUR 130.9 million). Cash earnings generated in the Group went up by 7.7 % to 

EUR 238.4 million (2014: EUR 221.3 million), while the cash earnings margin increased slightly  

from 10.6 % to 10.9 %. 
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Value added 
The Group’s net value added is the difference between total operating revenue and products and 

services provided by third parties. In the statement of distribution, the share of all parties participating 

in the net value added is shown.  

Value added 
 

(in millions of EUR) 
Year ended 

Dec. 31, 2015 
Year ended 

Dec. 31, 2015 
Year ended 

Dec. 31, 2014 
Year ended 

Dec. 31, 2014 

Origin:         

Sales 2,181.5   2,087.4   

Other operating income 17.2   15.3   

Change in finished goods and own work capitalized 19.9   4.1   

Financial result and result from investments (9.3)   (9.2)   

Total operating revenue 2,209.3   2,097.6   

(-) Expenditures on purchased goods and services (1,508.1)   (1,438.9)2)   

(-) Depreciation, amortization and impairment1) (99.6)   (93.9)2)   

Net value added 601.6 100.0 % 564.8 100.0 % 

Distribution:         

Employees (238.1) (39.6 %) (228.0) (40.4 %) 

Social benefit costs (112.2) (18.6 %) (108.1) (19.1 %) 

Public authorities (109.2) (18.2 %) (97.1) (17.2 %) 

Non-controlling (minority) interests (0.6) (0.1 %) (0.7) (0.1 %) 

Shareholders' dividend3) (56.0) (9.3 %) (52.0) (9.2 %) 

Company 85.5 14.2 % 78.9 14.0 % 
 

1) of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 
2) adjusted by impairment 
3) thereof EUR 32.0 million interim dividend for 2015 and EUR 24.0 million proposed for 2015 

 

The total operating revenue generated by the Group in the financial year 2015 amounted to  

EUR 2,209.3 million following EUR 2,097.6 million in 2014. After consideration of expenditures on pur-

chased goods and services as well as depreciation, amortization and impairment of EUR 1,607.7 million, a 

net value added of EUR 601.6 million was achieved (2014: EUR 564.8 million).  

As before, the major part of the net value added of 39.6 % or EUR 238.1 million (2014: 40.4 %;  

EUR 228.0 million) was distributed to the Group’s employees. The shareholders will receive a dividend 

of a total of EUR 56.0 million or 9.3 % of the net value added for the financial year 2015 after taking into 

account the interim dividend of EUR 32.0 million (2014: EUR 52.0 million; 9.2 %). A profit of  

EUR 85.5 million or 14.2 % of the net value added will be retained within the Group (2014:  

EUR 78.9 million; 14.0 %). 
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Assets, capital, and liquid funds 

Consolidated balance sheets (condensed version) 
  

(in millions of EUR) Dec. 31, 2015 Dec. 31, 2014 

Non-current assets 928.1 826.3 

Current assets 972.2 960.7 

Total assets 1,900.3 1,787.0 

Total equity 1,144.2 1,102.2 

Non-current liabilities 351.6 290.3 

Current liabilities 404.5 394.5 

Total equity and liabilities 1,900.3 1,787.0 
  

 

As of December 31, 2015, the Group's total assets amounted to EUR 1,900.3 million and were thus 

EUR 113.3 million above the figure at the end of the previous year. The Group’s total equity in-

creased slightly from EUR 1,102.2 million to EUR 1,144.2 million, with the profit for the year being 

offset by the dividend for the financial year 2014 as well as the interim dividend for 2015. Total equi-

ty to total assets was therefore 60.2 % (December 31, 2014: 61.7 %), the return on equity at 12.7 % 

(December 31, 2014: 11.9 %).  

Financial liabilities, principally of a long-term character, climbed from EUR 265.9 million to  

EUR 293.3 million as a result of raising low-interest loans. Provisions for non-current liabilities and 

charges relating to accruals for employee benefits decreased slightly to EUR 118.1 million  

(December 31, 2014: EUR 121.2 million). 

Total funds available to the Group declined to EUR 258.3 million, mainly due to dividend payments 

(December 31, 2014: EUR 324.2 million). Accordingly, net liquidity of the previous year totaling  

EUR 58.3 million contrasts with the net debt of EUR 35.0 million at the end of 2015. Furthermore, as of 

December 31, 2015, credit lines amounting to EUR 412.6 million were available to the Group and can 

be utilized at any time (December 31, 2014: EUR 466.4 million).  

Non-current assets rose, primarily as a consequence of the acquisition in France as well as investing 

activities, to EUR 928.1 million (December 31, 2014: EUR 826.3 million). At EUR 972.2 million, current 

assets exceeded the comparative figure of the previous year by EUR 11.5 million, principally as a result 

of higher levels of receivables and inventories (December 31, 2014: EUR 960.7 million). 
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Cash flow development 

Consolidated cash flow statements (condensed version) 
  

(in millions of EUR) 
Year ended 

Dec. 31, 2015 
Year ended 

Dec. 31, 2014 

Net cash from operating activities 206.7 165.8 

Net cash from investing activities (198.0) (122.3) 

Net cash from financing activities (70.6) (18.8) 

Effect of exchange rate changes (3.2) (2.5) 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (< 3 months) (65.1) 22.2 

Cash and cash equivalents (< 3 months) at the end of the year 255.0 320.1 

Current and non-current securities 3.3 4.1 

Total funds available to the Group 258.3 324.2 
  

 

Cash flow from operating activities totaled EUR 206.7 million and was thus EUR 40.9 million above the 

comparative value of the previous year (2014: EUR 165.8 million). This difference mainly results from an 

increase in the profit for the year as well as a lower rise in working capital. 

Cash flow from investing activities climbed from EUR -122.3 million to EUR -198.0 million. This change 

is primarily due to higher net payments for the acquisition in France, amounting to EUR 76.1 million. 

Expenditures for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets totaled  

EUR 130.4 million (2014: EUR 125.4 million).  

Investment expenditures of MM Karton amounted to EUR 76.9 million (2014: EUR 73.6 million) and 

were related in particular to payments in connection with the remaining activation of the investment 

for FOODBOARDTM as well as technical projects aimed at increasing cost efficiency and revisions. 

Investment expenditures of MM Packaging totaled EUR 53.5 million (2014: EUR 51.8 million) and pri-

marily involved technological modernizations of machinery as well as expansion of sites.  

Cash flow from financing activities changed from EUR -18.8 million to EUR -70.6 million, principally 

due to the repayment of loans. 

 

Further information 
At the end of October 2015, the MM Packaging division completed the acquisition of the folding carton 

business of Ileos SA, France. The company operates in the fields of pharmaceutical as well as luxury 

and cosmetics packaging and generates sales of around EUR 120 million per year. Integration into the 

Group was effected as of October 30, 2015. The pharmaceutical packaging business was summarized 

into the company MMP Packetis SAS, the packaging business for luxury and cosmetic articles into the 

company MMP Premium SAS.   
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Definition of financial indicators 

Cash earnings 

Sum of profit for the year before depreciation, amortization as well as impairment of property, plant and 

equipment and intangible assets and before deferred taxes. 

Cash earnings margin 

Cash earnings divided by sales. 

Total equity to total assets 

Total equity divided by total assets. 

Net debt/net liquidity 

The sum of interest-bearing current and non-current financial liabilities, including liabilities from  

finance lease, less cash and cash equivalents as well as current and non-current securities. In case that 

the sum of cash and cash equivalents as well as securities exceeds the financial liabilities there is net 

liquidity. 

Net profit margin 

Profit for the year divided by sales. 

Operating margin 

Operating profit divided by sales. 

Return on capital employed (ROCE) 

Profit before tax, excluding net interest income/expenses and excluding the respective profit attribut-

able to non-controlling (minority) shareholders according to IAS 32, divided by the sum of average total 

equity plus average current and non-current interest-bearing financial liabilities, including liabilities 

from finance lease, average provisions for non-current liabilities and charges and average obligations 

with regard to non-controlling (minority) shareholders according to IAS 32, less average cash and cash 

equivalents as well as current and non-current securities. 

Return on equity (ROE) 

Profit for the year divided by average total equity.  

All indicators were calculated exclusively on the basis of the information provided in the consolidated 

financial statements. 
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BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT IN THE DIVISIONS 

 

MM Karton 
The year 2015 was still characterized by seasonal fluctuations in the ordering behavior and cautious 

call-offs by customers in all markets. There was no noticeable improvement in demand. The average 

order backlog, at 80,000 tons, was above the previous year (2014: 61,000 tons). Through flexibility in 

dealing with short planning intervals, an optimized product range and a high level of service, it was 

possible to strengthen and selectively increase market shares. 

With 1,677,000 tons, the cartonboard mills were able to exceed the production volume of the previous 

year (2014: 1,585,000 tons) by 92,000 tons or 5.8 %. Based on the average number of employees,  

657 tons per employee were produced (2014: 622 tons). The Frohnleiten mill resumed production after 

the almost one-month downtime due to the conversion of the cartonboard machine 3 in November 

2014 for the FOODBOARDTM investment without any further corrective action. At 98 % (2014: 97 %), 

capacities at the MM Karton division were nearly fully utilized. High price discipline in a rather volatile 

market environment allowed us to maintain prices as compared with the previous year. 

On the raw material markets, a significant increase in prices for recovered paper and fibers by the 

middle of the year was contrasted especially by lower costs for energy.  

At 1,660,000 tons (2014: 1,586,000 tons), the highest sales volume ever was achieved in 2015, and thus, 

4.7 % higher than in the previous year. 

Sales increased by 4.4 % from EUR 1,002.8 million to EUR 1,046.7 million in parallel with volumes. As in 

the previous year, around 63 % of this was accounted for by markets in Western Europe, 20 % by East-

ern Europe, and 17 % by business outside of Europe (2014: 63 %; 20 %; 17 %). With a share of deliveries 

of 11 % or 181,000 tons (2014: 11 %; 174,000 tons), MM Packaging again was MM Karton's largest 

customer in 2015. A total of more than 1,000 customers, mostly medium-sized processing businesses, 

are supplied worldwide. 

It was possible to increase the operating profit by 10.6 % or EUR 7.9 million to EUR 82.6 million (2014: 

EUR 74.7 million), primarily as a result of higher productivity and further cost reductions. The operating 

margin reached 7.9 % following 7.4 % in 2014. The return on capital employed was 15.9 % after 16.1 % 

in the previous year. Cash earnings totaling EUR 95.4 million (2014: EUR 88.5 million) were generated, 

with a cash earnings margin amounting to 9.1 % (2014: 8.8 %). 

Market launch FOODBOARDTM 

FOODBOARDTM, a new, high-quality coated cartonboard with a unique functional barrier for safe pri-

mary food packaging, will be available on the market from the 1st quarter of 2016 following the optimi-

zation for high-performance processing carried out in 2015. 
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Divisional indicators MM Karton  

  

(in millions of EUR) 
Year ended 

Dec. 31, 2015 
Year ended 

Dec. 31, 2014 +/- 

Sales1) 1,046.7 1,002.8 +4.4 % 

Operating profit 82.6 74.7 +10.6 % 

Operating margin (%) 7.9 % 7.4 %   

Return on capital employed (%) 15.9 % 16.1 %   

Tonnage sold (in thousands of tons) 1,660 1,586 +4.7 % 

Tonnage produced (in thousands of tons) 1,677 1,585 +5.8 % 
  
1) including interdivisional sales 

 

MM Packaging 
Sales of consumer goods in Europe were overall solid over the year. However, notable market impulses 

for the folding carton business failed to materialize in Europe as well as in markets outside of Europe. 

Price competition remains fierce, owing to sufficient existing production capacities in the market.  

MM Packaging therefore focuses on cost and technology leadership based on highly efficient industri-

al production and continuous investment in state-of-the-art technology. Combined with a broad geo-

graphical network of sites and a wide range of technological specializations, MM Packaging was able 

to maintain its leading position in markets like FMCG (fast-moving consumer goods), cigarette pack-

aging and detergents also in 2015. 

In the financial year 2015, a high number of measures was again aimed at continuously improving 

competitiveness and profitability of MM Packaging through increased efficiency and productivity as 

well as enabling further growth. 

In Austria, MM Packaging Austria with its two sites, in Vienna and Gunskirchen, Upper Austria, has 

concentrated its folding carton production on the larger facility in Vienna, securing its future as a high-

performance site. 

In Southeast Asia, the MM Packaging site Vidon in Vietnam is being developed for further exploitation 

of this market. The production of the start-up business MM Packaging Malaysia has therefore been 

integrated into the Vietnamese site. 

The acquisition of a leading French folding carton producer represents the first step towards entering 

the market for luxury and pharmaceutical packaging. 
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Compared to the previous year, tonnage processed increased by 3.8 % from 702,000 tons to 729,000 tons. 

Similarly, the number of printed sheets (sheet equivalent) climbed 3.1 % from 1,996.6 million to  

2,059.3 million. The sheet equivalent per employee rose from 290 thousand to 303 thousand. 

In line with volumes, sales went up by 4.2 % to EUR 1,237.3 million (2014: EUR 1,187.7 million). With re-

gard to geographical distribution, sales in Western and Eastern Europe at 55 % and 32 %, respectively, as 

well as business outside of Europe at 13 % showed a high degree of continuity (2014: 56 %; 32 %; 12 %). 

MM Packaging supplies more than 1,500 customers in various consumer goods industries. The main 

sales areas in 2015 remain packaging for food and cigarettes. 

Owing to the high degree of concentration of multinational consumer goods producers, almost three-

quarters of the division‘s business has been generated with them for a long time. In 2015, around 42 % 

of sales (2014: 40 %) was attributable to the top five customers.  

At EUR 117.3 million, operating profit exceeded the value of the previous year by 11.2 % as a result of 

improved cost efficiency (2014: EUR 105.5 million). The operating margin accordingly increased to  

9.5 % (2014: 8.9 %). 

The return on capital employed amounted to 16.2 % (2014: 15.1 %). Cash earnings totaled  

EUR 143.0 million (2014: EUR 132.8 million), representing a cash earnings margin of 11.6 % (2014: 11.2 %). 

Divisional indicators MM Packaging  

  

(in millions of EUR) 
Year ended 

Dec. 31, 2015 
Year ended 

Dec. 31, 2014 +/- 

Sales1) 1,237.3 1,187.7 +4.2 % 

Operating profit 117.3 105.5 +11.2 % 

Operating margin (%) 9.5 % 8.9 %   

Return on capital employed (%) 16.2 % 15.1 %   

Tonnage processed (in thousands of tons) 729 702 +3.8 % 

Sheet equivalent (in millions) 2,059.3 1,996.6 +3.1 % 
  
1) including interdivisional sales 
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3 ––– HUMAN RESOURCES  

A total of 9,938 employees were employed by the Mayr-Melnhof Group in 26 countries at the end of 

2015. Their competence, performance, and sense of responsibility form the foundation for the sustaina-

ble success of the Mayr-Melnhof Group. Our human resources activities are directed at safeguarding 

conditions over the long term in which our employees can effectively implement strategy and continu-

ous change in a dynamic global environment. Furthermore, it is our aim to ensure that highly qualified 

specialists and managers are sustainably available to the Company.  

Thus, we constantly evaluate our human resources program and adapt it to current requirements. The 

program focuses on strategic personnel planning, employee recruitment and development, education 

and advanced training as well as the systematic preservation of knowledge within the Group. Human 

resources are centrally managed by the function "Corporate Human Resources" and implemented 

locally in the individual locations. 

Living corporate values 

Mutual trust, respect, and high loyalty characterize our corporate culture, where we work as a perfor-

mance-oriented community with shared values. Responsibility, performance, and passion are the fun-

damental values which are practiced every day and which we promulgated throughout the Group in 

the past financial year in an internal communication campaign using a large number of real-life exam-

ples. Moreover, in integrating our latest acquisition in France with around 770 employees, special focus 

was placed on alignment with the corporate culture and corporate values of MM from the very beginning. 

Openness and subsidiarity are fundamental principles within our organization, characterized by a high 

degree of personal responsibility and individual entrepreneurship. This enables us to ensure the re-

quired efficiency, speed and flexibility to maintain competitive strength in the long run. 

The MM Group stands for continuity as well as for responsible, well-timed change and foresight, which 

are also reflected in the long-term development of our human resources. 

Prospective personnel development 

As we have practiced successfully for generations, our aim is to retain talents and knowledge within 

the Group in the long run. We therefore follow the approach of filling vacant positions as well as new 

areas of responsibility, wherever possible, internally and thereby open up attractive career opportuni-

ties within the MM Group. This requires prospective development and training of our employees, 

which we encourage at all levels, at individual locations as well as through mobility within the Group. 

For this purpose, a large number of programs has been sustainably anchored into the Group that are 

continuously optimized and systematically accompany employees throughout their careers at MM. 
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Award as "Top Company for apprenticeships"  

With our "Young Professionals" program we offer ambitious young people a training path that goes far 

beyond the conventional apprenticeship. After a careful selection process, we support our junior staff 

both in acquiring high professional skills as well as in developing their personalities and proving them-

selves in an international environment.  

In 2015, MM was awarded the quality seal "Top Company for apprenticeships" by the Austrian Chamber 

of Commerce. 

At the end of 2015, the Group had around 202 apprentices (December 31, 2014: 204) in training. The 

focus continues to be on industrial and technical professions. 

With the support of mentors, the "Young Professionals ++" program results in the targeted transfer of 

technical and managerial responsibility a few years after completion of an apprenticeship. 

In the "Ranger" program we prepare "High Potentials" for future key positions within the Group. Pro-

fessional qualification, high motivation, language skills, and international mobility are fundamental 

requirements for taking part in this program. The development plan involves three different areas of 

responsibility at three locations within three years. 

Moreover the "Sales Explorer" and "Finance Explorer" training initiatives, which were extended by the 

"IT Explorer" in 2015, offer attractive career paths in Key Account Management, Controlling, or IT. 

MM-Academy 

The "MM-Academy" is the central institution for education and advanced training within the Group 

for our employees at all levels. Training focuses on developing social and managerial skills in addition 

to specialist knowledge and language skills as well as the "MM Apprentice Academy". The  

"MM-Academy" trains around 1,500 employees every year.  

A special focus in 2015 was placed on the relaunch of a "Leadership Academy" especially tailored to 

MM. Furthermore, a managing directors’ training was offered for the first time, which was very posi-

tively received. 
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Proactively against the demographic change 

We are addressing the expected shortage of specialists resulting from demographic change with fore-

sight. For this purpose, we promote projects that tie the expert knowledge of older employees to the 

Group in the long run ("Methusalems" program). In combination with the "Ranger" and "Explorer" 
programs this constitutes an effective bridge between young and old. 

We use continuous collaboration with schools, universities, and colleges as well as regular participa-

tion in career fairs to sustainably position the MM Group as an attractive employer and to establish 

contact with potential young professionals at an early stage. In this connection, a cooperation with the 

degree program "Industrial Packaging Technology" at the University of Applied Sciences "FH Campus 

Wien" was concluded in 2015. 

Sustainable health management 

Our health management aims at preserving the health and vitality of our employees at a high level 

throughout their entire working live. The primary focus is placed on screening and prevention. For this 

purpose, continuous care provided by company doctors, a regular range of preventive check-ups, and 

health and occupational safety training courses are constantly complemented by new impulses and 

contents. Over the last two years, for example, resilience trainings have supported the effective han-

dling of stress and strain. Moreover, we have traditionally supported the active participation of our 

employees in sports events. 

Variety and diversity as an enrichment 

As a company with a broad geographic position, we value the cultural variety and diversity of our 

employees as a great enrichment in the establishment of "best practice" everywhere within the Group. 

We thus attach great importance to promoting women in technical professions. 

Our ongoing ambitious benchmarking among locations and the continuous international exchange of 

specialists and specific expertise ensure that new potential can be systematically identified and im-

plemented within the Group. 

Performance-related remuneration 

A high degree of personal identification with the success of the Company has always been firmly 

rooted within our corporate culture. For this reason, performance-related forms of remuneration have 

been extensively established in the Group for a long time. 
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Development of number of employees 
As of December 31, 2015, 9,938 people were employed by the Group, after 9,399 at the end of last year. 

This increase mainly results from the acquisition of a folding carton producer in France. 2,546 were 

employed in the MM Karton division (December 31, 2014: 2,560) and 7,392 in the MM Packaging  

division (December 31, 2014: 6,839). The share of employees in Europe amounted to 86.4 %  

(December 31, 2014: 83.5 %), the remaining 13.6 % accounted for by non-European countries  

(December 31, 2014: 16.5 %). The number of employees in Austria totaled 1,508 (December 31, 2014: 1,587). 

Employees of the Group 
 

  Dec. 31, 2015 Dec. 31, 2014 

Western Europe (excl. Austria) 4,533 45.6 % 3,732 39.7 % 

Austria 1,508 15.2 % 1,587 16.9 % 

Eastern Europe 2,539 25.6 % 2,529 26.9 % 

Latin America 738 7.4 % 835 8.9 % 

Asia 440 4.4 % 554 5.9 % 

Other 180 1.8 % 162 1.7 % 

Total 9,938 100.0 % 9,399 100.0 % 
 

 

Word of thanks 
The Management Board and the Supervisory Board thank all employees for their great commitment 

and high performance that have made 2015 another year of success. We express our gratitude and 

appreciation to the employee representatives for their trustful and constructive cooperation.  
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4 ––– RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT 

Safeguarding competitiveness over the long term 

The goal of research and development work of the Mayr-Melnhof Group is safeguarding and strength-

ening the competitiveness in the core competence areas of cartonboard and folding cartons in the long 

run. Ensuring reliable, state-of-the-art production and implementing future-oriented optimizations and 

innovations in products and processes at an early stage are thereby important strategic factors in how 

we achieve differentiation in the market and maintain cost and technology leadership. Innovations of 

the MM Group are always aligned with market requirements and are driven over the long term by 

specific, Group-internal expertise. Our approach covers the entire supply chain and thus includes ideas 

that go beyond the traditional fields of cartonboard and folding cartons applications. 

Group-wide innovation management  

Systematic innovation management represents the basis of R&D activities of the Group and manages 

the cooperation among experts from various areas. For this purpose, a separate process has been set 

up in both divisions which pursues and coordinates innovative achievements and accompanies them 

until their implementation. Through long-term collaboration with research institutions and standardi-

zation and legislative bodies we ensure already at an early stage that our products and services always 

comply with the latest requirements. With a proactive business development we pursue the goal of 

bringing innovative solutions to the market expeditiously in close cooperation with customers. 

Efficient implementation of new requirements 

Current demand trends focus particularly on issues as sustainability, safety, digitalization, e-commerce, 

convenience, take-away, customization, creativity, and high quality. We dedicate our development 

work to these, always striving to achieve maximum performance and efficiency in the implementation. 

 

Innovation activity in 2015 in the MM Karton division  
Our innovations in the production of cartonboard for folding cartons focus on continuously improving 

product parameters such as stiffness, gloss, smoothness, and whiteness, as well as on creating indi-

vidual comprehensive solutions for specific areas of application. As part of this, the production process 

undergoes constant modernizations, and the range of products is successively optimized and extend-

ed. From an organizational point of view, the innovation performance of MM Karton is carried out 

primarily by the R&D center set up at the cartonboard mill in Frohnleiten, which serves as a know-how 

pool providing services for the entire Group as well as for third parties, in particular customers. 

A special focus in 2015 was directed towards cartonboard with functional barriers as well as optimized 

surface characteristics in order to open up attractive sale areas. 

Starcolor MirabellTM, a high-quality GD2 recycled fiber-based cartonboard for the pharmaceutical mar-

ket, developed at the German mill in Neuss, provides excellent surface quality and thus optimum re-

sults for printing, processing and inkjet- or laser-coding. 
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UD Braun from the Austrian mill in Hirschwang is a new recycled fiber-based cartonboard with a 

brown front and back side, tailor-made for use in online retailing, for natural cosmetics, do-it-yourself 

products, and spare parts in the automotive industry.  

Multicolor BelvedereTM Flexo from the Austrian cartonboard mill in Frohnleiten is a special GT2 recy-

cled fiber-based cartonboard solution that is designed for the growing takeaway trend. With a special 

surface, this recycled fiber-based cartonboard is particularly suitable for the outer layer of double-wall 

cups and for flexo printing.  

With the MM LinerTM 180 gsm (grams/m2) from the Slovenian mill in Kolicevo, MM Karton is now pre-

sent in the low-grammage range of the attractive markets for coated covering materials for the corru-

gated cardboard industry, offering now a bandwidth between 180 gsm and 250 gsm. 

Multicolor MirabellTM Freeze, a high-quality GD2 recycled fiber-based cartonboard from the German 

cartonboard mill in Gernsbach, offers special protection for chilled and frozen food packaging through 

an effective and environmentally friendly moisture barrier.  

Optimus TopTM (GC1) from our German virgin fiber-based board mill in Baiersbronn combines through 

the towards 90 %-improved whiteness an attractive appearance with distinctive commercial and envi-

ronmental ease of use. 

The research and service institute "Papiertechnische Stiftung (PTS)" has confirmed the outstanding 

laser- and inkjet-coding characteristics of all virgin fiber-based board qualities from MM Karton. We 

furthermore achieved excellent sensory values for many of these high-quality types of cartonboard. 

Market launch FOODBOARDTM  

With FOODBOARDTM, MM Karton has created a new, high-quality coated cartonboard which provides 

optimum protection against specific undesired substances for packaged food through an innovative, 

consumer-friendly, and functional barrier. After the conversion of the cartonboard machine 3 in 

Frohnleiten in 2014 and 2015 and further optimizations, the distribution of FOODBOARDTM will start in 

the 1st quarter of 2016.  

 

Innovation activity 2015 in the MM Packaging division 

Bundled innovative power 

MM Packaging has created its own international team-based structure for its innovation work that 

bundles competence, experience, and creativity in different disciplines. Thereby the entire expertise of 

MMP’s innovation network for product and process innovation is available to our customers. All people 

involved in the innovation process are part of a Competence Pool and exchange ideas on a regular 

basis via the virtual communication platform MMP Innovation Plaza. 
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Depending on the relevant tasks, specially tailored project teams are established. Within individual 

projects a single person takes responsibility for managing the project both internally and in relation to 

the customers. Only solutions approved by the production sites and the Divisional Technical Support 

Team are finally presented to the customer. 

Institutional structures of MM Packaging’s innovation process are represented by PacProject, the 

Creative Center in Hamburg, the Premium Printing Center in Trier as well as the local Packaging De-

velopment Centers of individual production sites. 

Focus on win-win solutions  

The goal of MM Packaging's innovation activities is to achieve convincing win-win solutions that, on 

the one hand, provide customers with competitive advantages by combining technical expertise and 

market knowledge and, on the other hand, increase value creation and competitive strength of MMP. 

The spectrum of innovation activities is broad, ranging from strategy development through a number 

of idea-generating methods to customized design concepts, from consumer insights to initial sample 

development as well as from high-quality prototyping through development of machine concepts to 

implementation on production machines. 

The implementation of designs, prototypes, and functionalities is carried out using all printing and 

finishing techniques in an optimum manner. We ensure maximum efficiency in implementation by 

continuously optimizing production and supply chain parameters. Through ongoing investments in 

state-of-the-art technologies and sustainable knowledge management, we are creating a solid basis 

for this. 

Innovation partner for e-commerce 

Interactive packaging solutions optimized for e-commerce are already an inherent part of the available 

innovation services that are kept permanently up-to-date by a team of designers and packaging spe-

cialists. Equipped with this knowledge and close cooperation with suppliers and institutes,  

MM Packaging is a strong innovative partner for its customers also in the digital future. 

Awards 

Various awards from the packaging industry, such as the German Packaging Award and the Pro  

Carton ECMA Award, again demonstrated the positive response of the market to the innovation 

achievements of MM Packaging in 2015.  
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5 ––– RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Mayr-Melnhof Group as a globally operating company is exposed to a range of general and indus-

try-specific risks. Current and expected economic development, in particular, has a significant influ-

ence on the Group's risk position, due to the high correlation between demand for cartonboard and 

folding cartons and private consumption.  

With a clear focus on the core business areas, cartonboard and folding cartons, the Mayr-Melnhof 

Group has a solid base to identify potential risks at an early stage and to adequately assess the possi-

ble consequences that might arise. Taking into account the hedging and control instruments that are 

already deployed together with the early warning indicators, there are currently no significant identifi-

able risks that pose a threat to the existence or development of the Group. As a whole, the risk situa-

tion for the reporting year 2015 as well as the beginning of 2016 can be classified as largely un-

changed. The risks faced by the Group remain manageable and the Group’s continued existence and 

ability to develop are secured. 

The Group's approach in dealing with risks is anchored in a risk management system. It involves the 

systematic identification, assessment, control, and reporting of significant events and risks which 

could potentially endanger the existence and influence the development of the Group. The term risk is 

deemed to be a negative deviation from the Group’s corporate objectives resulting from an event that 

might occur in the future with a certain degree of probability. The aim of the risk management system 

is to systematically identify and assess significant risks as well as to limit them to an acceptable level 

through suitable measures. 

For each risk that is identified and considered to be significant for the Group, individual control, steer-

ing and safeguarding measures are defined, taking into account the Group-wide risk policy, in order to 

manage the risk. These measures are continually evaluated and developed or amended in case of 

identification of further risks. They are intended to improve the Group’s risk position, however without 

restricting its opportunities. 

The Group’s risk management is the responsibility of the Management Board which defines the risk 

policy and sets the framework for the Group-wide risk management. The Group’s risk policy is thereby 

characterized by a conservative approach. Risk prevention and reduction play an important role and 

are, as far as economically justifiable, achieved by appropriate control measures and supported by the 

Group’s insurance program. 

The Management Board has set up the "Risk Management Compliance" department which ensures 

that risk management is implemented and conducted on behalf and in the interest of the Management 

Board. Each risk area that is considered to be significant is assigned to a risk area officer with relevant 

expertise who is responsible for analyzing, assessing, controlling, and monitoring the respective risks. 

Thus, the risk management process does not work isolated but is integrated into the existing organiza-

tion and its procedures. Identified risks are evaluated in a matrix in terms of potential damage and 

probability of occurrence. 
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The Group’s auditor assesses the functionality of the risk management system and reports to the  

Supervisory Board and the Management Board. 

In the following the most significant areas of risks to which the Group is exposed are described and 

the measures to manage them are explained. 

 

Sales 
The demand for cartonboard and folding cartons correlates to a large degree with private consump-

tion. Market risks may thus result in particular from the overall economic development as well as polit-

ical and regulative conditions in the respective sales markets. The cartonboard as well as folding car-

ton markets are characterized by intensified competition as sufficient capacities are available.  

The Group supplies with the two divisions in total several thousand customers. The cartonboard divi-

sion supplies the highly fragmented folding carton industry and generates around 25 % of divisional 

sales with 15 to 20 main customers. The packaging division sells folding cartons to the consumer 

goods industry and generates more than three quarters of divisional sales with multinational custom-

ers. However, the level of dependency on individual customers is classified as manageable. 

The customers constantly review their own locations network from the point of cost optimization and 

growth potential. This leads to geographical relocations or re-allocation of business. One risk for  

MM Packaging is that the demand of customers cannot be met or can only be met insufficiently from 

existing locations in the future. The expansion of our network of sites in new markets and the concen-

tration of locations in recent years represent an important contribution to minimizing risk. 

The Tobacco Products Directive (TPD2) was adopted as a binding EU directive in 2014 and must be 

implemented in national legislations within two years. This has so far happened only in a few coun-

tries. The EU directive specifies, among others, a minimum requirement for combined health warnings  

(textual and graphic) of 65 % of the front and back side, as well as general warnings or educational 

messages of 50 % of side surfaces of cigarette packaging. Furthermore it is planned to reduce the 

complexity of packaging. The EU leaves national legislators a possibility to insist on higher percent-

ages or packaging units without a trademark logo (plain packaging). So far, four countries have opted 

for plain packaging: United Kingdom, Ireland, France, and Hungary. In order to assess and minimize 

risks, a project team has been set up that collaborates closely with cigarette producers. Since the  

EU-directive has not yet been comprehensively implemented in national legislations, the actual con-

sequences for the division MM Packaging still cannot be properly assessed from today‘s perspective. 

The broad geographical sale of cigarette packaging by MM Packaging provides an important contribu-

tion to minimizing risks. 
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A broad range of measures has been taken to safeguard market shares and generate new business. In 

particular, these include the constant observation and analysis of market trends, close customer con-

tact, cooperation in research and development, ongoing monitoring, sustained quality and cost man-

agement and targeted investments as well as a systematic expansion of our customer base and regular 

participation in tenders. The possibility to manufacture individual products at different sites also in-

creases the reliability of supply for customers. The price fluctuations of strategically important input 

factors are taken into account by appropriate clauses in long-term agreements.  

As mass-produced goods in an intensive competitive market, cartonboard and folding carton products 

are under permanent price pressure. The Group therefore pursues a long-term strategy of further ex-

tending its market leadership position in both divisions on the basis of cost, competence, and innova-

tion leadership. 

To ensure sustainably safe, innovative, and market-adequate products, both divisions have a modern 

innovation management and sufficient R&D capacities.  

 

Production 
Production plants and processes in the Group are state-of-the-art and are improved on a continuous 

basis. The focus is on a sustainably responsible production taking into account economic, environmen-

tal, and social aspects with the aim of creating long-term benefits for our customers, shareholders, 

employees, and the environment.  

This means in particular the economical use of resources (especially fibers, cartonboard, energy, water, 

chemicals, transport, and logistics) in the production of our products while maintaining a solid finan-

cial conduct. The aim is to establish the highest possible standards and secure them through a con-

stant benchmarking and innovation process as well as the continuous development of human re-

sources over the long term. 

In both cartonboard and folding carton production high availability of technical equipment (operational 

readiness) is crucial. Constant electronic monitoring of individual machines and sections of machines, 

revisions, maintenance, certification, and risk engineering in collaboration with insurance companies 

are among the most important measures for maintaining continuous operations. Furthermore, division-

wide back-up concepts guarantee customer supplies even in the event of long-term interruptions of 

operations through the possibility of moving capacities between individual locations. 

Guaranteeing compliance with product norms and required quality standards is crucial for the sus-

tainable competitiveness and attractiveness of our products. Constant quality assurance measures 

across the value added chain document compliance with high standards and ensure the traceability of 

products. Due to continuous R&D activity and longstanding collaboration with national and interna-

tional standardization bodies and lobbies, it is possible to consider new findings and interpretations as 

well as future development in a timely manner.  
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We keep risks relating to investments, technical innovations, and integration of acquisitions limited by 

concentrating on our core competence areas cartonboard and folding cartons. Investment plans are 

subject to a regular multi-level approval process as well as clearly defined tendering procedures in-

volving the specialist departments concerned and are additionally accompanied by a continuous con-

trolling of qualitative and quantitative aspects. Product and process innovations are subjected to ex-

tensive test phases and are generally assessed in a pilot project before being rolled out to additional 

sites. 

Energy (gas and electricity) is an input factor of strategic importance, especially for the division 

MM Karton. In risk assessment, in particular the purchase price, basic availability and purchase oppor-

tunity are crucial parameters. The latter refer to the physical availability of energy, which depends 

mainly on the political stability of the producer and transit countries. The minimum purchase quanti-

ties are defined in energy agreements. If the level is not reached due to standstills or technical faults, 

compensation settlements will be due (take-or-pay rule). In order to manage the risk, we rely on con-

cluding long-term framework purchase contracts, continually monitoring price development and exist-

ing hedging contracts as well as linking production and sales planning to the purchase of energy. 

Moreover, medium-term purchasing policy is managed through regular consultations between the 

management and an energy procurement team with Group-wide responsibility. Furthermore, 

measures aimed at reducing specific energy requirements are continuously implemented on a project 

basis. 

For MM Karton, trading in emission certificates is subject to a risk of regulatory availability and to a 

price risk in case that additional emission certificates have to be purchased. The volume allocation of 

CO2 certificates in the financial years 2013 up to and including 2020 to the seven cartonboard mills 

located within the European Union was largely effected free of charge due to the good status of 

MM Karton with regard to the industry benchmark. Accordingly, there is a sufficient number of CO2 

certificates available for these sites until the end of 2019. A reduction of approximately 20 % in CO2 

emissions until 2020 in comparison to the basis year 1990 is pursued as a political objective of the 

European Union. In this context, free allocations of CO2 are falling from 2013 onwards. The EU reserves 

the right to revise its free CO2 allocation in the event of changes in the carbon leakage classification of 

individual sectors. A revision of the free CO2 allocation for the years following 2016 is accordingly possible 

by the European Parliament. A shortfall in CO2 certificates would be covered by additional purchases. 

The EU directive on energy efficiency was integrated into national legislation (EEffG). National imple-

mentation differs among individual EU states and requires i. a. the implementation of management 

systems or taking energy efficiency measures. The MM Group complies with this requirement in par-

ticular by operating energy and environment protection management systems (ISO 50001, ISO 14000, 

EMAS). 
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Procurement 
Fiber materials, in particular recovered paper and groundwood pulp as well as energy, chemicals, and 

logistics services are the most important raw materials and input factors for the division MM Karton. In 

the division MM Packaging, these are primarily cartonboard, paper, inks, varnishes, and tools. There is 

an essential risk of availability with regard to quantity and quality as well as a price risk for procure-

ment. We proactively counter the risk of availability through regular market and demand monitoring 

and continual contact with a majority of suppliers. We ensure compliance with the agreed properties 

by regular obtaining of certificates as well as continuous quality monitoring.  

The division MM Karton procures the strategic raw material recovered paper via an European procure-

ment organization primarily from the spot market. In addition, stocks are kept, and a part of our demand 

is covered by long-term supply contracts, e. g. with municipalities, thereby enabling peaks in prices to be 

absorbed in short-term. As a result of high recycling quotas in Europe and a limited level of exports out-

side Europe, sufficient supply of recovered paper is further assured. In cooperation between production 

and engineering we furthermore take specific measures to control consumption and optimize the use of 

raw materials. Opportunities for substitution and adjustments of formulas are explored regularly. Where 

appropriate and possible, tenders for available procurement volumes are completed. 

Following the profit center principle, purchase of cartonboard of the Packaging division is conducted by 

an own procurement organization with continuous monitoring of a majority of cartonboard producers. 

 

Human Resources 
The Group relies at all levels on qualified, motivated, and performance-oriented employees in order to 

achieve corporate success. With the aim to tie key personnel to MM in the long run and find suitable 

top performers for vacancies, we promote long-term collaboration through systematic personnel de-

velopment, appropriate remuneration and bonus systems as well as a practiced awareness of values.  

The central "Corporate Human Resources" department manages and ensures targeted foresighted 

succession planning and the promotion of junior employees. A wide range of internal development, 

training and counselling programs systematically support this process to ensure that talents can grow 

and to preserve current expertise over the long term. Furthermore, corporate health management takes 

a large number of measures for the long-term promotion of work and vitality with the goal of maintain-

ing our employees' health and productivity on a high level over their entire working life. 

 

Pensions/severance payments/pre-retirement 
The majority of employees in the Group is covered by defined contribution plans as part of the statu-

tory pension scheme. In addition to the statutory pension scheme, the Group has also made perfor-

mance- and contribution-based pension commitments to certain employees on the basis of individual 

commitments and company agreements. In addition, there are performance- and contribution-based 

severance obligations and obligations as part of the statutory pre-retirement scheme. Clearly struc-

tured data provisioning, plausibility checks, and verification on individual company or Group level have 

a risk minimizing effect. 
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Financial risks 
Corporate planning is based on professional forecasts, assessments and assumptions concerning fu-

ture economic and financial developments in the Group. The risk of false estimation is minimized by a 

close cooperation of the mills with the specialist departments of the Group and the divisions within a 

clearly defined multi-step planning process.  

We counter financing and liquidity risks of the Group in particular by a centrally-managed cash and 

credit management, the careful selection and a continuous monitoring of national and international 

banking partners as well as sufficient availability of credit lines, by extending these lines. 

Foreign exchange risks are monitored continually with system support and are limited or reduced by 

suitable hedging measures. Hence we concentrate primarily on naturally balancing risks by matching 

receivables and liabilities at individual subsidiaries and at Group level as well as foreign exchange 

forward, swap and option contracts. For all currency hedging transactions, a central currency trading 

platform has to be used. Currencies that are hedged for fluctuations of their exchange rates are in 

particular the British pound, the US dollar, the Turkish lira and the Polish zloty. In the regions Eastern 

Europe, South Eastern Europe, Latin America, and Asia we pursue a policy of minimizing currency risk 

by currency congruence in business transactions and by price adjustment mechanisms in long-term 

agreements. Derivative financial instruments are neither used for trading nor for speculative purposes. 

A central management system continuously optimizes working capital and minimizes impairment 

risks for inventories. The risk of default on accounts receivable is minimized by continuous credit as-

sessment and credit insurance for all customers, with the exception of selected international custom-

ers enjoying the highest credit rating. 

 

Accounting 
The Management Board is responsible for establishing and developing an appropriate internal moni-

toring and risk management system for accounting and financial reporting. This ensures the complete-

ness, reliability, and transparency of financial information. In addition, the appropriateness and effi-

ciency of processes as well as compliance with statutory, contractual, and internal regulations is  

guaranteed. 

The accounting process covers all of the essential tasks that ensure that the accounting-relevant in-

formation is recorded and processed completely, accurately, and on time and that financial reporting is 

presented in accordance with the applicable accounting standards. 

In the organizational and operational structure, clear responsibilities are defined for the individual 

companies and the Group. The central functions of "Corporate Accounting" and "Planning and Report-

ing" are responsible for developing up-to-date uniform Group guidelines as well as the organization 

and control of financial reporting in the Group.  
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The reporting to the Management Board and Supervisory Board is effected in a regular, comprehensive, 

and timely manner. Compliance with internal Group guidelines and processes concerning the record-

ing, posting, and accounting of business transactions is continually monitored. The used data pro-

cessing systems are developed in a targeted manner and are continually improved. Accounting pro-

cesses and financial reporting are reviewed systematically for potential risks. Improvement measures 

are taken as quickly as possible and implemented swiftly. Focus audits are carried out by the auditor in 

collaboration with Internal Audit. 

 

Other risks 
The compliance risk arising from possible non-conformity with standards, laws, ethical codes of con-

duct, and, where applicable, voluntary commitments, is dealt with especially through protective 

measures in the systems, regular, systematic compliance monitoring, the four-eyes principle and 

guidelines (for example Code of Conduct). Furthermore, we have set up the function of a Compliance 

Officer who can act autonomously and who is also responsible for compliance training and internal 

and external reporting. 

The corporate governance report, which is an integrated part of the annual report, is available on our 

web site www.mayr-melnhof.com> about> governance. 

We deal with the risk field of "Legal Compliance", which comprises all actions and measures geared 

towards compliance with legal regulations and contractual provisions, through the function of a Legal 

Manager, as well as the use of a central "Legal Compliance System", and, if necessary, by consulting 

external experts. The aim is to prevent increasing risks of infringement of the law and possible sanc-

tions due to throughout stricter regulations. 

The risk of a breakdown of the central data processing is limited by a geographically separated back-

up computer center and a wide range of preventive measures and checks. Risks regarding information 

security are countered by a variety of security measures according to the Group-wide information 

security strategy and the function of an Information Protection Officer who ensures the Group-wide 

establishment and the continuous update of security standards. 

In addition to the risks listed here, the Group may be exposed to further risks. We are currently not 

aware of any such risks or consider them to be insignificant. 
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6 ––– ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 

Environmental protection firmly embedded in corporate policy 

In its corporate policy, the MM Group is committed to protecting the environment and to an efficient 

provision of goods and services that sustainably saves resources. We manufacture our cartonboard 

products using state-of-the-art technologies as well as primarily renewable and recyclable raw materi-

als. By applying highly efficient processes, we convert cartonboard into packaging for consumer goods 

that can be almost entirely recycled after use. Circular economy is thus an immanent part of our busi-

ness activity, and cartonboard is a packaging material that, in addition to product-related and econom-

ic benefits, also provides maximum sustainability regarding environmental protection. 

Our aspiration – Group-wide "best practice" 

In keeping with the Group's aspiration for leadership within the industry, our aim is to achieve and 

maintain the best-possible standards in all business areas in the long run. We therefore pursue the 

approach of establishing "best practice" of individual sites by a challenging benchmarking throughout 

the Group. As a result, we also achieve top figures in the industry for many environment-related val-

ues, such as specific consumption or emissions with the ambition of improving these further through 

continuous technical progress.  

We therefore regularly monitor adherence to these values to ensure compliance with all requirements. 

Furthermore, we continuously evaluate our products and processes with regard to using of new opti-

mization potential. In this connection, we focus on the entire value added chain and, besides produc-

tion, also cover upstream and downstream areas, such as procurement, logistics, end-user consump-

tion, and reusability. 

Sustained systematic optimization 

This continuous optimization process has long been supported throughout the Group by a large num-

ber of certified management systems. The main areas of focus are quality, environmental, energy and 

hygiene management in accordance with ISO 9001, ISO 14001, EMAS, ISO 50001, and HACCP/EN 

15593. Moreover, certifications according to FSC and PEFC ensure that fiber supplies are obtained 

from sustainably managed forests. 

Besides re-certifications, in particular the new implementation of energy management in accordance 

with ISO 50001 in the site network of MM Packaging was continued in 2015. In addition, two folding 

carton production sites gained first-time certification of environmental management in accordance 

with EMAS. 

Carbon footprint further reduced 

In 2015, MM Karton and MM Packaging participated in a re-evaluation of the carbon footprint of the 

European cartonboard and folding carton industry conducted by Pro Carton. The result is a further 

decrease of the carbon footprint from 915 kg (2012) to 885 kg of CO2 equivalent per ton of folding car-

ton (European average). 
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Carbon leakage classification for MM Karton 

Due to the good level, the volume allocation of CO2 certificates to the seven cartonboard mills located 

within the European Union for the financial years 2013 up to and including 2020 is largely free of 

charge. Accordingly, a sufficient number of CO2 certificates is available for these sites until the end of 

2019. A reduction in CO2 emissions by approximately 20 % by 2020, compared to the reference year 

1990, is the political objective of the European Union. In this context, free allocations of CO2 have been 

decreasing since 2013. The EU reserves the right to revise its free CO2 allocation in the future in the 

event of changes in the carbon leakage classification of individual sectors.  

 

Environmental aspects MM Karton 

Fibers 

Around 1.7 million tons of fibers are used in cartonboard production every year. Thereof, about 80 % are 

accounted for by recovered fibers and 20 % by virgin fibers from sustainably managed forests. Optimi-

zation in the deployment and utilization of fibers is implemented through continuous projects in  

MM cartonboard mills. Improvements in material processing in particular result in increased recovered 

fiber extraction. 

Energy 

We predominantly use natural gas as primary energy source for the production of cartonboard. Steam 

and electricity for cartonboard production are generated highly efficiently by combined heat and pow-

er generating plants.  

As part of the "e.fficiency" initiative, started in 2006, all cartonboard mills work on improving energy 

efficiency per ton of cartonboard in accordance with a pool of centrally coordinated measures includ-

ing an internal performance comparison. While a significant reduction in specific energy consumption 

has already been achieved, it is always possible to exploit new saving potential. In 2015, this was 

reached in particular through renewals in the dryer section as well as improvements in heat recovery 

and control.  

Furthermore, since 2015 the cartonboard mill in Frohnleiten has been receiving a large proportion of its 

external electricity requirements from a local hydro-electric power plant newly installed and operated 

by a third party.  

The replacement of fluorescent tubes by LED units continued in order to further reduce electricity 

consumed by lighting. 

Water 

Specific water consumption is kept low and is further optimized as a result of closed circulation sys-

tems and efficiency improvements in production. Projects in 2015 focused mainly on renewals for 

wastewater treatment and on modernization measures. 
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Exhaust air 

Exhaust air emissions in the manufacture of cartonboard are mainly caused in energy production by 

burning natural gas. Emissions of CO2, NOx and CO are constantly monitored and observed in accord-

ance with legal regulations. In contrast, direct exhaust air produced by cartonboard machines consists 

primarily of steam.  

Continuous measures taken by MM Karton focus on further reducing exhaust air emissions in accord-

ance with state-of-the-art technology. In 2015, a major area of emphasis was on projects aimed at 

gaining approval for new energy systems. 

Waste 

Waste management is performed specifically for each location according to a waste management plan 

that is put into practice by the waste management officer. As a general rule, the principle of "preven-

tion before recycling before disposal" is applied. Waste disposal is performed by authorized waste 

collectors, recyclers, and disposal firms. In accordance with the Group-wide approach of achieving 

waste reduction by lowering the amount of residual materials from production, we sustainably com-

bine economic and ecological benefits. 

 

Environmental aspects MM Packaging 
In the environmentally relevant area of cartonboard processing following cartonboard production, 

avoiding, reducing and recycling residual materials plays a particularly important role. Noticeable 

progress was made in this area also in 2015 as a result of operational improvements in material utiliza-

tion and productivity at MM Packaging. 

The growing number of packaging sites with environmental management systems certified according 

to ISO 14001 or EMAS results in increasingly standardized implementation and documentation of 

optimization measures.  

In the financial year, major areas of focus in the field of energy were particularly related to improve-

ments in heating and ventilation systems, the installation of timer switches, and the continued instal-

lation of energy-saving lighting (LED). Moreover, energy management systems at additional sites were 

certified according to ISO 50001. 
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7 ––– DISCLOSURES ACCORDING TO SECTION 243A PARA. 1 OF THE 
AUSTRIAN COMMERCIAL CODE 

Composition of capital, stock categories 

Please refer to the information provided in the consolidated financial statements under note 13 a. 

Restrictions concerning the voting rights and the transfer of shares 

Approximately 59 % of the shares are held by the core shareholder families in a syndicate. A syndicate 

agreement exists, which regulates the transferability of shares within the syndicate and to outside 

parties. Issues that concern the Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting are decided by the syndicate with  

65 % of the voting rights. Modifications of the syndicate agreement require 90 % of the voting rights. 

Direct or indirect participation in capital of at least 10 % 

According to the information provided to the Company, there were the following minimum participa-

tions of 10 % in the capital at year-end 2015: 

MMS Mayr-Melnhof-Saurau Beteiligungsverwaltung KG 
CAMA Privatstiftung  

The owners of shares with special control rights and a description of these rights 

There are no shares with special control rights. 

The type of voting rights control for capital participation by employees, if they do not directly 

exercise the right to vote 

There is no such capital participation model for employees. 

The provisions for appointment and revocation of members of the Management Board and 

the Supervisory Board and regarding alteration of the Articles of Association of the Company 

that do not arise directly from the Act 

There are no provisions of this type. 

The authorizations of the members of the Management Board that do not arise directly from 

the Act, in particular with regard to the option of issuing or repurchasing shares 

There are no authorizations of this type. 
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All significant agreements to which the Company is a party and that take effect are modified 

or terminated in the event of a change of control of the Company as a result of a takeover 

offer as well as its effects; excepted are agreements which would significantly damage the 

Company if made public, unless the Company is obligated to make such information public 

as a result of other statutory provisions 

The protective clause with regard to the disclosure of this information is invoked. The scope of the 

business in question is considered reasonable. 

Existence and significant contents of compensation agreements between the Company and 

the members of its Management and Supervisory Boards or employees in the event of a 

public takeover offer 

There are no agreements of this type. 

 

8 ––– SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

There have been no subsequent events after the balance sheet date with any material effect on the 

consolidated financial statements of the Group. 
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9 ––– OUTLOOK ON THE FINANCIAL YEAR 2016 

This outlook reflects the assessment of the Management Board as of February 29, 2016, and does not 

take into consideration the effects of any possible acquisitions, disposals or other structural changes in 

2016. Previous and subsequent prospective statements are subject to known as well as unknown risks 

and uncertainties that may result in actual events differing from the forecasts made here. 

Against the backdrop of low economic growth in the main market Europe, the general conditions for our 

business remain challenging and are characterized by intense competition. However, the objective for 

2016 is to pursue our long-term success course in both cartonboard and folding carton business. As be-

fore, organic and acquisitive growth are intended to supplement each other. Improved productivity will 

continue to increase the output of our facilities, and the integration of last year’s acquisition in France will 

support dynamic in 2016. Measures aimed at increasing cost efficiency will be pursued on a broad basis 

throughout the Group in order to retain the margins achieved. 

Since there is currently no indication of any significant change on the procurement markets in the 

foreseeable future, price discipline will remain the order of the day in both divisions. 

By focusing on reducing direct costs, we will continue our investment activity at the present level. 

Expansions at MM Packaging in 2016 will particularly affect the sites in Iran, Poland, and Vietnam. 

The replacement of the power station at the Frohnleiten mill in Austria by a new gas and steam-

turbine plant will be initiated as a special investment project at MM Karton in 2016. The completion is 

expected by the end of 2017, however without affecting continuous operations at the site. The costs 

will amount to approx. EUR 40 million.  

As a result of the short-term nature of the business, it is currently not possible to provide a forecast for 

the result of the current year. Nevertheless, the record results achieved in 2015 raise our ambitions for 

2016 even further. 

Our activities concerning expansion through acquisitions continue to focus on opportunities within 

and outside of Europe.  

 

Vienna, February 29, 2016 

The Management Board 

  

Wilhelm Hörmanseder m. p. 

Andreas Blaschke m. p. Gotthard Mayringer m. p. Franz Rappold m. p.



 

 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 MAYR-MELNHOF KARTON AG, ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2015 38 

Consolidated Financial 
Statements 
 
 39 Consolidated Balance Sheets 

 40 Consolidated Income Statements 

 41 Consolidated Comprehensive Income Statements 

 41 Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity 

 42 Consolidated Cash Flow Statements 
 
  Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

 43 (1) Basic information 

 43 (2) Principles of preparing the consolidated financial statements 

 47 (3) Summary of significant accounting and recognition principles 

 61 (4) Key assumptions and estimates 

 62 (5) Financial instruments disclosures 

 73 (6) Significant changes in the consolidated companies 

 78 (7) Development of fixed assets 

 82 (8) Securities and other financial assets 

 83 (9) Income taxes 

 87 (10) Inventories 

 87 (11) Trade receivables 

 88 (12) Prepaid expenses, securities and other current assets 

 89 (13) Equity 

 91 (14) Financial liabilities 

 95 (15) Provisions for non-current liabilities and charges 

 103 (16) Trade liabilities 

 104 (17) Deferred income and other current liabilities 

 105 (18) Provisions for current liabilities and charges 

 106 (19) Segment reporting information 

 108 (20) Other operating income 

109  (21) Expenses by nature  

 109 (22) Personnel expenses 

 110 (23) Expenses for the Group auditor 

 110 (24) Research and development expenses 

 111 (25) Financial income 

 111 (26) Financial expenses 

 111 (27) Other financial result – net 

 112 (28) Earnings per share 

 113 (29) Commitments and contingent liabilities 

 114 (30) Disclosure on transactions with related parties 

 114 (31) Subsequent events 

 115 (32) Table of affiliated and associated companies 

 119 (33) Board Members 
 
120  Auditor’s Report 

 



 

 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 MAYR-MELNHOF KARTON AG, ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2015 39 

Consolidated Balance Sheets 

 
  

(all amounts in thousands of EUR) Notes Dec. 31, 2015 Dec. 31, 2014 

        

ASSETS       

        

Property, plant and equipment 7 759,640 697,724 

Intangible assets including goodwill 7 131,388 97,697 

Securities and other financial assets 8 5,821 7,680 

Deferred income taxes 9 31,248 23,239 

Non-current assets   928,097 826,340 

        

Inventories 10 320,420 283,021 

Trade receivables 11 339,207 301,162 

Income tax receivables   11,011 10,984 

Prepaid expenses, securities and other current assets 12 46,634 45,418 

Cash and cash equivalents 3 254,953 320,086 

Current assets   972,225 960,671 

TOTAL ASSETS   1,900,322 1,787,011 

        

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES       

        

Share capital 13 80,000 80,000 

Additional paid-in capital 13 172,658 172,658 

Retained earnings 13 1,020,442 963,119 

Other reserves 13 (137,550) (124,190) 

Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company   1,135,550 1,091,587 

Non-controlling (minority) interests 13 8,605 10,581 

Total equity   1,144,155 1,102,168 

        

Interest-bearing financial liabilities 14 210,073 156,724 

Finance lease liabilities 14 3,772 0 

Provisions for non-current liabilities and charges 15 118,094 121,211 

Deferred income taxes 9 19,655 12,336 

Non-current liabilities   351,594 290,271 

        

Interest-bearing financial liabilities 14 77,743 109,187 

Finance lease liabilities 14 1,703 0 

Current tax liabilities   20,873 12,925 

Trade liabilities 16 186,287 170,821 

Deferred income and other current liabilities 17 96,648 83,699 

Provisions for current liabilities and charges 18 21,319 17,940 

Current liabilities   404,573 394,572 

Total liabilities   756,167 684,843 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   1,900,322 1,787,011   
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Income 
Statements 

   

(all amounts in thousands of EUR except share and per share data) Notes 
Year ended  

Dec. 31, 2015 
Year ended  

Dec. 31, 2014 

Sales 19 2,181,549 2,087,365 

Cost of sales  (1,680,362) (1,616,666) 

Gross margin   501,187 470,699 

        

Other operating income 20 17,164 15,315 

Selling and distribution expenses   (214,206) (205,263) 

Administrative expenses   (104,222) (100,208) 

Other operating expenses   (61) (320) 

Operating profit   199,862 180,223 

        

Financial income 25 2,153 1,455 

Financial expenses 26 (6,269) (5,206) 

Other financial result – net 27 (5,126) (5,459) 

Profit before tax   190,620 171,013 

        

Income tax expense 9 (48,476) (39,441) 

Profit for the year   142,144 131,572 

        

        

Attributable to:       

Shareholders of the Company   141,550 130,850 

Non-controlling (minority) interests 13 594 722 

Profit for the year   142,144 131,572 

        

Earnings per share for profit attributable to the shareholders of the 
Company during the year: 

      

Basic and diluted average number of shares outstanding 28 20,000,000 20,000,000 

Basic and diluted earnings per share 28 7.08 6.54   
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Comprehensive  
Income Statements 

 
  

(all amounts in thousands of EUR)   
Year ended  

Dec. 31, 2015 
Year ended  

Dec. 31, 2014 

Profit for the year1)   142,144 131,572 

Profit (loss) directly recognized in equity:       
Actuarial valuation of defined benefit pension and severance obligations   4,515 (23,241) 

Effect of income taxes   4,165 2,725 

Total of items that will not be reclassified subsequently to the income statement   8,680 (20,516) 

Foreign currency translations1)   (21,757) (23,509) 

Total of items that will be reclassified subsequently to the income statement   (21,757) (23,509) 

Total profit (loss) directly recognized in equity (net)1)   (13,077) (44,025) 

Total comprehensive income   129,067 87,547 

        

Attributable to:       
Shareholders of the Company   128,190 86,196 

Non-controlling (minority) interests   877 1,351 

Total comprehensive income   129,067 87,547   
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
1) In the financial year 2015 an amount of thous. EUR -674 (2014: thous. EUR -3,414) was reclassified from total profit (loss) directly recognized in equity to the profit for the year. 

 

Consolidated Statements of 
Changes in Equity 
 

    Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company     

          Profit (loss) directly recognized in equity       

 
(all amounts in thousands of EUR) Notes 

Share  
capital 

Additional 
paid-in 
capital 

Retained 
earnings 

Foreign 
currency 

translations 
Actuarial gains 

and losses 
Other 

reserves Total 

Non-
controlling 
(minority) 
interests 

Total  
equity 

Balance at Jan. 1, 2014   80,000 172,658 928,642 (52,018) (27,552) (79,570) 1,101,730 10,072 1,111,802 

Total comprehensive income   0 0 130,850 (24,174) (20,480) (44,654) 86,196 1,351 87,547 

Dividends paid 13 0 0 (96,000) 0 0 0 (96,000) (1,159) (97,159) 

Change in majority interests 6 0 0 (373) 0 34 34 (339) 317 (22) 

Balance at Dec. 31, 2014   80,000 172,658 963,119 (76,192) (47,998) (124,190) 1,091,587 10,581 1,102,168 

Total comprehensive income  0 0 141,550 (22,028) 8,668 (13,360) 128,190 877 129,067 

Dividends paid 13 0 0 (84,000) 0 0 0 (84,000) (2,586) (86,586) 

Change in majority interests 6 0 0 (227) 0 0 0 (227) (267) (494) 

Balance at Dec. 31, 2015  80,000 172,658 1,020,442 (98,220) (39,330) (137,550) 1,135,550 8,605 1,144,155      
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Cash Flow 
Statements 

  

(all amounts in thousands of EUR) Notes
Year ended  

Dec. 31, 2015 
Year ended  

Dec. 31, 2014 

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:       

Profit for the year   142,144 131,572 

Adjustments to reconcile profit for the year to net cash from operating 
activities excluding interest and taxes paid : 

      

Income tax expense 9 48,476 39,441 

Depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets 7 94,692 91,718 

Impairment 7 4,860 2,227 

Gains (losses) from disposals of property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets 20 (5,508) (1,702) 

Financial income 25 (2,153) (1,455) 

Financial expense 26 6,269 5,206 

Share of profit (loss) of other investments   (269) (259) 

Gains (losses) from disposals of securities and other financial assets   0 (203) 

Other adjustments   (3,816) (5,548) 

Net cash from profit   284,695 260,997 

Changes in working capital:       
Inventories   (31,044) (13,187) 

Trade receivables   (16,214) (30,578) 

Prepaid expenses, securities and other current assets   3,504 2,687 

Trade liabilities   3,994 (11,495) 

Deferred income and other current liabilities   3,110 1,246 

Provisions for current liabilities and charges   1,144 (4,933) 

Changes in working capital   (35,506) (56,260) 

Cash flow from operating activities excluding interest and taxes paid   249,189 204,737 

Income taxes paid   (42,491) (38,945) 

Net cash from operating activities   206,698 165,792 

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:       

Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets   8,792 2,807 

Payments for property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets (incl. payments 
on account; less government grants received) 16 (130,405) (125,353) 

Payments for acquisition of companies or other business entities, net of cash and cash 
equivalents acquired (2015: thous. EUR 9,404; 2014: thous. EUR 0) 6 (79,616) (2,824) 

Proceeds from disposal of companies or other business entities, net of cash and cash 
equivalents disposed (2015: thous. EUR 0; 2014: thous. EUR 283) 6 0 (114) 

Proceeds and payments for securities and other financial assets   833 1,447 

Dividends received   269 259 

Interest received   2,087 1,459 

Net cash from investing activities   (198,040) (122,319) 

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:       

Interest paid   (6,152) (5,076) 

Proceeds from interest-bearing financial liabilities   93,204 112,986 

Repayments of interest-bearing financial liabilities and finance lease liabilities   (70,576) (16,354) 

Payments to non-controlling (minority) shareholders 6 (494) (13,328) 

Payments received from non-controlling (minority) shareholders 6 0 109 

Dividends paid to the shareholders of the Company 13 (84,000) (96,000) 

Dividends paid to non-controlling (minority) shareholders 13 (2,586) (1,159) 

Net cash from financing activities   (70,604) (18,822) 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents   (3,187) (2,485) 

Change in cash and cash equivalents   (65,133) 22,166 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  
(according to the consolidated balance sheet) 

  
320,086 297,920 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  
(according to the consolidated balance sheet) 

  
254,953 320,086   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements 

1 ––– BASIC INFORMATION 

The Mayr-Melnhof Group 

Mayr-Melnhof Karton AG and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) are primarily engaged in manufacturing and 

selling cartonboard and folding cartons with a focus on Europe. The parent company of the Group is  

Mayr-Melnhof Karton AG, located at Brahmsplatz 6, 1040 Vienna, Austria. The shares of the Company 

are listed on the Vienna Stock Exchange. 

Segment information 

The Group is divided into two operating segments (see note 19): Mayr-Melnhof Karton (“MM Karton”) 

and Mayr-Melnhof Packaging (“MM Packaging”). MM Karton manufactures and markets numerous 

grades of cartonboard, concentrating on coated cartonboard produced predominantly from recovered 

paper as well as virgin fiber-based cartonboard. MM Packaging processes cartonboard into industrial 

printed folding cartons, mainly for the food industry (e. g. cereals, dried foods, sugar, and baked prod-

ucts), other consumer goods industries (e. g. cosmetics and toiletries, detergents, household articles, 

and toys), and cigarette and pharmaceutical packagings as well as high-grade confectionary packaging. 

 

2 ––– PRINCIPLES OF PREPARING THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Basic accounting principles and declaration of compliance 

The consolidated financial statements and notes thereto of Mayr-Melnhof Karton AG and its subsidiar-

ies have been prepared applying section 245a of the Austrian Commercial Code in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards and their interpretations released by International Ac-

counting Standards Board “IASB” as to be applied within the European Union. Additional require-

ments according to section 245a paragraph 1 of the Austrian Commercial Code have been met.  

There are no further assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities or other financial commitments with regard 

to third parties other than those which have been recorded in the consolidated financial statements 

and notes thereto. 

The consolidated financial statements, except for revaluation of particular financial instruments, are 

prepared according to historical acquisition or manufacturing cost.  
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The consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto in accordance with generally accepted 

accounting and recognition standards of IFRS are prepared using estimates and assumptions for certain 

items, which affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets 

and liabilities at the balance sheet date and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 

reporting period. In the end, actual amounts may differ from these estimates and assumptions. 

The present consolidated financial statements comprise the period from January 1 till December 31, 2015 

and have been prepared by the Management Board as of February 29, 2016 and will be presented to 

the Supervisory Board for review and approval. 

The consolidated financial statements are reported in Euro. Unless stated otherwise, all amounts here-

in, except share data and per share amounts, are specified in thousands of Euro. 

 

Application of new and changed standards 

During the preparation of the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto, relevant amend-

ments to existing IAS, IFRS and interpretations as well as newly enacted standards and interpreta-

tions, as published in the Official Journal of the European Union no later than December 31, 2015 and 

with an effective date no later than this date, were taken into consideration: 

   

New interpretation Content Effective 

IFRIC 21 Levies 2015 

Revised standards Content Effective 

IAS 19 Employee Benefits: Employee Contributions to Defined Benefit Plans 2015 

 Annual Improvements to IFRSs − 2010-2012 Cycle 2015 

 Annual Improvements to IFRSs − 2011-2013 Cycle 2015 
  

 

If applicable, the effective regulations were adopted in the present consolidated financial statements 

without any significant impact on the presentation of the financial situation and profitability.  
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Furthermore, the following revised Standards were endorsed by the EU; their application is, however, 

not yet compulsorily for the financial year 2015: 

  

 Revised Standards Content Effective 

IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative 2016 

IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements: Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements 2016 

IAS 16/IAS 38 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortization 2016 

IAS 16/IAS 41  Agriculture: Bearer Plants 2016 

IFRS 11 Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations 2016 

 Annual Improvements to IFRSs − 2012-2014 Cycle 2016 
  

 

Additionally, the following new and revised standards were published by IASB but not yet endorsed by 

December 31, 2015: 

  

 New Standards Content Effective 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 2018 

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 2018 

Revised Standards Content Effective 

IAS 28/IFRS 10 
Investments in Associates / Consolidated Financial Statements: Sale or 
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture 

2016 

IAS 28/IFRS 10/12  Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception 2016 
  

 

The new applicable standards IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 are described in brief below: 

 

IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” includes regulations for recognition and measurement, derecognition 

and hedge accounting and is applicable for all categories of financial instruments. On July 24, 2014, 

the IASB published the final version of the standard as a result of completion of different phases of its 

comprehensive project related to financial instruments. The so far applicable presentation under the 

standards IAS 32 and IAS 39 can thus be entirely replaced with the standard IFRS 9. The first mandato-

ry adoption of IFRS 9 is planned for annual reporting periods starting on January 1, 2018. The impact of 

the adoption of IFRS 9 on the Group is currently being evaluated, but from today’s point of view will 

lead to only minor disclosure changes. 
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The objective of IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” is to establish the principles that 

an entity shall apply to report relevant information to users of financial statements about the nature, 

amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from a contract with a customer. 

The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity should recognize revenue in the amount of the expected 

consideration for the transferred performance obligations, i.e. transfer of goods and rendering services. 

The first adoption of IFRS 15 is mandatory for annual reporting periods starting on January 1, 2018. 

Basically the Group does not have any multi-component agreements which also include services in 

addition to the delivery of goods. Especially in the MM Packaging division we are currently evaluating 

special agreements for equipment and are verifying if the adoption of IFRS 15 might have any further 

potential consequences. The consequences for the Group are, from today’s point of view, considered 

as insignificant and therefore no impact on the Group’s financial situation and profitability is expected. 

From today’s point of view, the above mentioned revised standards are not expected to have any sig-

nificant impact on the Group’s financial situation and profitability.  

Furthermore, IFRS 16, which was issued in January 2016 and supersedes IAS 17, contains new rules on 

lease accounting. In the future, lessees will have to recognize assets and liabilities for most leases, 

irrespective of whether they are classified as operating leases or finance leases according to the crite-

ria of the former IAS 17. For lessors, there will only be minor accounting changes compared to IAS 17. 

The Group is going to start a detailed analysis of the effects of IFRS 16 in the near future. From today’s 

point of view, it is therefore not yet possible to assess the impact on the Group’s financial situation and 

profitability. 
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3 ––– SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING AND RECOGNITION PRINCIPLES 

Presentation of the consolidated financial statements 

The presented consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with IAS 1 “Presenta-

tion of financial statements”. The consistency of presentation has been considered. 

The present consolidated financial statements and notes thereto are prepared using the same ac-

counting principles and valuation methods as the financial statements and notes thereto prepared for 

the financial year 2014. 

Consolidation principles and methods 

The consolidated financial statements and notes thereto include Mayr-Melnhof Karton AG (“the Com-

pany”) as well as its subsidiaries. These are all entities over which the Group has control. The Group 

has control, when it is exposed to variable returns of its involvement in the entity and has the rights or 

ability to use its control over the entity to affect the amount of these variable returns. 

The Group has control over the entity, when its existing rights enable it to direct the relevant activities 

that significantly affect the entity’s returns.  

The Group is exposed or has rights to variable returns from its involvement with the entity, which can 

vary as a result of its profitability. Such returns can be positive, negative, or both. 

Generally the ownership of more than 50 % of voting shares provides an entity with control. In this 

respect, there is no scope of discretion. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are 

currently exercisable or convertible, are considered when assessing whether the Group controls an-

other entity. The criteria whether the Group has control over another entity are reviewed even if the 

Group holds less than 50 % of voting rights.  

The subsidiaries are consolidated as of the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are 

de-consolidated on the date on which such control ceases to exist.  

Changes in shareholdings which do not lead to a loss of control over the subsidiaries are presented 

only as equity transactions and therefore have no impact on the consolidated income statement. 

Non-controlling (minority) interests represent the non-controlling (minority) shareholders’ proportionate 

share in equity and total profit for the year in subsidiaries of the Group. These minority interests are pre-

sented separately within equity. 

All effects of intercompany transactions are entirely eliminated. 
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Business Combinations 

All acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The 

acquisition costs correspond to the fair value of the assets and liabilities transferred or incurred and 

the equity instruments issued on the transaction date. The acquisition costs also include the fair value 

of any assets or liabilities arising from a contingent or deferred consideration arrangement. At the time 

of their initial consolidation, the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities identified in the course of a 

business combination are measured at their fair value at the acquisition date. The Group recognizes 

any non-controlling (minority) interest in the acquiree at the date of acquisition at the non-controlling 

(minority) interest’s proportionate share in the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related 

costs are expensed as incurred. 

Contingent considerations are measured at their fair value at the acquisition date. The changes in 

contingent consideration classified as asset or liability are measured according to IAS 39, and the 

resulting profit or loss recognized in the profit for the year.  

Any remaining excess of the acquisition costs over the fair value of identifiable net assets of the interest 

acquired shall be capitalized as goodwill. After repeated assessment, negative goodwill shall be recog-

nized directly in the income statement.  

Investments in associated companies and other investments 

Investments in companies in which the Group has the ability to exercise significant influence, but not 

dominant control over its operating and financial policy are accounted for under the equity method 

and primarily recognized at their acquisition costs. This is generally the case when the voting interest 

is between 20 % and 50 %. All other investments which are not measured using the equity method are 

accounted for at their fair value. If there is no active market for these investments and the fair value of 

the justifiable expenses cannot be reliably determined, they are assessed at their acquisition costs less 

impairment. 

Foreign currency translation 

Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries with a functional currency other than the Euro are trans-

lated into Euro using the average exchange rates as of the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses 

are translated using average exchange rates for the year. Differences arising from the translation of 

assets and liabilities in comparison with the previous periods are recognized as a separate component 

of equity. Gains and losses resulting from foreign currency transactions are recognized in the income 

statement as incurred.  

The transactions of the Company in currencies other than the functional currency are translated using 

the exchange rates on the date of transaction. Monetary items in foreign currency are translated using 

the exchange rates on the balance sheet date. Resulting exchange rate differences as well as effects of 

the realization are recognized in the income statement under “Other financial result – net”. 
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Exchange rate differences arising on monetary items that form part of a net investment in a foreign 

operation are recognized initially in accordance with IAS 21.32 as a separate component of equity and 

are recognized in the income statement only upon intentional repayment or disposal of the net  

investment. 

The exchange rates of the relevant currencies of non-Euro participating countries used in preparing 

the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto were as follows: 

   

    

Exchange rate
at Dec. 31,  

2015 

Exchange rate
at Dec. 31,  

2014 

Annual average 
exchange rate  

2015 

Annual average 
exchange rate 

2014 

Country: Currency: 1 EUR = 1 EUR = 1 EUR = 1 EUR = 

Bulgaria BGN 1.96 1.96 1.96 1.96 

Chile CLP 775 738 726 752 

China CNY 7.06 7.54 6.99 8.15 

Colombia COP 3,429 2,876 3,021 2,655 

Czech Republic CZK 27.02 27.73 27.30 29.15 

Great Britain GBP 0.73 0.78 0.73 0.81 

Jordan JOD 0.77 0.86 0.79 0.94 

Malaysia MYR 4.70 4.25 4.32 4.34 

Norway NOK 9.60 9.04 8.98 8.39 

Poland PLN 4.26 4.26 4.19 4.19 

Romania  RON 4.52 4.48 4.44 4.44 

Russia RUB 79.70 68.34 67.72 50.48 

Switzerland CHF 1.08 1.20 1.07 1.21 

Tunisia  TND 2.20 2.27 2.17 2.25 

Turkey  TRY 3.18 2.82 3.01 2.90 

Ukraine UAH 26.22 19.23 23.62 15.20 

Vietnam VND 23,574 25,833 24,015 28,027 
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Revenue recognition 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods 

(numerous grades of cartonboard as well as packaging) and rendering of services in the ordinary 

course of business activities. Revenue is reported less reductions, such as bonuses, discounts and 

rebates. The Group recognizes revenues for sales of goods when the significant risks and rewards, 

resulting from the ownership of the goods, are transferred to the customer, and the Group retains 

neither continuing right of disposal to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective 

control over the goods and products sold as well as the amount of revenue and cost incurred or to be 

incurred can be measured reliably and it is sufficiently probable that the economic benefit associated 

with the transaction will flow to the Group. 

Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are recognized at cost less accumulated depreciation. Therefore, depre-

ciation expense is recognized using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives: 

 

Buildings 10–50 years 

Technical equipment and machines 3–20 years 

Other equipment, fixtures and fittings 3–20 years 
 

 

The Group capitalizes renewal investments and leasehold improvements. Generally, costs resulting in 

a prolongation of utilization or in an increase in future utilization of assets are capitalized. Current 

costs of maintenance and repairs are recognized as expense as incurred. 

The cost of internally generated assets includes the respective direct costs as well as attributable 

material and manufacturing overhead costs including depreciation. 

Borrowing costs 

Direct and indirect borrowing costs that can be allocated to the acquisition, construction or production 

of a qualifying asset are included in the acquisition or manufacturing costs of the asset and capital-

ized. A qualifying asset is an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for 

its intended use or sale. Capitalization period should cease when substantially all of the activities nec-

essary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale have been completed. 

All other borrowing costs are recognized as expenses in the period in which they are incurred. 
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Leases 

The Group is predominantly the lessee in lease transactions. As far as the Group substantially bears all 

the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of an asset, thereby being considered as beneficial 

owner (“Finance Lease”), the asset is recognized under non-current assets at fair value or at the pre-

sent value of the non-cancellable minimum lease payments and a lease liability is accrued in the re-

spective amount. For all remaining lease transactions (“Operating Lease”), the lease-related payments 

are recognized as expenses over the relevant term of the lease. 

Government grants 

A government grant is not recognized until there is reasonable assurance that the conditions attached 

to it will be fulfilled. Grants received from third parties are basically recognized as other operating 

income. Grants relating to assets are recognized as deferred income. Governments grant are recog-

nized in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the useful life of the respective asset. 

Goodwill 

Goodwill is not amortized but tested for impairment on an annual basis according to IAS 36. The re-

coverability evaluation of goodwill is performed at least annually or when there is an indication that a 

significant impairment may exist.  

Goodwill allocation 

Goodwill within the Group is monitored for internal management purposes at the level of the operating 

segments MM Karton and MM Packaging. Therefore the impairment test is carried out at this organi-

zational level. Goodwill is allocated to the segments as follows: 

  

(in thousands of EUR) Dec. 31, 2015 Dec. 31, 2014 

Goodwill MM Karton 4,646 4,887 

Goodwill MM Packaging 104,645 72,386 

Goodwill Group 109,291 77,273 
  

 

Any possible impairment will be recorded in the amount by which the book value of the respective 

operating segment including the respective goodwill assigned to this segment exceeds the so-called 

recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is defined as the higher of value in use and fair value less 

cost to sell of the Group’s respective cash generating units. For the impairment test, the respective 

recoverable amount is determined based on the calculation of value in use for each operating segment. 
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Calculation of value in use  

Value in use is determined for the respective operating segment based on the present value of esti-

mated future cash flows (Free Cash Flows) before taxes using the discounted cash flow method  

(DCF method) under the following underlying assumptions (parameters):  

  

Discount rate 

The discount rate represents the weighted average cost of capital (WACC) of the Group before 
taxes and for the current financial year it equals 9.16 % (2014: 10.34 %) for the segment 
MM Karton and 11.94 % (2014: 11.15 %) for the segment MM Packaging. Cost of equity is 
derived from a general risk premium, for which the Group’s specific risk premium is taken into 
consideration by applying the beta factor as well as country-specific risk indicators. The beta 
factor as well as cost of debt are derived from Peer-Group capital market information. 

The detailed forecast period The detailed forecast period is five years (2014: five years). 

Growth rate 
The Free Cash Flows after the five year detailed forecast period are considered at a growth rate 
of 1.5 % p.a. (2014: 1.5 % p.a.). 

Gross margin/Cost development 
Provided that there is no contrary information, a stable gross margin and fixed cost 
development is assumed. 

  

 

If, using this procedure and these underlying assumptions, it is determined that the recoverable 

amount (value in use) is lower than the respective book value of the cash generating operating seg-

ment including the respective goodwill assigned, the difference is recorded as impairment. The Group 

has effected its annual impairment test as of December 31, 2015 and as of December 31, 2014. Neither 

in 2015 nor in 2014 an impairment on goodwill was recognized on this basis. 

Underlying assumptions sensitivity 

Regarding the underlying parameters for calculating the value in use, assumptions were made. From 

today’s perspective, after due deliberation, no significant changes of one or more underlying assump-

tions used for determining the value in use of both operating segments are expected, which would 

result in the book value of the respective operating segments including goodwill assigned to this seg-

ment exceeding the recoverable amount in the following financial year. 

The respective pre-tax discount rate according to which the value in use would equal the book value 

as of December 31, 2015 is 19.01 % (December 31, 2014: 15.65 %) for the operating segment  

MM Karton and 20.29 % (December 31, 2014: 17.48 %) for the operating segment MM Packaging. 

As of December 31, 2015, the Group’s market capitalization amounted to thous. EUR 2,290,000 

(December 31, 2014: thous. EUR 1,720,000), and the book value of the equity amounted to  

thous. EUR 1,144,155 (December 31, 2014: thous. EUR 1,102,168). 
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Other intangible assets 

Acquired intangible assets which are determined to have a finite useful life, including licences, pa-

tents, concessions, trademarks, and assets regarding customer relationships, are capitalized at cost 

and amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives ranging from five to ten years. 

Acquired intangible assets which are determined to have an indefinite useful life are not amortized but 

tested for impairment on an annual basis. 

Research and development costs include all costs related to the targeted search for new knowledge 

with regard to development and considerable improvement of products, performance, and processes 

and which are part of the research activities. Research costs are recognized in operating profit as ex-

pense as incurred. Development costs are capitalized only when certain criteria of IAS 38.57 could be 

verified and are met cumulatively. Neither as of December 31, 2015 nor as of December 31, 2014 have 

development costs been capitalized. 

In the course of the implementation of the Kyoto Protocol, Directive 2003/87/EC came into force in the 

European Union as of January 1, 2005. Based on this Directive, the Group is obliged to redeem speci-

fied emission rights for carbon dioxide emissions incurred during cartonboard production. These emis-

sion rights have been allocated free of charge to the Group’s respective production sites for the period 

from 2013 to 2020. 

As IFRIC 3 “Emission Rights” has been withdrawn by the IASB, there are no definite regulations con-

cerning the accounting treatment of emission rights. Therefore these emission rights are recognized in 

accordance with IAS 38 “Intangible Assets” as intangible assets in “Prepaid expenses, securities and 

other current assets”, measured at cost amounting to zero, if the rights have been allocated free of 

charge. If effective carbon dioxide emissions exceed the number of existing emission rights during the 

reporting period at the balance sheet date, a provision for these missing emission rights in the amount 

of their market value has to be accounted for. As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Group had suffi-

cient emission rights available. 

Accordingly, only expenses from the utilization of acquired emission rights and income from the sale 

of redundant emission rights are recorded in the income statement. 

Impairment of non-current assets 

A recoverability evaluation of non-current assets is performed as soon as events have occurred or 

circumstances have changed, indicating that the carrying amount of an asset or a group of assets 

could exceed its recoverable amount. In such a case, the carrying amount of the asset or the group of 

assets is compared with the higher of fair value less costs to sell or its present value of estimated fu-

ture cash flows from use of the asset. In case that the reason for an impairment no longer exists, a 

reversal has to be conducted. 

  



 

 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 MAYR-MELNHOF KARTON AG, ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2015  54 

Financial instruments 

Financial instruments consist of financial assets and financial liabilities. Regular purchases and sales of 

financial instruments are recognized at their transaction date at which the Group is obliged to purchase 

or sell the financial instrument. 

The financial assets of the Group consist of securities, other financial assets, loans, trade receivables, 

other receivables and assets (except for the positions which do not represent any financial instruments, 

such as receivables regarding taxes and other charges), cash and cash equivalents as well as derivative 

financial instruments with a positive balance.  

The financial assets are classified and measured as follows: 

 

Category Measurement 

At fair value through profit and loss,  
e. g. derivatives 

At fair value through profit and loss 

Held-to-maturity investments,  
e. g. bonds 

At amortized cost 

Available-for-sale financial assets,  
e. g. available-for-sale securities 

At fair value through other comprehensive income 

Loans and receivables,  
e. g. trade receivables, loans  

At amortized costs 

 

 

Assets measured at their fair value through profit and loss are financial assets held for trading. A finan-

cial asset will be classified under this category if it is purchased with the intention to be sold in the 

short-term. The derivative financial instruments are also included in this category, unless they are used 

as hedges. 

Financial assets are classified as held-to-maturity investments when they feature fixed maturity dates 

and repayment is not at risk if the Group is able and intends to hold them to maturity.  

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial instruments that are either classified 

under this category or not classified under any other of the above mentioned categories. These are 

basically recognized at fair value through other comprehensive income, unless the market value can-

not be reliably determined (see note 5 f). 

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed and determinable payments that are not quoted 

in an active market. 
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Financial assets not classified as “at fair value through profit and loss” are initially measured at their 

fair value plus transaction costs. Financial assets, classified under this category, are at first measured 

at their fair value; associated transaction costs are directly recognized in profit and loss. These finan-

cial assets are derecognized when all the rights for payment are transferred or expired and the Group 

has transferred considerable risks and rewards associated with ownership. 

Financial assets are assessed, at the end of each reporting period, to determine whether there is an 

objective evidence of impairment. A financial asset or a group of financial assets should be impaired 

only as a consequence of one or more events which have occurred after the initial recognition of the 

assets (“loss event”), if objective evidence of impairment exists and if this loss event (or events) has a 

reliably measurable impact on the future expected cash flows related to these financial assets or group 

of financial assets. 

Objective events are for example significant financial difficulties of the debtor or issuer, breach of 

agreement, such as default or past-due event, or disappearance of an active market. In case of equity 

instruments classified as available-for-sale financial assets a material or continuous fall of their fair 

value below their acquisition costs is an indicator of impairment. 

In the category “Loans and receivables”, credit loss will be measured as a difference between the 

carrying amount of an asset and the present value of the expected future cash flows (excluding future 

credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted with the original effective interest rate of the 

financial asset. The carrying amount of the asset will be reduced and the loss recognized through 

profit or loss. 

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of an impairment loss decreases due to an event occurring after 

the impairment was initially recognized (for example better rating), the impairment loss is reversed 

through profit or loss. 

If there is objective evidence of impairment of “available-for-sale” instruments, the cumulative loss 

measured as difference between amortized costs and current fair value less the amount of the previous 

impairment loss relating to this financial asset will be derecognized from equity and recognized 

through profit or loss. Once the impairment of available-for-sale equity instruments is recognized 

through profit and loss, it cannot be reversed through profit or loss anymore. If, in a subsequent period, 

the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale financial asset increased due to an 

event occurring after the impairment was initially recognized, the previously recognized impairment 

loss is reversed through profit or loss.  
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Financial liabilities of the Group comprise interest-bearing financial liabilities including finance lease, 

trade liabilities, other liabilities (except for the positions which do not represent financial instruments, 

such as liabilities regarding taxes and other charges) as well as derivative financial instruments with a 

negative balance.  

Financial liabilities are classified and measured as follows: 

 

Category Measurement 

At fair value through profit and loss,  
e. g. derivatives 

At fair value through profit and loss 

Other financial liabilities,  
e. g. interest-bearing financial liabilities, trade liabilities 

At amortized cost  

 

 

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit and loss are at first recorded at their fair value; 

transaction costs are directly recognized in profit and loss. Other financial liabilities are recorded at their 

fair value net of transaction costs. Subsequently, financial liabilities are evaluated in following periods 

either at amortized costs, using the effective interest method, or at their fair value in profit and loss.  

Financial liabilities are derecognized when they are fully settled, which means the contract conditions are 

discharged, cancelled, or expired.  

Securities 

The Group classifies its securities either as “Available-for-sale financial assets” or as “Held-to-maturity 

investments”. 

Securities which are classified as “Available-for-sale financial assets” are recognized at fair value in 

reference to an active market. The corresponding unrealized gains and losses are directly recognized 

as other comprehensive income (expenses) of the consolidated comprehensive income statement, net 

of deferred income taxes, unless they represent a permanent loss. Realized gains and losses from the 

sale of securities that are determined using the specific identification method and declines in value clas-

sified to be not only temporary are included in “Financial income” or “Financial expenses”. 

Securities which are classified as “Held-to-maturity investments” are recognized by applying the effec-

tive interest rate method at amortized cost. Premiums and accretions of discount of debt securities are 

allocated over their maturity period and are included in the income statement in the positions “Financial 

income” or “Financial expenses”. 
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Other financial assets 

Other financial assets comprise investments in associated companies and other investments, loans 

and other financial investments. Other investments are defined under the category “Available-for-sale 

financial assets”, but in general these investments are recognized at amortized cost net of allowances, 

as no active market exists for these investments and the respective fair values cannot be reliably 

measured with economically justifiable effort. In case an indication of lower fair value exists, such 

value is recorded.  

Loans are classified under the category “Loans and receivables” measured at amortized cost, whereas 

non-interest-and low-interest-bearing loans are recognized at present value. All other investments are 

impaired in case of a permanent reduction in value. In case the reasons for impairment no longer exist, 

a reversal has to be conducted. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash, checks, and short-term demand deposits at financial insti-

tutions with expiration dates within three months. Cash and cash equivalents denominated in foreign 

currencies are translated into Euro using the exchange rate at the balance sheet date. For the purpose 

of the statement of cash flows, the above defined cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:  

  

(in thousands of EUR) Dec. 31, 2015 Dec. 31, 2014 

Fixed deposits 63,751 230,251 

Unrestricted bank deposits and cash 191,146 89,765 

Other restricted bank deposits 56 70 

Cash and cash equivalents 254,953 320,086 
  

 

Receivables 

Receivables are accounted for at amortized cost, i.e. at par value less bonuses, discounts, and allow-

ances, and are classified under the category “Loans and receivables”. 

Liabilities 

Non-current as well as current liabilities, including financial liabilities, are classified under the catego-

ry “Other financial liabilities” and presented at amortized cost. Thus, current liabilities are as a rule 

stated at cost, which is the consideration to be paid.  

Accruals 

Accruals comprise the liabilities for which the exact time or amount is uncertain while being definable 

to a high degree of certainty. Even if the amount and the exact time are only estimated, the measure-

ment precision is higher than by determination of provisions. Therefore they will be recognized ac-

cording to their origin as trade liabilities and other current liabilities. 
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Derivative financial instruments 

The Group recognizes derivative financial instruments as financial assets or liabilities measured at 

their fair value. Hedging relationships established to secure cash flows or fair values related to single 

underlying transactions reduce the currency risk in the Group.  

Current and deferred taxes 

Income taxes are recognized in profit and loss, except when they are associated with positions directly 

recognized in equity or other comprehensive income of the total comprehensive income. In this case, 

the income taxes are recorded in equity or other comprehensive income of the total comprehensive 

income as well.  

Current tax expense comprises current and deferred taxes and is recognized according to the tax 

regulations of the countries in which the subsidiaries are active and obtain their taxable income.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized according to IAS 12 “Income taxes” for all temporary 

differences between tax and the consolidated balance sheet. Deferred taxes are evaluated using the 

tax rates which are already in force on the balance sheet date or which have essentially been legally 

adopted and which are expected to be valid at the time of realization of the deferred tax asset or the 

settlement of deferred tax liability. Deferred tax assets are recognized only if there is a probability that 

sufficient taxable profit will be available for utilization of the deductible temporary differences. If losses 

are incurred in the current or previous period, deferred taxes are only recognized in case of objective 

evidence of a future taxable result, as for example following an internal reorganization of subsidiaries. 

Deferred tax liabilities arising from temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries and 

associated companies are recognized unless the Group is able to control the date of reversal and it is 

probable that these temporary differences will not be reversed in the foreseeable future due to this 

influence. 

Deferred tax assets will be offset with deferred tax liabilities only if the entity has the legal right to 

settle on a net basis and they are levied by the same taxing authority on the same taxable entity or 

different taxable entities that intend to realize the asset and settle the liability at the same time. 

The effect of tax rate changes on deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized as income tax ex-

pense or in the consolidated comprehensive income statement in the period of a tax rate change. In 

case of a distribution of retained earnings of certain subsidiaries, an increase of a tax burden can occur 

under current country-specific tax jurisdictions and existing double-taxation treaties, for which in 

some cases a deferred tax liability will be formed.  
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Inventories 

Inventories are valued at the lower of acquisition or manufacturing costs and the net realizable value. 

The net realizable value is based on expected selling prices and takes into consideration remaining 

costs of completion as well as estimated selling and distribution expenses. In order to determine pur-

chase costs of raw materials, manufacturing and operation supplies as well as goods for resale, a 

weighted average price method, taking into consideration the sales market, is applied in the  

cartonboard division. In the packaging division, the purchase costs of raw materials, manufacturing 

and operation supplies as well as goods for resale are basically recognized using the actual sequence 

of consumption (specific identification method). 

Work in process and finished goods consist of direct costs, such as material and labor costs as well as 

manufacturing overhead costs. Write-downs for slow moving and obsolete inventories are recognized 

considering the storage period and sales situation.  

Equity 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 

Should the Group acquire treasury shares, they are recognized at their acquisition costs and deducted 

from shareholders’ equity. The purchase, sale, issuance, and cancelation of treasury shares are recog-

nized directly in equity. Any differences between carrying amount and the price paid in case of reis-

suing shares are recognized as a share premium. The Group cannot exercise voting rights in connec-

tion with treasury shares. Furthermore, these shares are not entitled to dividend. 

Non-controlling (minority) interests 

Non-controlling (minority) interests comprise the interest on equity and total profit for the year at-

tributable to non-group shareholders’ investments in subsidiaries of Mayr-Melnhof Karton AG. The 

non-controlling (minority) interests as of the acquisition date are presented as part of net assets (equi-

ty) of the respective entity or businesses and, in the following period, adjusted taking into considera-

tion profit or loss attributable to the shareholders, dividend paid as well as paid-in or paid-out capital. 
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Employee benefits 

Defined benefit pension obligations and other benefits related to severance obligations are valued 

actuarially in accordance with IAS 19 “Employee benefits” using the projected unit credit method. The 

present value of defined benefit obligations is calculated based on the years of service, the anticipated 

development of the employee’s compensation as well as the enacted contractual and statutory pen-

sion revaluation requirements. The service cost is recognized in personnel cost; the net interest cost 

for the provisions is recognized in “Other financial result - net”. Actuarial gains and losses as well as 

gains from plan assets, excluding the amounts which are already included in the net interest on net 

liability, are recognized in other comprehensive income in the statement of comprehensive income in 

accordance with IAS 19. 

Provisions for anniversary bonuses are valued actuarially for non-current obligations against employ-

ees related to the number of years of their service based on collective or plant bargaining agreements 

using the projected unit credit method. Actuarial gains and losses are recognized in the income state-

ment in accordance with IAS 19. 

Provisions for pre-retirement programs are accrued upon conclusion of individual contractual agree-

ments as well as for probable pre-retirement agreements in the future, if employees have the right to 

participate in pre-retirement programs based on plant bargaining agreements or collective agree-

ments. Statutory deposits of securities for covering pre-retirement programs are netted with the provi-

sions for pre-retirement programs, provided that they meet the definition of plan assets. 

Other provisions 

According to IAS 37, provisions are created only when a legal or constructive obligation to a third 

party as a result of past event exist, it is probable that it will be settled and the amount of obligation 

can be reliably estimated. The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the considera-

tion required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period. If the interest effect is 

considerable, the provision is discounted with a market interest rate.  

Provisions for large numbers of similar obligations, e. g. warranties, are measured at a probability-

weighted expected value of assets reduction based on this group of obligations. A provision is also 

recognized under liabilities, if the probability of a claim on assets is negligible within a single obligation 

included in this group. 
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4 ––– KEY ASSUMPTIONS AND ESTIMATES 

The consolidated financial statements and notes thereto include the following material items, the 

determination of whose carrying amounts is highly dependent on the underlying assumptions and  

estimations: 

Useful life of non-current assets 

Property, plant and equipment, and acquired intangible assets are stated at acquisition and manufac-

turing costs and are depreciated/amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. 

The estimation of useful lives is based on assumptions about wear and tear, aging, technical standards, 

contract periods, and changes in demand. Changes in these factors may cause a reduction of the use-

ful life of an asset. Hence, the carrying amount would be depreciated/amortized over the remaining 

shorter useful life, resulting in higher annual depreciation/amortization expenses. 

Impairment of non-current assets 

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually. Furthermore, a recoverability evaluation of non-current 

assets is performed whenever events that have occurred or circumstances that have changed indicate 

that the carrying amount of an asset or a group of assets exceeds its recoverable amount. In the course 

of these impairment tests, the evaluation of non-current assets is also based on budget assessments of 

market or company-specific discount rates, expected annual growth rates, and gross margin/costs 

development. The assumptions involved in these calculations may change and may lead to an impair-

ment loss in future periods. 

Realization of deferred tax assets 

Deferred taxes are calculated by applying the tax rates which are effective on the balance sheet date 

or have essentially been legally adopted and which are expected to be valid at the time of realization of 

a deferred tax asset or the settlement of a deferred tax liability as well as by evaluating the capacity of 

future taxable income. Potential tax rate changes or a future taxable result which differs from the as-

sumptions may result in the fact that the realization of deferred tax assets becomes improbable and a 

valuation allowance for the respective assets has to be recorded. 

Provisions for pensions, severance payments and anniversary bonuses 

The actuarial calculation of pension, severance and anniversary bonuses obligations is based on as-

sumptions about discount rates, salary and pension adjustments, life expectancy, and retirement age. 

Additionally, the probable employee turnover depending on the years of service is used for assessing 

of anniversary bonuses. Actual outcomes may be different from these assumptions due to changes in 

the economic environment and market conditions. 
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5 ––– FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS DISCLOSURES 

a ––– Classification and measurement of financial instruments 

Financial instruments comprise financial assets and financial liabilities and are recognized in different 

categories which determine the respective measurement method and thus also the resulting type of 

income and expense. Below, the financial instruments are assigned to the respective categories and 

measurement methods. Afterwards, the carrying amounts included in the balance sheet that corre-

spond to the respective categories are presented. In conclusion, the income and expenses resulting 

from the different categories are shown. 

Financial assets of the Group comprise securities, other financial assets, loans, trade receivables, other 

receivables, and assets (except for certain positions which do not represent financial instruments, such 

as receivables regarding taxes and other charges), cash and cash equivalents, and derivative financial 

instruments with a positive balance.  

Financial assets are classified and measured as follows: 

 

Category Measurement  

At fair value through profit or loss, 
e. g. derivatives 

At fair value through profit or loss 

Held-to-maturity investments, 
e. g. bonds 

At amortized cost 

Available-for-sale financial assets, 
e. g. available-for-sale securities 

At fair value through other comprehensive income 

Loans and receivables, 
e. g. trade receivables, loans 

At amortized cost  

 

 

Financial liabilities of the Group comprise interest-bearing financial liabilities including finance lease, 

trade liabilities, other liabilities (except for certain positions which do not represent financial instru-

ments, such as liabilities regarding taxes and other charges) as well as derivative financial liabilities 

with a negative balance. 

Financial liabilities are classified and measured as follows: 

 

Category Measurement  

At fair value through profit or loss, 
e. g. derivatives 

At fair value through profit or loss 

Other financial liabilities, 
e. g. interest-bearing financial liabilities, trade liabilities  

At amortized cost  
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The following table presents in which category the financial assets included in the balance sheet are 

recognized and by which method these financial instruments are measured: 

   

  

Financial assets 
measured at fair 
value through 
profit and loss 

Available-for-sale 
financial assets 

Held-to-maturity 
investments 

Loans and 
receivables Total 

  At fair value At amortized cost   

(in thousands of EUR) Carrying amount at Dec. 31, 2015 

Securities and other financial assets1)  0  1,699  2,549  1,573  5,821  

Trade receivables 0  0  0  339,207  339,207  

Other receivables and assets, 
including derivatives 1,325  0  807  12,044  14,176  

Cash and cash equivalents 0  0  0  254,953  254,953  

Total 1,325  1,699  3,356  607,777  614,157  

            

  Carrying amount at Dec. 31, 2014 

Securities and other financial assets1)  0  1,699  4,146  1,835  7,680  

Trade receivables 0  0  0  301,162  301,162  

Other receivables and assets, 
including derivatives 1,264  0  0  10,310  11,574  

Cash and cash equivalents 0  0  0  320,086  320,086  

Total 1,264  1,699  4,146  633,393  640,502  
   
1) For measurement of “other financial assets” classified as “available-for-sale financial assets” see note 5f. 
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The following table presents in which category the financial liabilities included in the balance sheet 

are recognized and by which method these financial instruments are measured: 

  

  

Financial liabilities 
measured at fair 
value through  
profit and loss 

Other financial 
liabilities Total 

  At fair value At amortized cost   

(in thousands of EUR) Carrying amount at Dec. 31, 2015 

Interest-bearing financial liabilities incl. finance lease 0 293,291 293,291 

Trade liabilities 0 186,287 186,287 

Share purchase price and option liabilities 0 6,859 6,859 

Other liabilities, including derivatives 1,100 10,980 12,080 

Total 1,100 497,417 498,517 

        

  Carrying amount at Dec. 31, 2014 

Interest-bearing financial liabilities 0 265,911 265,911 

Trade liabilities 0 170,821 170,821 

Share purchase price and option liabilities 0 8,885 8,885 

Other liabilities, including derivatives 970 9,652 10,622 

Total 970 455,269 456,239 
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The following table presents the types of income and expenses from financial assets assigned to cate-

gories and measurement methods:  

   

  

Financial assets 
measured at fair 
value through 
profit and loss 

Available-for-sale 
financial assets 

Held-to-maturity 
investments 

Loans and 
receivables Total 

  At fair value At amortized cost   

(in thousands of EUR) Income and expense 2015 

In profit for the year 61 269 52 1,958 2,340 

Interests/Dividends received 0 269 52 2,101 2,422 

Fair value/Carrying amount 
changes 61 0 0 (143) (82) 

Thereof impairment 0 0 0 (143) (143) 

In other comprehensive income 0 0 0 0 0 

Change in fair value 0 0 0 0 0 

Net profit/loss 61 269 52 1,958 2,340 

            

  Income and expense 2014 

In profit for the year 693 260 64 1,327 2,344 

Interests/Dividends received 0 259 64 1,390 1,713 

Fair value/Carrying amount 
changes 693 1 0 (63) 631 

Thereof impairment 0 0 0 (63) (63) 

In other comprehensive income 0 0 0 0 0 

Change in fair value 0 0 0 0 0 

Net profit/loss 693 260 64 1,327 2,344 
   

 



 

 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 MAYR-MELNHOF KARTON AG, ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2015  66 

The following table presents the types of income and expenses from financial liabilities assigned to 

categories and measurement methods:  

  

  

Financial liabilities 
measured at fair 
value through 
profit and loss 

Other financial 
liabilities Total 

  At fair value At amortized cost   

(in thousands of EUR) Income and expense 2015 

In profit for the year (130) (8,228) (8,358) 

Interests 0 (6,269) (6,269) 

Fair value/Carrying amount changes (130) (1,959) (2,089) 

Net profit/loss (130) (8,228) (8,358) 

        

  Income and expense 2014 

In profit for the year (12) (4,547) (4,559) 

Interests 0 (5,206) (5,206) 

Fair value/Carrying amount changes (12) 659 647 

Net profit/loss (12) (4,547) (4,559) 
  

 

 

b ––– Derivatives 

The Group applies derivative financial instruments to manage the risks arising from exchange rate and 

interest rate changes. In this context, the Group uses foreign exchange forward, swap and option 

contracts in order to mitigate the short-term effects of exchange rate fluctuations. 

The most important foreign currencies for which the Group protects itself against the fluctuation ef-

fects are British Pound, US Dollar as well as Euro for the companies with functional currencies other 

than Euro. The changes in fair values of these derivatives are recognized in “Foreign currency ex-

change rate gains (losses) – net” (see note 27). 

By December 31, 2015, the Group had concluded foreign exchange forward and swap contracts with a 

nominal value of thous. EUR 120,102 (December 31, 2014: thous. EUR 83,836) and a positive market 

value of thous. EUR 225 (December 31, 2014: positive market value of thous. EUR 294). 

The derivative financial instruments are recorded in the consolidated balance sheet under “Prepaid 

expenses, securities and other current assets” as current assets in the amount of thous. EUR 1,325 

(December 31, 2014: thous. EUR 1,264) and under “Deferred income and other current liabilities” as 

current liabilities in the amount of thous. EUR 1,100 (December 31, 2014: thous. EUR 970). 
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c ––– Financial Risk Management 

The Group is exposed to various financial risks arising from its operating activities and the structure of 

its financing. These financial risks include primarily credit risk, liquidity risk, currency risk, and risk of 

interest rate changes. These risks are limited using centralized risk management which is applied 

throughout the Group. The identification, analysis, and evaluation of financial risks as well as the deci-

sions concerning the application of financial instruments to manage these risks are carried out by the 

Group’s headquarters.  

Credit and default risk 

The credit risk represents the risk arising from non-fulfilment of contractual obligations by business 

partners which may result in losses. The immanent risk of default of business partners resulting from 

the underlying transaction is widely hedged by credit risk insurance as well as by bank guarantees 

and letters of credit. The criteria to be applied for credit ratings are based on contractual agreements 

with credit insurance institutions and are defined by internal guidelines. 

The credit and default risks are continuously monitored; existing and identifiable risks are provided for 

by recording appropriate allowances or provisions. For the assessment of the overall risk, existing 

insurance coverage, possible guarantees and letters of credit are taken into consideration. Financial 

instruments which may cause a concentration of financial risks within the Group in certain cases 

comprise primarily cash and cash equivalents, securities, and trade receivables. Trade receivables 

derive from a broad and diversified group of customers with different credit ratings. The financial risk 

arising from customers is monitored by ongoing credit rating assessments. Additionally, the Group 

concludes credit insurance contracts in order to cover certain potentially non-collectible receivables. 

Furthermore, the Group forms allowances based on the expected collectability of the total receivables 

volume. As a result of the broad and diversified customer base and the existing credit insurance con-

tracts, there is no concentrated risk of default. Trade receivables exist only against customers with 

good and very good creditworthiness; accordingly, the bad debt losses were insignificant in the past. 

The Group uses also foreign exchange forward, swap and option contracts. All the respective contract 

partners are renowned international financial institutions, with which the Group has ongoing business 

relationships. Therefore, the Group considers the risk of non-fulfillment by a contract partner and the 

related risk of loss as low.  

Theoretical maximum default risk as of the balance sheet date is reflected in particular by the carrying 

amount of trade receivables as well as securities and other financial assets in the amount of  

thous. EUR 345,835 (December 31, 2014: thous. EUR 308,842) as presented in the balance sheet. 

Money market investments are concluded with banks with ratings in investment grade ranges. 
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Liquidity risk 

The liquidity risk is referred to as the risk of having to raise the required funds at any time in order to 

settle the amounts payable in due course. Based on well-timed liquidity management, sufficient liquid-

ity of all the Group’s subsidiaries is provided for by the availability of adequate cash and cash equiva-

lents as well as credit lines. Consequently, liquidity risk is categorized as low. 

The following table shows the financial liabilities arising from interest-bearing financial liabilities in-

cluding finance lease, trade liabilities and liabilities arising from derivative financial instruments and 

interests for interest-bearing financial liabilities including finance lease based on the remaining ma-

turity as of the balance sheet date or referred to the contractually agreed maturity.  

   

(in thousands of EUR) Up to 3 months
3 months up to 

1 year 1−2 years 2−5 years Over 5 years 

Balance at Dec. 31, 2015           

Interest-bearing financial liabilities 
incl. finance lease 2,588 76,858 1,848 41,745 170,252 

Trade liabilities 183,609 2,678 0 0 0 

Derivative financial instruments 973 127 0 0 0 

Interests for interest-bearing 
financial liabilities incl. finance lease 452 4,127 3,837 10,340 15,296 

            

Balance at Dec. 31, 2014           

Interest-bearing financial liabilities 11,162 98,025 46,637 87 110,000 

Trade liabilities 168,334 2,487 0 0 0 

Derivative financial instruments 970 0 0 0 0 

Interests for interest-bearing 
financial liabilities  467 3,938 3,249 8,068 16,147 
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Currency risk 

The currency risk represents the risk arising from changes in the value of financial instruments due to 

exchange rates fluctuations. This risk exists when business transactions are processed in currencies 

other than the functional (local) currency of the Company. This is particularly the case for business 

relations to customers and suppliers in the British Pound, the US Dollar and the Euro, from the perspec-

tive of companies which do not have the Euro as their functional currency. The respective currency 

risks are, as far as possible, reduced by matching business transactions in similar currencies and by 

price adjustment mechanisms in longer-term agreements as well as foreign exchange forward, swap 

and option contracts. 

Provided that currencies related to current and non-current receivables and liabilities as of  

December 31, 2015 (December 31, 2014) stated below changed by the below-stated percentage  

(“Volatility”), the profit for the year and hence equity, assuming that all other variables remained con-

stant, would have increased or decreased by the following values. 

  

    
Impact on profit for the year and equity in 

thousands of EUR 

Currency Volatility 2015 2014 

EUR1) +/- 5 % -/+ 127 +/- 121 

GBP +/- 5 % +/- 38 +/- 13 

USD +/- 5 % -/+ 93 -/+ 96 
  

1) From the perspective of companies which do not have the Euro as functional currency. 

Interest rate risk 

The interest rate risk is referred to as the risk arising from changes in the market interest rates, which 

can result in value fluctuation of balance sheet items or fluctuation in cash flows. For balance sheet 

items with fixed interest the risk consists mainly in fluctuations in value (price risk); when the market 

interest rate changes, the (present) value of financial instruments with fixed interest payments chang-

es as well. Due to these value fluctuations, profit or loss can arise, which are particularly realized when 

the financial instrument is sold before maturity. For balance sheet items with a variable interest rate, 

there is mainly the risk of fluctuating cash flows. In case the market interest rate changes, the amount 

of interest receivable or payable from financial instruments with variable interest payments changes as 

well. Such changes would alter the ongoing interest payments and therefore also the interest income 

and expense. As of December 31, 2015, the Group is financed via financial liabilities with variable as 

well as fixed interest rates and holds almost solely financial assets with variable interest rates. Hence, 

the Group is essentially only exposed to the interest rate risk arising from variable financing and  

investments. 
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If the interest rates as of December 31, 2015 had been higher or lower by ten basis points (i. e. 0.1 %), 

assuming that all other variables remained constant, the profit for the year would have increased or 

decreased for the whole year as follows: 

  

  Change in interest rate
Impact on profit for the year and equity in 

thousands of EUR 

    2015 2014 

Financial assets with variable interests +/- 0.1 % +/- 64 +/- 230 

Financial liabilities with variable interests +/- 0.1 % -/+ 177 -/+ 156 
  

 

Hedge of a net investment 

As of December 31, 2015, a liability of thous. EUR 6,859 (December 31, 2014: thous. EUR 5,595) quoted 

in Malaysian Ringgit existed and was designated as the hedge of a net investment in the Malaysian 

subsidiary Firgos (Malaysia) SDN BHD. This liability was used to hedge the Group’s exposure to for-

eign exchange risk on this net investment. Gains and losses on the translation of this liability were as 

of the balance sheet date of 2015 directly transferred to the Group’s equity to offset any gains or losses 

on translation of the net investment in the subsidiary. There was no ineffectiveness regarding this 

hedge as of December 31, 2015. The hedge relationship ceased as of December 31, 2015.  

As of the balance sheet date of the previous year, there was beside the option liability quoted in Ma-

laysian Ringgit, a liability quoted in Vietnamese Dong at thous. EUR 3,290, which was paid in August 

2015. This liability was designated to hedge the Group’s exposure to foreign exchange risk on the net 

investments in the Vietnamese subsidiary MM Packaging Vidon Limited Liability Company. There was 

no ineffectiveness regarding this liability until the repayment date. In the financial year 2014, the effec-

tiveness of the hedge transactions has not been met, which resulted in losses from the translation of 

these liabilities in an amount of thous. EUR 753 recognized in other financial result – net. As of  

December 31, 2014, the hedging transaction of liabilities quoted in Malaysian Ringgit and Vietnamese 

Dong was newly designated to hedge the exchange rate risk of the Group from the net investment in 

Firgos (Malaysia) SDN BHD as well as in MM Packaging Vidon Limited Liability Company (Vietnam). 
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d ––– Capital management 

Capital employed includes the equity of the Group and interest-bearing financial liabilities less cash 

and cash equivalents.  

Capital management aims at ensuring an equity to total assets ratio that is appropriate for the long-term 

economic development of the Group by taking into consideration a continuous dividend policy and 

capital measures of the shareholders. 

Equity and total assets as of December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 amounted to: 

  

(in thousands of EUR) Dec. 31, 2015 Dec. 31, 2014 

Total equity 1,144,155 1,102,168 

Total assets 1,900,322 1,787,011 

Total equity to total assets 60.2 % 61.7 %
  

 

The aim of capital management for a total equity to total assets ratio in the range of 50 % to 70 % re-

mains unchanged in comparison to the previous year. The Company fulfills the legal and statutory 

minimum capital requirements. The Mayr-Melnhof AG is subject to the minimum capital requirements 

of the Austrian Stock Corporation Act. The articles of association do not stipulate capital requirements. 

 

e ––– Measurement at fair value 

The amounts of financial assets which are recorded in the consolidated balance sheet under the posi-

tion “Prepaid expenses, securities and other current assets” as well as of financial liabilities recorded in 

the consolidated balance sheet under the position “Deferred income and other current liabilities” 

which are recognized at their fair value are as follows: 

  

  Level 2 

(in thousands of EUR) Dec. 31, 2015 Dec. 31, 2014 

Financial assets:     

Derivative financial instruments 1,325 1,264 

Financial liabilities:     

Derivative financial instruments 1,100 970 
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Measurement methods  

The Group applies the following hierarchy to determine the measurement method and to identify the 

fair value of financial instruments, depending on the availability of information about market prices: 

 

Availability of information, sorted by level Measurement method used 

Level 2 – Quoted market prices for identical instruments are not 
available, but all necessary measurement inputs can be 
derived from active markets 

Measurement based on measurement method using directly or 
indirectly observable market data 

 

 

The fair value of foreign exchange rate forward contracts (Level 2 measurement) is determined on the 

basis of spot prices as of the balance sheet date, taking into account forward premiums or discounts 

with relevant maturity. 

 

In general, there are also financial instruments measured at fair value based on the prices quoted on 

active markets ( Level 1 measurement) or using parameters for which no observable market data exists 

(Level 3 measurement). There are currently no such financial instruments for which this measurement 

method would be applicable in the Group. 

 

f ––– Measurement at amortized cost 

The amounts reported in the consolidated balance sheets for trade receivables, held-to-maturity secu-

rities measured at amortized cost, cash and cash equivalents, share purchase price and option liabili-

ties, and other financial liabilities represent a proper approximation to the fair value.  

Other financial assets classified as “Available-for-sale financial assets“ include as of December 31, 2015, 

investments in unconsolidated companies in the amount of thous. EUR 1,699 (December 31, 2014: 

thous. EUR 1,699). There is no active market for these investments. As the related future cash flows 

cannot be reliably determined, the market value based on valuation models is not measurable. There-

fore, the investments in the respective companies are recognized at amortized cost. In general, there is 

no intention to sell these equity shares. No derecognition or significant valuation results were recorded. 
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6 ––– SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE CONSOLIDATED COMPANIES 

a ––– Changes in 2015 

Acquisitions 

In October 2015, the division MM Packaging acquired 100 % of the shares and voting rights in  

Alliora SAS (renamed to MMP Premium SAS) as well as its 100 % subsidiary Packetis SAS (renamed to 

MMP Packetis SAS) in France. The company produces folding cartons for the pharmaceutical industry 

as well as for luxury and cosmetic products. The aim of this acquisition is to increase the exploitation 

of these markets.  

The acquisition costs for the purchase amount preliminary to thous. EUR 86,123. Thereof  

thous. EUR 85,488 were paid out as of the closing date and the remaining amount of thous. EUR 635 

was recognized as a liability. Contracting parties are obliged to reach a final settlement based on the 

working capital as well as the net debt of the acquired sites as of the closing date, which can result in 

a minor purchase price adjustment. Inclusion into the Group and division was effected on  

October 30, 2015. Preliminarily fair values of the acquired assets and liabilities according to IFRS at the 

acquisition date were presented as follows: 

Fair values according to IFRS (preliminary) 
  

(in thousands of EUR) Oct. 30, 2015 

Property, plant and equipment 40,643 

Intangible assets 8,139 

Deferred tax assets 1,589 

Inventories 12,288 

Trade receivables 26,913 

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 2,693 

Cash and cash equivalents 9,404 

Interest-bearing financial liabilities (5,512) 

Deferred tax liabilities (8,390) 

Other non-current liabilities (3,779) 

Trade liabilities (17,959) 

Other current liabilities (13,291) 

Goodwill 33,385 

Net assets 86,123 
  

 

Trade receivables comprise gross contractual receivables amounting to thous. EUR 27,852, of which 

thous. EUR 939 are estimated as presumably irrecoverable, resulting in a fair value of thous. EUR 26,913. 

In case of tax receivables as well as other receivables the fair value of thous. EUR 1,817 corresponds to 

the gross amount. 
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Due to the short-term nature of the receivables, the Group assumes that the future cash flows corre-

spond to the fair value. 

The remaining goodwill of thous. EUR 33,385 essentially reflects expected synergies achieved by 

portfolio expansion, new business and network effects of the acquired sites. Recognized goodwill is 

not deductible for tax purposes. 

Additionally, service contracts were concluded with the seller at arm’s length conditions, however 

these are not part of the acquisition. 

The acquisition-related costs of thous. EUR 454 were recorded as expense in the financial year and 

reported under administrative expenses in the consolidated income statement.  

Sales and profit before tax for the time the business belonged to the Group and division in the financial 

year 2015 amounted to thous. EUR 17,884 and thous. EUR -570. Profit before tax was reduced by a 

non-recurring effect in amount of thous. EUR 1,557, which results from the valuation of inventory per-

formed in the course of purchase price allocation and was recognized in the months November and 

December as cost of sales and selling and distribution expenses. If the acquisition had been concluded 

as of January 1, 2015, MMP Premium SAS and its 100 % subsidiary MMP Packetis SAS could have 

contributed thous. EUR 122,079 to the Group’s sales and thous. EUR 1,251 to the Group’s profit before 

tax.  

The purchase price allocation has not been finalized yet due to the acquisition effected close to the 

balance sheet date, because the valuation and the final settlement with the seller have not been fully 

completed. 

Acquisition of shares 

By December 31, 2015, the division MM Packaging acquired additional shares in Al-Ekbal Printing &  

Packaging Co., Amman, Jordan for thous. EUR 244, so that its interest increased from 84.32 % as of  

December 31, 2014 to 86.81 %. 

By December 31, 2015, the division MM Packaging acquired additional shares of Mayr-Melnhof  

Printing and Packaging Tehran Company, Private Joint Stock, Tehran, Iran for thous. EUR 250, so that 

its interest increased from 96.75 % as of December 31, 2014 to 99.29 %. 
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Formations 

In January 2015, the division MM Karton founded the sales office MM Karton Turkey Ticaret Limited 

Sirketi, located in Istanbul, Turkey. 

Restructurings 

In May 2015, MM Graphia Dortmund GmbH, located in Dortmund, Germany, was merged with  

MM Graphia Bielefeld GmbH, located in Bielefeld, Germany. This merger has no impact on the Group’s 

financial situation and profitability. 

Other changes 

In August 2015, the division MM Packaging settled the outstanding contingent share purchase price 

liability related to the acquisition of MM Packaging Vidon Limited Liability Company, Ho Chi Minh 

City, Vietnam, in the amount of thous. VND 85,929,266 (equivalent to thous. EUR 3,532). The interest in 

the company remains unchanged at 65.10 %. 

At the end of 2015, the division MM Packaging has ceased the production at the Austrian site  

Gunskirchen and integrated it into the bigger site of Mayr-Melnhof Packaging Austria GmbH in  

Vienna. The restructuring expenses booked until December 31, 2015 amounted to thous. EUR 3,237. 

At the end of 2015, the division MM Packaging ceased the production at the site MM Packaging  

Malaysia SDN. BHD., Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, thus the production will be integrated into the Vietnam-

ese site in Ho Chi Minh City. The company continues to exist legally. 

 

 



 

 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 MAYR-MELNHOF KARTON AG, ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2015  76 

b ––– Changes in 2014 

Acquisition (of shares) 

In September 2014, the division MM Packaging increased its majority interest in the Malaysian folding 

carton producer MM Packaging Malysia SND. BHD., located in Kuala Lumpur, to 100 % for a price of 

thous. EUR 300. The valuation of the underlying option liability resulted in an expense of  

thous. EUR 300 in 2014, which was recognized in other financial result – net.  

 

By December 31, 2014, the division MM Packaging had acquired 2.46 % of shares in Al-Ekbal Printing & 

Packaging Co., Amman, Jordan, at a purchase price of thous. EUR 153, so that the interest increased from 

81.86 % as of December 31, 2013 to 84.32 %.  

 

Disposals (of shares) 

In September 2014, the interest of the division MM Karton in Syn-Group Unternehmensberatung GmbH, 

Vienna, was reduced through restructuring from 38 % to approximately 1.2 %. As a consequence, the 

following deconsolidation resulted in an insignificant disposal of assets and liabilities. The deconsolida-

tion resulted in a gain of thous. EUR 172, of which thous. EUR 169 is attributed to the revaluation of the 

remaining share. In November 2014, as a further step, the division MM Karton disposed its share in  

Syn-Group Unternehmensberatung GmbH for the purchase price of thous. EUR 169. 

 

In the financial year 2014, shares in free-com solutions GmbH (former free-com internet services GmbH), 

Vienna, were disposed at a purchase price of thous. EUR 109. Thus the interest changed from 64.33 % as 

of December 31, 2013 to 51 %. The inclusion into the Group remains unchanged. 

 

Restructurings 

In May 2014, Mayr-Melnhof Holdings B.V, Eerbeek, Netherlands, was merged with Mayr-Melnhof 

Packaging International GmbH, Vienna, and Mayr-Melnhof Holdings 2 B.V, Eerbeek, Netherlands, was 

merged with Mayr-Melnhof Cartonboard International GmbH, Vienna. 

In October 2014, Ernst Schausberger & Co Gesellschaft m.b.H., Gunskirchen was merged with  

Mayr-Melnhof Packaging Austria GmbH, Vienna. 

The mentioned restructurings have no impact on the asset, financial and profit position of the Group. 
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Other changes 

In July 2014, the division MM Karton settled the outstanding contingent consideration related to  

MM Karton FollaCell AS, Verran, Norway, acquired in July 2013, in the amount of thous. NOK 10,000 by a 

payment of the same amount (equivalent to thous. EUR 1,195).  

 

In August 2014, the division MM Packaging provided a payment of the fixed amount for the remaining 

share of 25 % in the German folding carton producer C.P. Schmidt Verpackungs-Werk GmbH & Co. KG 

(renamed to C.P. Schmidt GmbH) as well as in C.P. Schmidt Verpackungs-Werk Beteiligungsgesellschaft 

mbH, both located in Kaiserslautern, Germany. The purchase price consists of a fixed amount of  

thous. EUR 12,875 as well as an amount of thous. EUR 1,146 depending on the result of 2014. This result-

ed in an expense in an amount of thous. EUR 928, which was recognized in the position other financial 

result – net. 

 

In October 2013, the division MM Packaging acquired the Colombian folding carton producer  

Gráficas Los Andes S.A.S., located in Santiago de Cali, in form of an asset deal which included a contin-

gent consideration with maturity in 2015. In 2014, the purchaser and the seller reached an agreement on 

the premature settlement of the outstanding liability. This resulted in a gain of thous. EUR 3,579 recog-

nized in other financial result – net.  

 

In 2014, the companies MM Graphia GmbH, Bielefeld, Germany, and MM Guang Zhou Yue Ran Paper  

Co. Ltd., Guangzhou, China, were included into the Group for the first time by commencement of their 

business activities. 

 

 

c ––– Transactions with non-controlling (minority) interests 

Effects of the transactions with non-controlling (minority) interests on the equity 

attributable to shareholders of the Company 
  

(in thousands of EUR) 2015 2014 

Changes in the equity of the owner’s company resulting from:    

acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries (227) (252) 

disposal of interests in subsidiaries without loss of control 0 (87) 

Net effect on the  equity of the owner’s company (227) (339) 
  

 

Because of the insignificant effect of the transactions with non-controlling (minority) interests on the 

equity attributable to shareholders of the Company, these were cumulatively reported. 
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7 ––– DEVELOPMENT OF FIXED ASSETS 

a ––– Property, plant and equipment 

Development of property, plant and equipment 2015 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Lands, similar 
land rights and 

buildings 

Technical 
equipment and 

machines 

Other equipment, 
fixtures and 

fittings 
Construction in 

progress 
Property, plant 
and equipment

ACQUISITION OR MANUFACTURING COSTS:           

Balance at Jan. 1, 2015 487,989 1,412,218 151,857 53,075 2,105,139 

Effect of exchange rate changes (4,859) (11,098) (1,093) (464) (17,514) 

Changes in consolidated companies 15,589 23,167 910 977 40,643 

Additions 8,304 31,984 10,308 74,738 125,334 

Disposals (6,820) (25,202) (6,828) 0 (38,850) 

Reclassifications 22,744 67,006 2,387 (95,151) (3,014) 

Balance at Dec. 31, 2015 522,947 1,498,075 157,541 33,175 2,211,738 

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND 
IMPAIRMENT: 

          

Balance at Jan. 1, 2015 230,778 1,064,106 112,610 (79) 1,407,415 

Effect of exchange rate changes (981) (5,160) (652) 0 (6,793) 

Changes in consolidated companies 0 0 0 0 0 

Disposals (5,861) (23,306) (6,400) 0 (35,567) 

Depreciation/amortization expense for the year 13,042 63,971 11,588 0 88,601 

Impairment 624 0 0 0 624 

Reclassifications (7) (2,154) (21) 0 (2,182) 

Balance at Dec. 31, 2015 237,595 1,097,457 117,125 (79) 1,452,098 

NET BOOK VALUE:           

Net book value at Dec. 31, 2015 285,352 400,618 40,416 33,254 759,640 

Net book value at Dec. 31, 2014 257,211 348,112 39,247 53,154 697,724 
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Development of property, plant and equipment 2014 
 

(in thousands of EUR) 

Lands, similar 
land rights and 

buildings 

Technical 
equipment and 

machines 

Other equipment, 
fixtures and 

fittings 
Construction in 

progress 
Property, plant 
and equipment

ACQUISITION OR MANUFACTURING COSTS:           

Balance at Jan. 1, 2014 477,879 1,402,262 138,200 39,191 2,057,532 

Effect of exchange rate changes (9,602) (14,560) (2,838) (75) (27,075) 

Changes in consolidated companies 0 0 (593) 0 (593) 

Additions 7,604 30,621 10,175 89,941 138,341 

Disposals (400) (45,318) (10,301) (303) (56,322) 

Reclassifications 12,508 39,213 17,214 (75,679) (6,744) 

Balance at Dec. 31, 2014 487,989 1,412,218 151,857 53,075 2,105,139 

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND 
IMPAIRMENT: 

          

Balance at Jan. 1, 2014 218,916 1,076,356 98,441 (82) 1,393,631 

Effect of exchange rate changes (2,278) (7,940) (1,964) 3 (12,179) 

Changes in consolidated companies 0 0 (372) 0 (372) 

Disposals (356) (44,904) (9,971) 0 (55,231) 

Depreciation/amortization expense for the year 13,644 60,668 11,757 0 86,069 

Impairment 547 158 53 0 758 

Reclassifications 305 (20,232) 14,666 0 (5,261) 

Balance at Dec. 31, 2014 230,778 1,064,106 112,610 (79) 1,407,415 

NET BOOK VALUE:           

Net book value at Dec. 31, 2014 257,211 348,112 39,247 53,154 697,724 

Net book value at Dec. 31, 2013 258,963 325,906 39,759 39,273 663,901 
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b ––– Intangible assets including goodwill 

Development of intangible assets including goodwill 2015 
  

(in thousands of EUR) 

Concessions, 
licenses and 
similar rights Goodwill 

Other intangible 
assets 

Intangible 
assets 

including 
goodwill 

ACQUISITION OR MANUFACTURING COSTS:         

Balance at Jan. 1, 2015 52,698 86,321 24,977 163,996 

Effect of exchange rate changes (83) (1,367) (1,197) (2,647) 

Changes in consolidated companies 92 33,385 8,047 41,524 

Additions 3,573 0 0 3,573 

Disposals (953) 0 0 (953) 

Reclassifications 614 0 0 614 

Balance at Dec. 31, 2015 55,941 118,339 31,827 206,107 

ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATION AND 
IMPAIRMENT: 

        

Balance at Jan. 1, 2015 45,691 9,048 11,560 66,299 

Effect of exchange rate changes (51) 0 (904) (955) 

Changes in consolidated companies 0 0 0 0 

Disposals (952) 0 0 (952) 

Amortization expense for the year 3,554 0 2,537 6,091 

Impairment 0 0 4,236 4,236 

Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 

Balance at Dec. 31, 2015 48,242 9,048 17,429 74,719 

NET BOOK VALUE:         

Net book value at Dec. 31, 2015 7,699 109,291 14,398 131,388 

Net book value at Dec. 31, 2014 7,007 77,273 13,417 97,697 
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Development of intangible assets including goodwill 2014 
  

(in thousands of EUR) 

Concessions, 
licenses and 
similar rights Goodwill 

Other intangible 
assets 

Intangible 
assets 

including 
goodwill 

ACQUISITION OR MANUFACTURING COSTS:         

Balance at Jan. 1, 2014 49,944 86,406 25,026 161,376 

Effect of exchange rate changes (51) (85) (49) (185) 

Changes in consolidated companies (66) 0 0 (66) 

Additions 3,063 0 0 3,063 

Disposals (774) 0 0 (774) 

Reclassifications 582 0 0 582 

Balance at Dec. 31, 2014 52,698 86,321 24,977 163,996 

ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATION AND 
IMPAIRMENT: 

        

Balance at Jan. 1, 2014 43,429 9,049 7,569 60,047 

Effect of exchange rate changes (41) (1) (10) (52) 

Changes in consolidated companies (58) 0 0 (58) 

Disposals (760) 0 0 (760) 

Amortization expense for the year 3,117 0 2,532 5,649 

Impairment 0 0 1,469 1,469 

Reclassifications 4 0 0 4 

Balance at Dec. 31, 2014 45,691 9,048 11,560 66,299 

NET BOOK VALUE:         

Net book value at Dec. 31, 2014 7,007 77,273 13,417 97,697 

Net book value at Dec. 31, 2013 6,515 77,357 17,457 101,329 
  

 

In the financial year 2015, the depreciation and amortization expense recorded on “Property, plant and 

equipment” and “Intangible assets including goodwill” amounted to thous. EUR 94,692 (2014:  

thous. EUR 91,718). The amortization of the position “Intangible assets” is recorded mainly on assets 

related to customer relationships, which is included in selling and distribution expenses. 

There was no pledge right implied on the Group’s property to secure the liabilities.  

In the financial year 2015, other intangible assets and property, plant and equipment were impaired in 

an amount of thous. EUR 4,860 (2014: thous. EUR 2,227). The impairment is in particular related to the 

production locations MM Packaging Vidon Limited Liability Company in Vietnam and MM Packaging 

Colombia S.A.S in Columbia, resulting from a decrease in sales with individual customers. The impair-

ment is primarily recognized under selling and distribution expenses of the division MM Packaging. 
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The impairment in the previous year was, on the one hand, related to the business activities of  

MM Packaging in Tunisia, particularly as a result of the shutdown of a small operating part of  

TEC MMP SARL, and, on the other hand, to the production location R + S Stanzformen GmbH in  

Germany, which resulted in particular from the competition situation in production of die cutting 

forms. This impairment was recognized under cost of goods sold of the division MM Packaging. 

 

8 ––– SECURITIES AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 

The carrying amounts of securities and other financial assets consist of: 

  

(in thousands of EUR) Dec. 31, 2015 Dec. 31, 2014 

Long-term securities 2,549 4,146 

Other investments 1,699 1,699 

Liability insurance not pledged to beneficiaries 1,573 1,835 

Securities and other financial assets 5,821 7,680 
  

 

The short-term and long-term securities of the Group comprise debt securities and other fixed-interest 

bearing securities with a book value of thous. EUR 3,356 (December 31, 2014: thous. EUR 4,146).  
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9 ––– INCOME TAXES 

a ––– Deferred taxes recognized in the balance sheet 

Deferred taxes due to temporary differences and tax loss carryforwards recognized in the balance 

sheet as of the balance sheet dates are as follows: 

  

(in thousands of EUR) Dec. 31, 2015 Dec. 31, 2014 

Intangible assets 3,869 3,453 

Property, plant and equipment 5,357 5,566 

Inventories 5,709 4,520 

Defined benefit plans and other liabilities and charges 20,269 19,519 

Loans receivable, investments and financial assets 2,043 2,505 

Loss carryforwards 18,256 12,620 

Other 4,052 1,677 

Gross deferred tax assets 59,555 49,860 

Unrecognized deferred tax assets (10,968) (15,803) 

Net deferred tax assets 48,587 34,057 

Offset (17,339) (10,818) 

Deferred tax assets in the balance sheet 31,248 23,239 

Intangible assets (6,377) (4,354) 

Property, plant and equipment (14,811) (7,097) 

Inventories (847) (580) 

Defined benefit plans and other liabilities and charges (1,713) (2,137) 

Loans receivable, investments and financial assets (4,133) (4,824) 

Other (9,113) (4,162) 

Net deferred tax liabilities (36,994) (23,154) 

Offset 17,339 10,818 

Deferred tax liabilities in the balance sheet (19,655) (12,336) 
  

 

The unrecognized deferred tax assets in the amount of thous. EUR 10,968 (December 31, 2014:  

thous. EUR 15,803) comprises thous. EUR 10,301 (December 31, 2014: thous. EUR 7,720) of unrecog-

nized loss carryforwards. 
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The following table shows the expected realization of deferred tax assets and liabilities: 

  

(in thousands of EUR) Dec. 31, 2015 Dec. 31, 2014 

Deferred tax assets, realized within 12 months 10,201 7,039 

Deferred tax assets, realized after 12 months 38,386 27,018 

Deferred tax assets 48,587 34,057 

      

Deferred tax liabilities, realized within 12 months (7,188) (5,282) 

Deferred tax liabilities, realized after 12 months (29,806) (17,872) 

Deferred tax liabilities (36,994) (23,154) 
  

 

Deferred tax liabilities which result from the difference between the tax carrying amount of invest-

ments in subsidiaries and the pro-rata equity (Outside-Basis-Differences) were not recognized for 

certain subsidiaries, as a distribution of these retained earnings is not intended due to reinvestment of 

the respective profits or because they will remain tax-free in the foreseeable future. These retained 

earnings amounted to thous. EUR 872,258 at December 31, 2015 (December 31, 2014:  

thous. EUR 745,095). For retained earnings which are provided for distribution the valuation of deferred 

tax liabilities was adjusted according to the applicable capital gains and withholding taxes on profit 

distribution. 

 

b ––– Tax loss carryforwards 

An overview of the Group’s tax loss carryforwards as of the respective balance sheet dates is as follows: 

  

(in thousands of EUR) Dec. 31, 2015 Dec. 31, 2014 

Loss carryforwards with expiration 4,327 7,565 

Loss carryforwards without expiration 68,253 43,143 

Loss carryforwards 72,580 50,708 
  

   

(in thousands of EUR) Dec. 31, 2015 Dec. 31, 2014 

Recognized loss carryforwards 31,262 20,347 

Unrecognized loss carryforwards 41,318 30,361 

Loss carryforwards 72,580 50,708 
  

 

The time-limited loss carryforwards expire between 2017 and 2024, unless they are utilized in the 

meantime. 



 

 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 MAYR-MELNHOF KARTON AG, ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2015  85 

The assessment of the recognition of loss carryforwards led to the result that for thous. EUR 31,262 

(December 31, 2014: thous. EUR 20,347), deferred tax assets amounting to thous. EUR 7,955 

(December 31, 2014: thous. EUR 4,900) were recognized. For the remaining amount of  

thous. EUR 41,318 (December 31, 2014: thous. EUR 30,361), deferred tax assets amounting to  

thous. EUR 10,301 (December 31, 2014: thous. EUR 7,720) were not recorded in the balance sheet. The 

expiry dates of this unrecognized loss carryforwards are as follows: 

  

(in thousands of EUR) 
Year ended  

Dec. 31, 2015 
Year ended  

Dec. 31, 2014 

1 year 0 0 

2 years 113 0 

3 years 82 0 

4 years 111 34 

5 years 0 74 

More than 5 years 98 0 

No expiration 40,914 30,253 

Unrecognized loss carryforwards 41,318 30,361 
  

 

c ––– “Income tax expense” recognized in the income statement 

The position “Income tax expense” is comprised as follows: 

  

(in thousands of EUR) 
Year ended  

Dec. 31, 2015 
Year ended  

Dec. 31, 2014 

Current taxes:     

Current period 53,445 45,047 

Due to utilization of previously unrecognized loss carryforwards (1,056) (104) 

Prior periods (596) (1,265) 

Deferred taxes:     

Due to temporary differences 507 (1,700) 

Due to tax loss carryforwards of the current period (604) (653) 

Due to utilization of recognized loss carryforwards 562 121 

Due to tax loss carryforwards of previous periods (1,684) (1,534) 

Due to change of allowances (2,368) (511) 

Due to tax rate changes 270 40 

Income tax expense 48,476 39,441 
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d ––– Tax effects on “Other comprehensive income” 

The amount of income taxes recognized in other comprehensive income is based on actuarial gains 

from defined benefit plans booked in 2015 in an amount of thous. EUR 4,515 (2014: losses amount of 

thous. EUR 23,241). Taking into consideration the recognition of previously adjusted deferred tax as-

sets, a positive amount of thous. EUR 4,165 (2014: thous. EUR 2,725) was recognized for the financial 

year 2015. Therefore, actuarial gains from defined benefit plans after tax amounted to  

thous. EUR 8,680 (2014: losses thous. EUR 20,516). 

 

 

e ––– Group tax rate 

Reconciliation from the applicable tax rate which results from the geographical allocation of income 

and the current nominal tax rates of the respective tax jurisdictions to the effective tax rate, which 

burdens the profit before tax, is as follows: 

  

(in %) 
Year ended  

Dec. 31, 2015 
Year ended  

Dec. 31, 2014 

Applicable tax rate 25.18 % 23.36 % 

Non-deductible expenses and tax-free income (1.57 %) (1.56 %) 

Tax effect from unrecognized loss carryforwards of the financial year 1.92 % 0.64 % 

Tax effect from the recognition of loss carryforwards of previous years (0.88 %) (0.88 %) 

Tax effect from utilization of unrecognized loss carryforwards (0.55 %) (0.06 %) 

Tax effect from change of deferred tax assets allowances (1.25 %) 0.91 % 

Tax effect from capital gains and withholding tax 0.12 % 1.68 % 

Tax effect from tax rate changes 0.14 % 0.02 % 

Tax effect from previous years 2.38 % (1.05 %) 

Other effects (0.06 %) 0.00 % 

Effective tax rate 25.43 % 23.06 % 
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10 ––– INVENTORIES 

  

(in thousands of EUR) Dec. 31, 2015 Dec. 31, 2014 

Raw materials, manufacturing and operating supplies 170,203 157,884 

Work in process 24,632 23,188 

Finished goods and goods for resale 148,597 121,853 

Total 343,432 302,925 

Write-downs (23,012) (19,904) 

Inventories – net 320,420 283,021 
  

 

As of December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the write-downs recorded on inventories were most-

ly caused by time-based discounts on operating supplies for technical equipment and machines. 

In financial year 2015, write-downs of inventories recognized as an expense amounted to 

thous. EUR 7,788 (2014: thous. EUR 7,850), the reversal of write-downs as a result of changes in prices 

of inventories recognized as income amounted to thous. EUR 460 (2014: thous. EUR 637) both under 

cost of goods sold. The carrying amount of inventories carried at net realizable value amounted to 

thous. EUR 28,083 (2014: thous. EUR 35,484). 

Cost of materials and purchased services can be broken down as follows: 

  

(in thousands of EUR) 
Year ended  

Dec. 31, 2015 
Year ended  

Dec. 31, 2014 

Cost of materials 1,234,831 1,170,019 

Cost of purchased services 24,780 21,958 

Total 1,259,611 1,191,977 
  

 

11 ––– TRADE RECEIVABLES 

  

(in thousands of EUR) Dec. 31, 2015 Dec. 31, 2014 

Trade receivables 341,179 302,123 

Allowances (1,972) (961) 

Trade receivables – net 339,207 301,162 
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At December 31, 2015, the aging of trade receivables overdue but not impaired is as follows: 

  

(in thousands of EUR) Dec. 31, 2015 Dec. 31, 2014 

up to 30 days overdue 6,176 10,301 

31−60 days overdue 1,340 3,163 

61−365 days overdue 1,802 2,124 

more than 365 days overdue 133 74 

Total of trade receivables overdue but not impaired 9,451 15,662 
  

 

For an explanation of the criteria which were considered for the determination of the allowances 

please refer to the remarks on credit and default risk (note 5).  

Allowances for trade receivables developed as follows: 

  

(in thousands of EUR) 2015 2014 

Allowances at the beginning of the year 961 1,143 

Effect of exchange rate changes 7 10 

Changes in consolidated companies 938 0 

Utilization (77) (255) 

Reversal (386) (176) 

Increase 529 239 

Allowances at the end of the year 1,972 961 
  

 

12 ––– PREPAID EXPENSES, SECURITIES AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 

Prepaid expenses, securities and other current assets are as follows: 

  

(in thousands of EUR) Dec. 31, 2015 Dec. 31, 2014 

Value-added tax receivables 18,402 19,798 

Other tax receivables 6,568 5,967 

Payments on account 1,394 2,394 

Other receivables and other assets 14,377 11,604 

Prepaid expenses 5,893 5,655 

Prepaid expenses, securities and other current assets 46,634 45,418 
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13 ––– EQUITY 

a ––– Share capital/additional paid-in capital 

The share capital of the Company amounts to thous. EUR 80,000 and comprises 20,000,000 approved 

and issued no-par value shares. 

Additional paid-in capital derives from the share premium raised at the capital increase in the course 

of the initial public offer in 1994 and the cancelation of treasury shares less the increase of share capi-

tal by conversion of additional paid-in capital in 2008 and 2010, representing the amount of the tied 

capital reserve.  

 

b ––– Retained earnings/dividend 

Retained earnings comprise accumulated results from prior years. 

Due to the change of majority interests, a residual amount of thous. EUR 227 was recognized directly 

in equity in the financial year 2015, which decreased the retained earnings (2014: thous. EUR 373). 

Under Austrian Corporate Law, the amount of dividend available for distribution to shareholders is 

based on the unappropriated retained earnings of Mayr-Melnhof Karton AG, determined in accordance 

with the Austrian Commercial Code. At December 31, 2015, the distributable unappropriated retained 

earnings amounted to thous. EUR 28,000 (December 31, 2014: thous. EUR 60,000). 

Extract from the individual financial statements of Mayr-Melnhof Karton AG 
  

(in thousands of EUR) 2015 2014 

Unappropriated retained earnings at Jan. 1 60,000 100,000 

Net profit of the Company for the year ended Dec. 31 86,821 44,586 

Changes in reserves (34,821) 11,414 

Dividend1) (84,000) (96,000) 

Unappropriated retained earnings at Dec. 31 28,000 60,000 
  

1) incl. interim dividend 2015 of thous. EUR 32,000 

For the year ended December 31, 2015, the Management Board of the Company has proposed a divi-

dend of EUR 1.20 (2014: EUR 2.60) per voting share as of the balance sheet date, amounting to  

thous. EUR 24,000 (December 31, 2014: thous. EUR 52,000). In addition to the interim dividend of  

EUR 1.60 per share, in total thous. EUR 32,000 as of the balance sheet date, already paid out in  

November 2015, this results in a total dividend of thous. EUR 56,000, equivalent to EUR 2.80 per share, 

for the financial year 2015. 
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c ––– Non-controlling (minority) interests 

The summarized information about the subsidiaries in which the Group holds non-controlling (minori-

ty) interests is stated below. The disclosures correspond to the amounts before intra-group elimina-

tions. Further information about these subsidiaries can be found in note 32. 

   
  Dec. 31, 2015 Dec. 31, 2014 

(in thousands EUR) MM Karton MM Packaging MM Karton MM Packaging

Non-current assets 5,336 44,880 6,312 44,090 

Current assets  9,188 29,976 9,975 28,692 

Non-current liabilities  877 17,265 1,644 19,725 

Current liabilities  7,646 9,471 4,830 6,889 

Net assets 6,001 48,120 9,813 46,168 

Carrying amount of the non-controlling (minority) 
interests 1,741 6,864 3,330 7,251 

          

  
Year ended  

Dec. 31, 2015 
Year ended  

Dec. 31, 2014 

Sales 38,034 47,864 35,912 55,064 

Profit for the year 2,667 3,174 1,799 4,907 

Thereof attributable to non-controlling (minority) 
interests 1,064 (470) 632 90 

          

Total comprehensive income 1,837 5,408 2,228 4,377 

Thereof attributable to non-controlling (minority) 
interests 746 131 770 581 

          

Dividend paid to non-controlling (minority) interests 2,335 251 775 384 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 2,016 3,942 586 (7,524) 
  

 

 

d ––– Other comprehensive income of the consolidated comprehensive income 
statement 

Other reserves comprise certain changes directly recognized in equity. These are in particular differ-

ences arising from foreign currency translation as well as actuarial gains and losses arising from the 

defined benefit pension and severance obligations, the latter after considering deferred income taxes. 

In 2015, profit and loss recognized in other comprehensive income consisted of foreign currency trans-

lations with a negative amount of thous. EUR 21,757 (2014: negative amount of thous. EUR 23,509) as 

well as actuarial gains in the amount of thous. EUR 4,515 (2014: losses of thous. EUR 23,241). Taking 

into consideration the recognition of previously adjusted deferred tax assets, a positive amount of 

thous. EUR 4,165 (2014: thous. EUR 2,725) was recognized for the financial year 2015. 
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14 ––– FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

a ––– Interest-bearing financial liabilities 

At December 31, 2015, the Group had current interest-bearing loan facilities available in the amount of 

thous. EUR 22,578 (December 31, 2014: thous. EUR 36,419), of which thous. EUR 6,270 

(December 31, 2014: thous. EUR 4,538) were used as of the balance sheet date. At December 31, 2015, 

the weighted average interest rate of these current credit lines, used by subsidiaries outside the Euro 

participating countries, was 7.348 % (December 31, 2014: 7.174 %). These credit line facilities are sub-

ject to normal banking terms and conditions. 

At December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, interest-bearing financial liabilities comprised liabilities 

against banks and insurance companies. A summary of these financial liabilities at current interest 

rates is as follows: 

 

(in thousands of EUR) Dec. 31, 2015 

0.790 % EUR loan(s) due 2016 69,450 

1.459 % EUR loan(s) due 2018 20,000 

0.958 % EUR loan(s) due 2019 20,000 

0.958 % EUR loan(s) due 2022 20,000 

1.912 % EUR loan(s) due 2024 80,000 

0.958 % EUR loan(s) due 2025 20,000 

2.670 % EUR loan(s) due 2026 50,000 

7.223 % COP loan(s) due 2016-2017 1,228 

5.750 % MYR loan(s) due 2016 639 

5.395 % Other 229 

Used credit lines 6,270 

Interest-bearing financial liabilities 287,816 

Thereof current interest-bearing financial liabilities 77,743 

Thereof non-current interest-bearing financial liabilities 210,073 
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(in thousands of EUR) Dec. 31, 2014 

1.071 % EUR loan(s) due 2015 102,723 

1.411 % EUR loan(s) due 2016 44,000 

2.230 % EUR loan(s) due 2024 60,000 

2.670 % EUR loan(s) due 2026 50,000 

8.895 % COP loan(s) due 2015-2017 2,758 

5.750 % MYR loan(s) due 2015-2016 1,412 

5.396 % Other 480 

Used credit lines 4,538 

Interest-bearing financial liabilities 265,911 

Thereof current interest-bearing financial liabilities 109,187 

Thereof non-current interest-bearing financial liabilities 156,724 
 

 

At December 31, 2015, the weighted average interest rate for these financial liabilities was 1.695 % 

(December 31, 2014: 1.907 %). 

Of the interest-bearing financial liabilities, loans in the amount of thous. EUR 110,868 (December 31, 2014: 

thous. EUR 111,412) are subject to a fixed interest rate. 

No collateral was provided in order to secure the financial liabilities described above. At  

December 31, 2015, the Group had unused credit lines available in the amount of thous. EUR 390,000 

(December 31, 2014: thous. EUR 430,000). 

As of December 31, 2015, the short-term revolving credits in an amount of thous. EUR 45,450 

(December 31, 2014: thous. EUR 44,350) are included in the interest-bearing financial liabilities. 
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b ––– Finance lease liabilities 

At the balance sheet dates, the future minimum lease payments under finance non-cancellable lease 

obligations, due on December 31 of the following years, were as follows:  

  

(in thousands of EUR) Dec. 31, 2015 Dec. 31, 2014 

2016 (2015) 1,859 0 

2017 (2016) 1,866 0 

2018 (2017) 809 0 

2019 (2018) 510 0 

2020 (2019) 501 0 

Thereafter 254 0 

Total future minimum lease payments 5,799 0 

Less amount representing interest 324 0 

Present value of minimum lease payments 5,475 0 

There of current finance lease liabilities 1,703 0 

There of non-current finance lease liabilities 3,772 0 
  

 

At December 31, 2015, the Group had capitalized assets from finance lease agreements with the  

following book values: land and buildings thous. EUR 3,340 as well as technical equipment and ma-

chines thous. EUR 4,546. These tangible assets and the above mentioned finance lease liabilities were 

almost entirely taken over in the course of the acquisition of a French folding carton group (see note 6). 
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c ––– Operating lease 

At the balance sheet dates, the future minimum lease payments under operating non-cancellable lease 

obligations, due on December 31 of the following years, were as follows:  

  

(in thousands of EUR) Dec. 31, 2015 Dec. 31, 2014 

2016 (2015) 10,276 9,749 

2017 (2016) 9,276 9,075 

2018 (2017) 8,980 8,730 

2019 (2018) 8,656 8,589 

2020 (2019) 8,612 8,534 

Thereafter 25,286 21,492 

Total future minimum lease payments 71,086 66,169 
  

 

The Group especially rents and leases buildings, land, warehouses, offices, and other facilities. In the 

financial year 2015, the expenses relating to operating lease agreements amounted to  

thous. EUR 11,147 (2014: thous. EUR 11,553), thereof thous. EUR 2,906 (2014: thous. EUR 3,072) are 

attributable to contingent lease and rental payments. 
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15   ––– PROVISIONS FOR NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES AND CHARGES 

a ––– Development of provisions for non-current liabilities and charges 

In 2015, the provisions for non-current liabilities and charges developed as follows: 

    

(in thousands of EUR) Pensions Severance 
Anniversary 

bonuses 
Pre-retirement 

programs Other Total 

Balance at Jan. 1, 2015 83,065 28,912 7,663 1,144 427 121,211 

Effect of exchange rate changes 773 (102) 0 0 0 671 

Changes in consolidated companies 0 3,700 79 0 0 3,779 

Utilization (4,200) (4,510) (930) (437) 0 (10,077) 

Reversal 0 0 (112) 0 0 (112) 

Increase 3,485 2,641 2,275 609 1 9,011 

IAS 19 remeasurements through other 
comprehensive income (4,386) (150) 0 0 0 (4,536) 

Benefit payments from and 
contributions to plan assets (1,853) 0 0 0 0 (1,853) 

Balance at Dec. 31, 2015 76,884 30,491 8,975 1,316 428 118,094 
   

 

In 2014, the provisions for non-current liabilities and charges developed as follows: 

   

(in thousands of EUR) Pensions Severance 
Anniversary 

bonuses 
Pre-retirement 

programs Other Total 

Balance at Jan. 1, 2014 65,399 24,374 7,422 1,236 636 99,067 

Effect of exchange rate changes 747 51 0 0 0 798 

Changes in consolidated companies 0 (123) 0 0 0 (123) 

Utilization (3,899) (2,639) (585) (515) 0 (7,638) 

Reversal 0 0 (22) (9) 0 (31) 

Increase 3,678 2,150 848 432 1 7,109 

Reclassification 0 788 0 0 (210) 578 

IAS 19 remeasurements through other 
comprehensive income 18,930 4,311 0 0 0 23,241 

Benefit payments from and 
contributions to plan assets (1,790) 0 0 0 0 (1,790) 

Balance at Dec. 31, 2014 83,065 28,912 7,663 1,144 427 121,211 
   

 

As of December 31, 2015, securities with an estimated fair value of thous. EUR 1,557 

(December 31, 2014: thous. EUR 1,591) had been provided as security for provisions for pre-retirement 

programs within the scope of the respective legal commitments. At December 31, 2015 and 2014, 

those securities were deducted from the underlying obligations. 
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The position “Other” includes in particular the part of provisions for benefits due to the termination of 

employment which will become due after one year. 

 

b ––– Provisions for pensions and severance payments 

The majority of the Group’s employees are covered by government-sponsored pension and welfare 

programs, whereas the Group makes periodic payments to various government agencies, which are 

expensed as incurred. In addition, the Group provides certain employees with additional retirement 

benefits through the sponsorship of defined contribution plans and defined benefit plans. The benefits 

provided by the Group depend on the legal, fiscal, and economic circumstances of each particular 

country and are primarily based on the length of service and the employee’s compensation.  

Under the defined contribution plans, the Group makes fixed payments to external pension funds. 

Once the contributions are made, the Group does not have any further payment obligations towards 

the employees. These periodical contribution payments are recognized as part of the annual pension 

and severance costs and amounted to thous. EUR 4,728 in financial year 2015 (2014: thous. EUR 4,045). 

Defined benefit obligations in the Group consist of pensions and severances. These obligations exist in 

several countries where the Group has employees, particularly in Germany, Austria, and Great Britain. 

The pension obligations cover the arrangement of a pension program for active employees and, after 

fulfillment of the vesting period, for former employees, including their surviving dependants. Essential-

ly, these are managers and also employees for whom a corresponding commitment originating from a 

time before the acquisition of such subsidiary was assumed by the Group. Therefore, obligations exist 

both towards employees in existing employment relationships and also towards employees who have 

left or retired. 

Expected payments under the pension plan may depend on the salary received by the employee in the 

last year of service or on the average of several years and, as a rule, are based on the length of service. 

Pension benefits are granted as a non-recurring payment or as monthly retirement payments. In case 

of retirement payments, the Group bears to the full extent the risk of longevity and inflation due to 

pension adjustments. 

The Group operates a defined benefit pension plan in Great Britain which is governed by a board of 

trustees composed of representatives of the Company and plan participants. Responsibility for invest-

ment decisions and contribution schedules lies jointly with the Company and the board of trustees. 

Obligations from severance of employees cover legal and contractual claims for non-recurring sever-

ance payments made by the Group to employees, which result from certain causes, such as termina-

tion, dissolution of an employment relationship by mutual agreement, retirement, or death of the em-

ployee. These payments significantly depend on the number of years of service and the cause of 

termination. 
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Defined benefit pension and other benefit plans are measured and recognized applying the interna-

tionally common projected unit credit method according to IAS 19. Under this method, the actuarial 

calculation of future obligations is based on the proportionate obligations as of the balance sheet date. 

The valuation was conducted based on assumptions and assessments as of the balance sheet date. 

Significant influencing factors were discount interest rate, estimated life expectancy, expected salary 

growth rate, expected pension growth rate as well as retirement age. 

Actuarial gains and losses which result from changes in the number of plan participants and from  

differences between actual trends and estimates that are the basis for calculation are recognized in 

other comprehensive income in the consolidated comprehensive income statement according to IAS 19.  

The calculation of pension and other benefit obligations is based on the following actuarial assumptions: 

 
  Dec. 31, 2015 Dec. 31, 2014 

(in %) Pensions Severance Pensions Severance 

Discount rate 2.6 % 2.6 % 2.4 % 2.4 % 

Salary growth rate 2.5 % 2.8 % 2.5 % 2.9 % 

Pension growth rate 2.3 % - 2.3 % - 
 

 

Valuation of life expectancy was performed based on local mortality tables. These are in particular for 

Austria: AVÖ 2008-P “Angestellte“ or “Gemischt” (Pagler & Pagler), for Germany: Richttafeln 2005 G 

(Prof. Dr. Klaus Heubeck), for Great Britain: Post Retirement and Pre Retirement: S2PA CMI_2014_M/F 

[1.25 %] (yob). As a rule, the retirement age corresponds to the respective country-specific legal  

regulations. 

The following expenses were recorded for defined benefit pension and severance commitments: 

  

  2015 2014 

(in thousands of EUR) Pensions Severance Pensions Severance 

Service cost 1,547 1,628 1,300 1,308 

Net interest on the net defined benefit liability 1,786 694 2,180 834 

Past service costs 0 319 0 10 

Effects due to plan changes 0 0 0 (2) 

Administration costs 152  0  198  0  

Net periodic benefit cost 3,485 2,641 3,678 2,150 
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The defined benefit obligation and plan assets developed as follows: 

  
  2015 2014 

(in thousands of EUR) Pensions Severance Pensions Severance 

Defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the year 124,256 28,912 102,483 24,374 

Effect of exchange rate changes 2,206 (102) 2,261 51 

Changes in consolidated companies 0 4,008 0 (123) 

Service cost 1,547 1,628 1,300 1,308 

Interest cost 3,059 695 3,698 834 

Past service costs 0 319 0 10 

Remeasurements (4,951) (151) 18,413 4,311 

Thereof (gains)/losses from change in demographic assumptions  
(e. g. life expectancy, retirement age) (72) 1 (127) (9) 

Thereof (gains)/losses from change in financial assumptions  
(e. g. discount rate, salary growth rate, pension growth rate) (4,206) (740) 18,137 3,679 

Thereof experience (gains)/losses (deviation between actual value 
and planned value) (673) 588 403 641 

Benefit payments (4,200) (4,510) (3,899) (2,639) 

Reclassifications 0  0  0  788  

Effects due to plan changes 0 0 0 (2) 

Defined benefit obligation at the end of the year 121,917 30,799 124,256 28,912 
  

 

   

  2015 2014 

(in thousands of EUR) Pensions Severance Pensions Severance 

Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of the year 41,191 0 37,084 0 

Effect of exchange rate changes 1,433 0 1,514 0 

Changes in consolidated companies 0 308 0 0 

Interest income 1,273 1 1,518 0 

Administrative expense (152) 0 (198) 0 

Remeasurements (565) (1) (517) 0 

Thereof return on plan assets excluding amounts included in interest 
income –net (565) (1) (517) 0 

Employer contributions 3,558  0  3,131 0 

Benefit payments from plant  (1,705) 0  (1,341) 0 

Fair value of plan assets at the end of the year 45,033 308 41,191 0 
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An overview of the geographic and divisional allocation of net periodic benefit costs for pensions and 

severance, defined benefit obligation, and the fair value of plan assets for the financial years 2015 and 

2014 is represented as follows: 

    
  2015 

  MM Karton MM Packaging 

(in thousands of EUR) Germany Austria 
Other 

countries 1) Total Germany Austria 
Other 

countries Total 

Net periodic benefit cost 659 1,788 717 3,164 1,146 1,129 687 2,962 

Defined benefit obligation at the end 
of the year 23,951 38,351 38,555 100,857 31,513 12,792 7,554 51,859 

Fair value of plan assets at the end of 
the year 851 16,560 24,628 42,039 502 2,492 308 3,302 
   
1) This primarily includes the pension plan in Great Britain. 

    

  2014 

  MM Karton MM Packaging 

(in thousands of EUR) Germany Austria 
Other 

countries 1) Total Germany Austria 
Other 

countries Total 

Net periodic benefit cost 834 1,730 663 3,227 1,307 834 460 2,601 

Defined benefit obligation at the end 
of the year 26,381 36,703 36,690 99,774 33,953 15,983 3,458 53,394 

Fair value of plan assets at the end of 
the year 984 14,000 23,401 38,385 457 2,349 0 2,806 

    
1) This primarily includes the pension plan in Great Britain. 

The employers’ contributions to plan assets for the year 2016 are expected to amount to  

thous. EUR 3,511. This includes the obligatory annual contribution for increasing plan assets and for 

other expenses in Great Britain in the amount of thous. EUR 886. 

The structure of plan assets 

In Austria and Germany, the plan assets for pension obligations are present in form of qualifying insur-

ance policies which are pledged to respective beneficiaries. The Group contributes to qualifying insur-

ance policies as required. 

Further plan assets include a pension plan in Great Britain which is assessed by external asset  

management according to directives of the responsible board of trustees. Current directives allow for 

proportionate investment of 30 % in equity instruments and of 70 % in debt instruments; minimum 

diversification is prescribed to diversify the default risk, by which the single investment value is limited 

to 2 % of the portfolio and the total value of all investments in one company is limited to 4 % of the 

portfolio. Investments in Private Equity Funds and Hedge Funds are forbidden. The objective of asset 

management is to maximize the return at an adequate level of risk; index-based benchmarks are given 

to asset management to measure the achievement of objectives. The Group is obliged to provide regu-

lar contributions to the plan assets in Great Britain based on a contribution plan over several years. 



 

 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 MAYR-MELNHOF KARTON AG, ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2015  100 

The portfolio structure of plan assets as of December 31, 2015 and of December 31, 2014: 

  

(in thousands of EUR) Dec. 31, 2015 in % Dec. 31, 2014 in % 

Equity instruments:         

– developed markets 6,623   7,728   

– emerging markets 440   684   

– other 95   94   

Total 7,158 16 % 8,506 21 % 

Debt instruments:         

– Corporate bonds 10,601   12,618   

– Government bonds 1,178   1,114   

Total 11,779 26 % 13,732 33 % 

Qualifying insurance policy pledged to 
beneficiaries 20,713 46 % 17,790 43 % 

Money market investment/Bank deposit 5,691 12 % 1,163 3 % 

Total 45,341 100 % 41,191 100 % 
  

 

All instruments in the category equity instruments and debt instruments are traded on active markets. 

Ratings of investments in debt instruments correspond at least to a rating of “BBB“. 

Plan assets market price risk 

Return on plan assets is assumed in accordance with IAS 19 using the discount rate for the underlying 

obligation. That corresponds to the return on corporate bonds with good credit rating. Provided that 

the actual return on plan assets exceeds (falls below) the discount interest rate used, net liability from 

the present plans decreases (increases). Due to the proportion of investments in equity in the plan 

assets in Great Britain, the actual return, on the one hand, may exceed the return on corporate bonds 

with good credit rating in the long term and, on the other hand, result in higher plan asset volatility in 

the short term. Related price risk is considered as manageable by the Group, as the proportion of in-

vestments in equity in total plan assets is low. Furthermore, the obligations which come to maturity in 

the upcoming years can be fulfilled from current cash flow of the Group and from remaining compo-

nents of plan assets. 

  



 

 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 MAYR-MELNHOF KARTON AG, ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2015  101 

The net liability from pension and severance obligations, and the reconciliation to the net liability 

recognized are as follows: 

   
  Dec. 31, 2015 Dec. 31, 2014 

(in thousands of EUR) Pensions Severance Pensions Severance 

Defined benefit obligation 121,917 30,799 124,256 28,912 

Thereof obligations covered by provisions 55,305 29,191 61,248 28,912 

Thereof obligations covered by funds 66,612 1,608 63,008 0 

Less fair value of plan assets (45,033) (308) (41,191) 0 

Net liability recognized as provision for non-current 
liabilities and charges 76,884 30,491 83,065 28,912 

  

 

In the years 2011 to 2015, defined benefit obligations, fair value of plan assets, net liability, and actuari-

al gains and losses based upon deviations between the underlying assumptions and actual trends 

were as follows: 

   

(in thousands of EUR) 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 

Pensions:           

Defined benefit obligation 121,917 124,256 102,483 99,640 87,362 

Adjustment in defined benefit obligation1) 673 (403) 380 (465) 674 

Fair value of plan assets 45,033 41,191 37,084 35,046 32,226 

Adjustment in fair value of plan assets1) (565) (517) (84) 523 (811) 

Net liability 76,884 83,065 65,399 64,594 55,136 
  

1) Gain/(loss) 

   

(in thousands of EUR) 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 

Severance:           

Defined benefit obligation 30,799 28,912 24,374 23,916 21,364 

Adjustment in defined benefit obligation1) (588) (641) (289) (761) (167) 

Fair value of plan assets 308 0 0 0 0 

Adjustment in fair value of plan assets1) (1) 0 0 0 0 

Net liability 30,491 28,912 24,374 23,916 21,364 
  

1) Gain/(loss) 
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The following sensitivity analysis for pension and severance provisions presents the impact a possible 

change in significant actuarial assumptions might have on the obligation. If one significant assump-

tion is changed, the remaining assumptions are kept constant.  

  
  Impact on the defined benefit obligation 2015 

(in %) Change in assumption Increase in assumption Decrease in assumption

Discount rate 0.25 % Decrease by 3.6 % Increase by 3.8 % 

Salary growth rate 0.25 % Increase by 0.9 % Decrease by 0.8 % 

Pension growth rate 0.25 % Increase by 2.4 % Decrease by 2.3 % 

        

    
Increase by one year in 

assumption   

Retirement age   Decrease by 1.6 %   

Life expectancy   Increase by 3.6 %   
  

 

   

  Impact on the defined benefit obligation 2014 

(in %) Change in assumption Increase in assumption Decrease in assumption

Discount rate 0.25 % Decrease by 3.6 % Increase by 3.8 % 

Salary growth rate 0.25 % Increase by 0.9 % Decrease by 0.8 % 

Pension growth rate 0.25 % Increase by 2.4 % Decrease by 2.3 % 

        

    
Increase by one year in 

assumption   

Retirement age   Decrease by 0.9 %   

Life expectancy   Increase by 3.7 %   
  

 

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 14.8 years as of the balance sheet 

date (December 31, 2014: 15.3 years). 
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The expected maturity analysis of defined benefit obligations for the next ten years as of  

December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 in relation to actual payments is as follows:  

   

(in thousands of EUR) 
Less than a 

year 
Between 1−2 

years 
Between 2−5 

years 
Between 5−10 

years Total 

As of Dec. 31, 2015           

Defined benefit plans 5,403 5,302 19,648 38,826 69,179 

            

As of Dec. 31, 2014           

Defined benefit plans 5,282 4,901 17,980 36,985 65,148 
   

 

16 ––– TRADE LIABILITIES 

  

(in thousands of EUR) Dec. 31, 2015 Dec. 31, 2014 

Trade liabilities 185,117 170,122 

Advances from customers 1,170 699 

Trade liabilities 186,287 170,821 
  

 

The trade liabilities as of December 31, 2015 contain the liabilities from acquisition of property, plant 

and equipment and intangible assets amounting to thous. EUR 16,492 (December 31, 2014:  

thous. EUR 19,621), which are taken into consideration by the cash flow from investing activities as 

non-cash transactions. 
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17 ––– DEFERRED INCOME AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES 

  

(in thousands of EUR) Dec. 31, 2015 Dec. 31, 2014 

Obligations for personnel and social costs 64,683 49,988 

Other tax liabilities 10,408 11,417 

Share purchase price and option liabilities 6,859 8,885 

Deferred income 2,618 2,787 

Other liabilities 12,080 10,622 

Deferred income and other current liabilities 96,648 83,699 
  

 

The mentioned share purchase price and option liabilities are related to liabilities in connection with 

shares in certain subsidiaries held by non-controlling (minority) shareholders, which are evaluated 

according to the individual contractual terms. These share purchase price and option liabilities are 

calculated as a multiple of a result-dependent component (e. g. EBITDA) of the subsidiary less potential 

net debt, respectively in the amount of the remaining share. The change of the mentioned share pur-

chase price and option liabilities is primarily attributed to the valuation and payment of the contingent 

share purchase price liability arising from the acquisition of interest in Vietnam as well as the valuation 

of the option liability attributed to the acquisition in Malaysia. 

 

Obligations for personnel and social costs include particularly unused vacations, premiums, and bo-

nuses for employees as well as other deferred personnel related obligations. 

 



 

 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 MAYR-MELNHOF KARTON AG, ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2015  105 

18 ––– PROVISIONS FOR CURRENT LIABILITIES AND CHARGES 

In the financial year 2015, provisions for current liabilities and charges developed as follows: 

 

(in thousands of EUR) 
Customer rebates 

and bonuses Sales Other provisions Total 

Balance at Jan. 1, 2015 7,235 3,889 6,816 17,940 

Effect of exchange rate changes (68) (124) 24 (168) 

Changes in consolidated companies 0 707 1,561 2,268 

Utilization (3,462) (1,702) (3,344) (8,508) 

Reversal (1,923) (820) (1,261) (4,004) 

Increase 5,839 2,024 5,928 13,791 

Balance at Dec. 31, 2015 7,621 3,974 9,724 21,319 
 

 

In the financial year 2014, provisions for current liabilities and charges developed as follows: 

  

(in thousands of EUR) 
Customer rebates 

and bonuses Sales Other provisions Total 

Balance at Jan. 1, 2014 9,298 3,963 10,005 23,266 

Effect of exchange rate changes (95) (111) (3) (209) 

Changes in consolidated companies 0 0 (320) (320) 

Utilization (4,785) (1,906) (6,928) (13,619) 

Reversal (2,293) (528) (169) (2,990) 

Increase 5,110 2,471 4,231 11,812 

Balance at Dec. 31, 2014 7,235 3,889 6,816 17,940 
  

 

Provisions for customer rebates and bonuses include bonus claims and rebates of customers calculat-

ed on the basis of the underlying customer arrangements. 

The provisions for sales are recognized primarily on product warranties and guarantees, return of 

goods, and distribution fees. The provisions for product warranty and guarantee are made both on a 

legal and a contractual basis. 

The position “Other provisions” primarily contains provisions for litigations and legal costs, other tax-

es, and environmental matters. 
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19 ––– SEGMENT REPORTING INFORMATION 

Mayr-Melnhof Karton AG and its subsidiaries operate in two operating areas, the production of car-

tonboard (Division MM Karton) and the production of folding cartons and packaging (Division  

MM Packaging). The Group is organized according to these two operating areas and is managed by 

the Management Board based on the financial information acquired thereon. Hence, the segments 

reported correspond to these two operating areas. 

The division MM Karton manufactures and markets numerous grades of cartonboard, focusing particu-

larly on coated cartonboard made primarily from recycled fiber. 

The division MM Packaging converts cartonboard into printed folding cartons purchased by customers 

in a variety of industries including food and consumer goods (e. g. packaging for cereals, dried foods, 

sugar, confectionary and baked goods, cosmetics and toiletries, detergents, domestic appliances, toys, 

cigarette and pharmaceutical packaging and high-grade confectionary). 

Data provided by the management information system on which the segment reporting is based, is in 

accordance with the accounting and recognition principles applied to the consolidated financial 

statements. Central operations are completely allocated to the operating segments by an allocation 

system, in analogy with the procedures in the management information system. Results from inter-

segment transactions are already eliminated in the segment results. 

The Group measures the performance of its operating segments by assessing operating profit and 

profit for the year as they are presented in the Group’s income statement. 

Intersegment sales are carried out on an arm’s length basis.  

Revenues are allocated based on the shipment destinations of finished goods, whereas non-current 

assets are allocated according to the location of the respective units. 

Capital expenditures and depreciation/amortization and impairment refer to the acquisition or depre-

ciation/amortization and impairment of property, plant and equipment as well as intangible assets 

including goodwill (see note 7). 
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The segment reporting information concerning the Group’s operating segments can be illustrated as 

follows: 

 
  2015 

(in thousands of EUR) MM Karton MM Packaging Eliminations Consolidated 

Sales to external customers 945,212 1,236,337 0 2,181,549 

Intersegment sales 101,535 952 (102,487) 0 

Total sales 1,046,747 1,237,289 (102,487) 2,181,549 

Operating profit 82,610 117,252 0 199,862 

Financial income 574 1,915 (336) 2,153 

Financial expenses (2,622) (3,983) 336 (6,269) 

Profit before tax 76,502 114,118 0 190,620 

Income tax expense (18,214) (30,262) 0 (48,476) 

Profit for the year 58,288 83,856 0 142,144 

Capital expenditures 72,541 55,410 0 127,951 

Depreciation, amortization and impairment1) (38,732) (60,820) 0 (99,552) 

Segment assets 992,651 984,364 (76,693) 1,900,322 

Segment liabilities 320,047 512,813 (76,693) 756,167 

Employees per segment as of December 31 2,546 7,392   9,938 
 

1) of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 

  

  2014 

(in thousands of EUR) MM Karton MM Packaging Eliminations Consolidated 

Sales to external customers 900,467 1,186,898 0 2,087,365 

Intersegment sales 102,382 839 (103,221) 0 

Total sales 1,002,849 1,187,737 (103,221) 2,087,365 

Operating profit 74,751 105,472 0 180,223 

Financial income 1,357 1,091 (993) 1,455 

Financial expenses (2,263) (3,936) 993 (5,206) 

Profit before tax 69,379 101,634 0 171,013 

Income tax expense (16,918) (22,523) 0 (39,441) 

Profit for the year 52,461 79,111 0 131,572 

Capital expenditures 86,721 53,077 0 139,798 

Depreciation, amortization and impairment1) (36,670) (57,275) 0 (93,945) 

Segment assets 992,732 864,765 (70,486) 1,787,011 

Segment liabilities 342,022 413,307 (70,486) 684,843 

Employees per segment as of December 31 2,560 6,839   9,399 
 

1) of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 
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The following is a country-by-country breakdown of net sales based on shipment destinations as well 

as a summary of non-current assets and capital expenditures based on locations: 

   
  2015 2014 

(in thousands of EUR) Net sales 
Non-current 

assets 
Capital 

expenditures Net sales 
Non-current 

assets 
Capital 

expenditures 

Austria 56,687 166,776 42,499 71,039 146,985 64,894 

Germany 453,946 244,028 30,457 439,342 245,363 31,101 

Great Britain 227,793 2,904 92 214,068 3,542 268 

France 170,657 92,033 1,385 149,870 11,612 757 

Other Western European countries 365,042 46,307 6,531 350,847 45,100 4,301 

Eastern Europe (including Turkey) 579,296 231,682 40,965 549,365 222,158 25,936 

Asia 115,136 49,229 3,586 117,317 49,912 6,336 

Latin America 119,920 53,941 2,128 106,651 65,834 4,142 

Other 93,072 4,128 308 88,866 4,915 2,063 

Consolidated total 2,181,549 891,028 127,951 2,087,365 795,421 139,798 
   

 

Non-current assets and capital expenditures comprise property, plant and equipment, and intangible  

assets including goodwill (see note 7) as well as payments on account for property, plant and equip-

ment (see note 12). 

 

20 ––– OTHER OPERATING INCOME 

  

(in thousands of EUR) 
Year ended  

Dec. 31, 2015 
Year ended  

Dec. 31, 2014 

Gains and losses from disposal of property, plant and equipment, 
and intangible assets – net 5,508 1,702 

Insurance claims 1,582 1,142 

Rental income 1,488 1,369 

Other income – net 8,586 11,102 

Other operating income 17,164 15,315 
  

 

Other income − net includes income from compensation for damages in an amount of thous. EUR 866 

(2014: thous. EUR 1,174) as well as income from energy sales in an amount of thous. EUR 796 (2014: 

thous. EUR 888). Beside that, income from the recognition of a substitute water supply provided by an 

energy supplier in Austria in an amount of thous. EUR 3,678 was recognized in the previous year. 
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21 ––– EXPENSES BY NATURE 

The consolidated income statements are prepared using the presentation of expenses by function. The 

following overview comprises a breakdown of expenses by nature for the financial years 2015 and 

2014: 

  

(in thousands of EUR) 
Year ended  

Dec. 31, 2015 
Year ended  

Dec. 31, 2014 

Cost of materials and purchased services 1,259,611 1,191,977 

Personnel expenses 406,098 389,421 

Depreciation, amortization and impairment1) 99,552 93,945 

Other expenses 233,590 247,114 

Total of cost of sales, selling and distribution, administrative and other operating 
expenses 1,998,851 1,922,457 

  
1) of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 

 

22 ––– PERSONNEL EXPENSES 

Personnel expenses from all Group areas can be broken down as follows: 

  

(in thousands of EUR) 
Year ended  

Dec. 31, 2015 
Year ended  

Dec. 31, 2014 

Gross wages 185,668 178,477 

Gross salaries 134,035 129,645 

Severance expenses 5,026 6,960 

Pension expenses 5,720 4,875 

Expenses for statutory social security as well as payroll-related taxes and other contributions 64,278 61,633 

Other welfare expenses 11,371 7,831 

Total 406,098 389,421 
  

 

The average number of employees is as follows: 

  

(Number of persons) 
Year ended  

Dec. 31, 2015 
Year ended  

Dec. 31, 2014 

Factory workers 7,178 7,280 

Office staff 2,169 2,160 

Total 9,347 9,440 
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Remuneration of the management 

The key management of the Group includes the Management Board and the Supervisory Board. The 

remuneration of the management is as follows: 

  

(in thousands of EUR) 
Year ended  

Dec. 31, 2015 
Year ended  

Dec. 31, 2014 

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits ( incl. Supervisory Board remuneration) 5,515 5,057 

Post-employment benefits 3,336 4,844 

Termination benefits 42 0 

Total 8,893 9,901 
  

 

The remuneration of the members of the Management Board is as follows: 

  

(in thousands of EUR) 
Year ended  

Dec. 31, 2015 
Year ended  

Dec. 31, 2014 

Fixed compensation 2,778 2,700 

Variable compensation 2,973 2,781 

Total 5,751 5,481 
  

 

The remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board elected by the shareholders for the finan-

cial year 2015 amounted to thous. EUR 314 (2014: thous. EUR 292). 

Concerning the remuneration of former members of the Management and Supervisory Boards, the 

provision on non-disclosure of such remuneration was applied by referring to section 241 paragraph 4 

in conjunction with section 266 figure 7 last sentence of the Austrian Commercial Code. 

 

23 ––– EXPENSES FOR THE GROUP AUDITOR 

The 21st Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting on April 29, 2015 appointed Grant Thornton Unitreu GmbH 

Wirtschaftsprüfungs- und Steuerberatungsgesellschaft as the auditor of the consolidated and individual 

financial statements of Mayr-Melnhof Karton AG. Furthermore, they audited the individual financial 

statements of the Austrian subsidiaries. In 2015, expenses for services rendered by Grant Thornton 

Unitreu amounted to thous. EUR 451 (2014: thous. EUR 479) of which thous. EUR 447 (2014:  

thous. EUR 461) related to auditing and other assurance services and thous. EUR 4 (2014: thous. EUR 18) to 

other services. 

 

24 ––– RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES 

Research and development costs recognized as expenses in the income statement amounted to  

thous. EUR 3,997 in the financial year 2015 (2014: thous. EUR 3,988).  
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25 ––– FINANCIAL INCOME 

  

(in thousands of EUR) 
Year ended  

Dec. 31, 2015 
Year ended  

Dec. 31, 2014 

Interest from bank deposits 2,007 1,327 

Other financial income 146 128 

Total financial income 2,153 1,455 
  

 

26 ––– FINANCIAL EXPENSES 

  

(in thousands of EUR) 
Year ended  

Dec. 31, 2015 
Year ended  

Dec. 31, 2014 

Interest expense related to financial liabilities (4,810) (3,424) 

Other financial expenses (1,459) (1,782) 

Total financial expenses (6,269) (5,206) 
  

 

Commitment fees for unused credit lines and interest expense related to finance lease are included in 

other financial expenses. 

 

27 ––– OTHER FINANCIAL RESULT – NET 

  

(in thousands of EUR) 
Year ended  

Dec. 31, 2015 
Year ended  

Dec. 31, 2014 

Foreign currency exchange rate gains (losses) – net (956) (3,566) 

Net interest cost - defined benefit plans (2,480) (3,014) 

Valuation of (contingent) share purchase price and option liabilities (1,946) 1,096 

Other expenses and income – net 256 25 

Other financial result – net (5,126) (5,459) 
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28 ––– EARNINGS PER SHARE 

Earnings per share are calculated in accordance with IAS 33 “Earnings per Share”. The standard re-

quires the calculation and disclosure of two key figures, basic and diluted earnings per share. Basic 

earnings per share are calculated by dividing profit or loss attributable to the shareholders of the Com-

pany by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the financial year. As there were 

no dilutive stock options neither as of December 31, 2015 nor as of December 31, 2014, it was not nec-

essary to calculate the diluted earnings per share. Hence this corresponds to the basic earnings per 

share. 

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing net profit for the year attributable to ordinary 

shareholders of the parent company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 

during the year. 

  

  
Year ended  

Dec. 31, 2015 
Year ended  

Dec. 31, 2014 

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the parent company (in thousands of EUR) 141,550 130,850 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 20,000,000 20,000,000 

Basic earnings per share attributable to ordinary shareholders of the parent company (in EUR) 7.08 6.54 
  

 

As in the previous year, the number of shares issued as of December 31, 2015 amounted to 20,000,000 

shares.  
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29 ––– COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

 

Commitments from legal proceedings and similar claims 

The Group is subject to various claims and legal proceedings that have arisen in the ordinary course of 

business. Based on all the facts available to the Management, the Group believes that the ultimate resolu-

tion of these claims and legal proceedings will be unlikely to have a material adverse effect on its financial 

position or the results of its operations, although no assurance can be given with respect to the outcome 

of such claims or litigations. 

Commitments from environmental matters 

The Group is also subject to various environmental legislations and regulations in the countries in 

which it operates. Expenditures for environmental matters which relate to existing conditions caused 

by past operations and have no significant future benefit are expensed as incurred. The Group records 

an accrual for environmental matters when an expense is probable and may be reasonably estimated. 

For the assessment of the amount of accruals, estimates have to be used to a certain extent. It is pos-

sible that the final assessment of some of these matters may require the Group to make expenditures 

in excess of the amounts currently provided for. However, the Management believes that such addi-

tional amounts will not have a material effect on the Group’s financial position or results of operations. 

Expenses related to environmental matters were not material for the years ended December 31, 2015 

and 2014. 

Other contingent liabilities 

At December 31, 2015, purchase obligations for fixed assets regarding planned capital expenditures  

maturing within one year amounted to thous. EUR 24,317 (December 31, 2014: thous. EUR 29,545). 
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30 ––– DISCLOSURE ON TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

Raw materials for the production of cartonboard amounting to thous. EUR 8,311 were purchased from 

other related companies in 2015 (2014: thous. EUR 9,399). At December 31, 2015, trade liabilities with 

other related companies amounted to thous. EUR 979 (December 31, 2014: thous. EUR 1,031). 

Transactions with these companies are carried out on an arm’s length basis. 

For information about contributions to the pension benefit plan in Great Britain see note 15.  

 

31 ––– SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

There have been no subsequent events after the balance sheet date with any material effect on the 

consolidated financial statements of the Group. 
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32 ––– TABLE OF AFFILIATED AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES 

    

2015 2014 
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Mayr-Melnhof Karton 
Aktiengesellschaft, Vienna (AUT) EUR 80,000 - FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof Karton 
Aktiengesellschaft, Vienna (AUT) EUR 80,000 - FC1)

 
MM KARTON  

 
MM KARTON  

Baiersbronn Frischfaser Karton GmbH, 
Baiersbronn (DEU) EUR 2,050 100.00 % FC1)

Baiersbronn Frischfaser Karton GmbH, 
Baiersbronn (DEU) EUR 2,050 100.00 % FC1)

CartPrint Insurance AG,  
Vaduz (LIE) EUR 3,000 100.00 % FC1)

CartPrint Insurance AG,  
Vaduz (LIE) EUR 3,000 100.00 % FC1)

CP (CartPrint) International  
Trading AG, Worb (CHE) CHF 100 100.00 % FC1)

CP (CartPrint) International  
Trading AG, Worb (CHE) CHF 100 100.00 % FC1)

free-com solutions GmbH,  
Vienna (AUT) EUR 35 51.00 % FC1)

free-com solutions GmbH,  
Vienna (AUT) EUR 35 51.00 % FC1)

FS-Karton GmbH,  
Baiersbronn (DEU) EUR 51,641 100.00 % FC1)

FS-Karton GmbH,  
Baiersbronn (DEU) EUR 51,641 100.00 % FC1)

Industriewater Eerbeek B.V.,  
Eerbeek (NLD) EUR 143 37.50 % NC2)

Industriewater Eerbeek B.V.,  
Eerbeek (NLD) EUR 143 37.50 % NC2)

Kolicevo Karton Proizvodnja  
kartona, d.o.o., Domzale (SVN) EUR 12,828 100.00 % FC1)

Kolicevo Karton Proizvodnja  
kartona, d.o.o., Domzale (SVN) EUR 12,828 100.00 % FC1)

Lokalbahn Payerbach-Hirschwang  
Gesellschaft m.b.H.,  
Reichenau/Rax (AUT) 

 
EUR 

 
190 100.00 % FC1)

Lokalbahn Payerbach-Hirschwang  
Gesellschaft m.b.H.,  
Reichenau/Rax (AUT) 

 
EUR 

 
190 100.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof Cartonboard 
International GmbH, Vienna (AUT) EUR 5,000 100.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof Cartonboard 
International GmbH, Vienna (AUT) EUR 5,000 100.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof Eerbeek B.V., 
Eerbeek (NLD) EUR 7,300 100.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof Eerbeek B.V., 
Eerbeek (NLD) EUR 7,300 100.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof Gernsbach GmbH, 
Gernsbach (DEU) EUR 9,205 100.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof Gernsbach GmbH, 
Gernsbach (DEU) EUR 9,205 100.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof Karton  
Gesellschaft m.b.H., Frohnleiten (AUT) EUR 7,500 100.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof Karton  
Gesellschaft m.b.H., Frohnleiten (AUT) EUR 7,500 100.00 % FC1)

MM Karton FollaCell AS,  
Verran (NOR) NOK 10,000 100.00 % FC1)

MM Karton FollaCell AS,  
Verran (NOR) NOK 10,000 100.00 % FC1)

MM Karton Turkey Ticaret Limited 
Sirketi, Istanbul (TUR) TRY 10 100.00 % FC1) - - - - -

Stort Doonweg B.V.,  
Eerbeek (NLD) EUR 18 50.00 % NC2)

Stort Doonweg B.V.,  
Eerbeek (NLD) EUR 18 50.00 % NC2)
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Trading companies & sales offices 
of MM Karton     

Trading companies & sales offices 
of MM Karton     

Austria Cartón S.A., Barcelona (ESP) EUR 60 75.00 % FC1) Austria Cartón S.A., Barcelona (ESP) EUR 60 75.00 % FC1)

Firgos (Malaysia) SDN BHD,  
Kuala Lumpur (MYS) MYR 500 51.00 % FC1)

Firgos (Malaysia) SDN BHD,  
Kuala Lumpur (MYS) MYR 500 51.00 % FC1)

Keminer Remmers Spiehs 
Kartonhandels GmbH, Gernsbach (DEU) EUR 1,280 100.00 % FC1)

Keminer Remmers Spiehs 
Kartonhandels GmbH, Gernsbach (DEU) EUR 1,280 100.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof Belgium N.V.,  
Sint-Katelijne-Waver (BEL) EUR 62 100.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof Belgium N.V.,  
Sint-Katelijne-Waver (BEL) EUR 62 100.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof Cartonboard UK Limited, 
Lincolnshire (GBR) GBP 1,000 100.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof Cartonboard UK Limited, 
Lincolnshire (GBR) GBP 1,000 100.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof France SARL,  
Paris (FRA) EUR 8 100.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof France SARL,  
Paris (FRA) EUR 8 100.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof Italia S.R.L.,  
Milano (ITA) EUR 51 75.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof Italia S.R.L.,  
Milano (ITA) EUR 51 75.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof Karton Polska Sp. z o.o., 
Poznan (POL) PLN 50 100.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof Karton Polska Sp. z o.o., 
Poznan (POL) PLN 50 100.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof Karton Schweiz GmbH, 
Worb (CHE) CHF 20 100.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof Karton Schweiz GmbH, 
Worb (CHE) CHF 20 100.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof Mediterra SARL,  
Tunis (TUN) TND 80 100.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof Mediterra SARL,  
Tunis (TUN) TND 80 100.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof Nederland B.V., 
Amstelveen (NLD) EUR 91 100.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof Nederland B.V., 
Amstelveen (NLD) EUR 91 100.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof & Wilfried Heinzel 
Tehran Co., Tehran (IRN) IRR 100,000 36.00 % NC2)

Mayr-Melnhof & Wilfried Heinzel 
Tehran Co., Tehran (IRN) IRR 100,000 36.00 % NC2)

MM Guang Zhou Yue Ran  
Paper Co., Ltd., Guangzhou (CHN) CNY 1,500 100.00 % FC1)

MM Guang Zhou Yue Ran  
Paper Co., Ltd., Guangzhou (CHN) CNY 1,500 100.00 % FC1)

MM Karton Bulgaria EOOD,  
Sofia (BGR) BGN 5 100.00 % FC1)

MM Karton Bulgaria EOOD,  
Sofia (BGR) BGN 5 100.00 % FC1)

MM Karton Praha s.r.o.,  
Prague (CZE) CZK 820 100.00 % FC1)

MM Karton Praha s.r.o.,  
Prague (CZE) CZK 820 100.00 % FC1)

MM Karton Russia LLC,  
Moscow (RUS) RUB 14,290 100.00 % FC1)

MM Karton Russia LLC,  
Moscow (RUS) RUB 14,290 100.00 % FC1)

MM Kartonvertrieb GmbH,  
Neuss (DEU) EUR 26 100.00 % FC1)

MM Kartonvertrieb GmbH,  
Neuss (DEU) EUR 26 100.00 % FC1)

MM Prodaja Kartona d.o.o.,  
Domzale (SVN) EUR 30 100.00 % FC1)

MM Prodaja Kartona d.o.o.,  
Domzale (SVN) EUR 30 75.00 % FC1)

Varsity Packaging Limited,  
Lincolnshire (GBR) GBP 300 100.00 % FC1)

Varsity Packaging Limited,  
Lincolnshire (GBR) GBP 300 100.00 % FC1)
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MM PACKAGING  MM PACKAGING 

Al-Ekbal Printing & Packaging Co., 
Amman (JOR) JOD 5,000 86.81 % FC1)

Al-Ekbal Printing & Packaging Co., 
Amman (JOR) JOD 5,000 84.32 % FC1)

C.P. Schmidt GmbH,  
Kaiserslautern (DEU) EUR 3,000 100.00 % FC1)

C.P. Schmidt GmbH,  
Kaiserslautern (DEU) EUR 3,000 100.00 % FC1)

C.P. Schmidt Verpackungs-Werk 
Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, 
Kaiserslautern (DEU) 

 
EUR 

 
180 100.00 % FC1)

C.P. Schmidt Verpackungs-Werk 
Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, 
Kaiserslautern (DEU) 

 
EUR 

 
180 100.00 % FC1)

Gundlach GmbH,  
Bielefeld (DEU) EUR 52 100.00 % FC1)

Gundlach GmbH,  
Bielefeld (DEU) EUR 52 100.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof Graphia Izmir Karton 
sanayi ve ticaret anonim sirketi,  
Izmir (TUR) 

 
TRY 

 
24,613 100.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof Graphia Izmir Karton 
sanayi ve ticaret anonim sirketi,  
Izmir (TUR) 

 
TRY 

 
24,613 100.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof Gravure GmbH,  
Trier (DEU) EUR 7,000 100.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof Gravure GmbH,  
Trier (DEU) EUR 7,000 100.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof Packaging  
Austria GmbH, Vienna (AUT) EUR 3,050 100.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof Packaging  
Austria GmbH, Vienna (AUT) EUR 3,050 100.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof Packaging Iberica SL, 
Valencia (ESP) EUR 7,500 100.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof Packaging Iberica SL, 
Valencia (ESP) EUR 7,500 100.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof Packaging  
International GmbH, Vienna (AUT) EUR 5,000 100.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof Packaging  
International GmbH, Vienna (AUT) EUR 5,000 100.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof Packaging Marinetti 
Limitada, Santiago de Chile (CHL) CLP 5,000 100.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof Packaging Marinetti 
Limitada, Santiago de Chile (CHL) CLP 5,000 100.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof Packaging  
Romania S.R.L., Blejoi (ROU) RON 5,504 100.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof Packaging  
Romania S.R.L., Blejoi (ROU) RON 5,504 100.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof Packaging UK Limited, 
Lincolnshire (GBR) GBP 9,700 100.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof Packaging UK Limited, 
Lincolnshire (GBR) GBP 9,700 100.00 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof Printing and Packaging 
Tehran Company, Private Joint Stock, 
Tehran (IRN) 

 
IRR 

 
321,496,000 99.29 % FC1)

Mayr-Melnhof Printing and Packaging 
Tehran Company, Private Joint Stock, 
Tehran (IRN) 

 
IRR 

 
110,513,000 96.75 % FC1)

MM Graphia Beteiligungs- und 
Verwaltungs GmbH, Bielefeld (DEU) EUR 5,538 100.00 % FC1)

MM Graphia Beteiligungs- und 
Verwaltungs GmbH, Baiersbronn (DEU) EUR 5,538 100.00 % FC1)

MM Graphia Bielefeld GmbH,  
Bielefeld (DEU) EUR 526 100.00 % FC1)

MM Graphia Bielefeld GmbH,  
Bielefeld (DEU) EUR 526 100.00 % FC1)

- - - - -
MM Graphia Dortmund GmbH, 
Dortmund (DEU) EUR 100 100.00 % FC1)

MM Graphia GmbH,  
Bielefeld (DEU) EUR 25 100.00 % FC1)

MM Graphia GmbH,  
Bielefeld (DEU) EUR 25 100.00 % FC1)

MM Graphia Innovaprint GmbH, 
Bielefeld (DEU) EUR 500 100.00 % FC1)

MM Graphia Innovaprint GmbH, 
Bielefeld (DEU) EUR 500 100.00 % FC1)

MM Graphia Trier GmbH,  
Trier (DEU) EUR 3,500 100.00 % FC1)

MM Graphia Trier GmbH,  
Trier (DEU) EUR 3,500 100.00 % FC1)

MM Packaging Behrens GmbH,  
Alfeld (Leine) (DEU) EUR 3,000 100.00 % FC1)

MM Packaging Behrens GmbH,  
Alfeld (Leine) (DEU) EUR 3,000 100.00 % FC1)

MM Packaging Beteiligungs- und 
Verwaltungs GmbH, Baiersbronn (DEU) EUR 500 100.00 % FC1)

MM Packaging Beteiligungs- und 
Verwaltungs GmbH, Baiersbronn (DEU) EUR 500 100.00 % FC1)
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MM Packaging Caesar GmbH,  
Traben-Trarbach (DEU) EUR 3,000 100.00 % FC1)

MM Packaging Caesar GmbH,  
Traben-Trarbach (DEU) EUR 3,000 100.00 % FC1)

MM Packaging Colombia S.A.S., 
Santiago de Cali (COL) COP 75,000,000 100.00 % FC1)

MM Packaging Colombia S.A.S., 
Santiago de Cali (COL) COP 75,000,000 100.00 % FC1)

MM PACKAGING France S.A.S., 
Monéteau (FRA) EUR 7,289 100.00 % FC1)

MM PACKAGING France S.A.S., 
Monéteau (FRA) EUR 7,289 100.00 % FC1)

MM Packaging GmbH,  
Bielefeld (DEU) EUR 26 100.00 % FC1)

MM Packaging GmbH,  
Kaiserslautern (DEU) EUR 26 100.00 % FC1)

MM Packaging Malaysia SDN. BHD., 
Kuala Lumpur (MYS) MYR 16,500 100.00 % FC1)

MM Packaging Malaysia SDN. BHD., 
Kuala Lumpur (MYS) MYR 16,500 100.00 % FC1)

MM Packaging Schilling GmbH, 
Heilbronn (DEU) EUR 2,500 100.00 % FC1)

MM Packaging Schilling GmbH, 
Heilbronn (DEU) EUR 2,500 100.00 % FC1)

MM Packaging Tunisie S.A.R.L, 
Tunis (TUN) TND 6,587 100.00 % FC1)

Tunisie Converting SARL,  
Tunis (TUN) TND 6,587 100.00 % FC1)

MM Packaging Ukraine LLC,  
Cherkassy (UKR) UAH 56,896 100.00 % FC1)

MM Packaging Ukraine LLC,  
Cherkassy (UKR) UAH 56,896 100.00 % FC1)

MM Packaging Vidon Limited Liability 
Company, Ho Chi Minh City (VNM) VND 280,000,000 65.10 % FC1)

MM Packaging Vidon Limited Liability 
Company, Ho Chi Minh City (VNM) VND 280,000,000 65.10 % FC1)

MM Polygrafoformlenie Limited,  
Nicosia (CYP), i.l. EUR 7 100.00 % NC2)

MM Polygrafoformlenie Limited,  
Nicosia (CYP), i.l. EUR 7 100.00 % NC2)

MM Polygrafoformlenie Packaging LLC, 
St. Petersburg (RUS) RUB 565,851 100.00 % FC1)

MM Polygrafoformlenie Packaging LLC, 
St. Petersburg (RUS) RUB 565,851 100.00 % FC1)

MM Polygrafoformlenie Rotogravure 
LLC, St. Petersburg (RUS) RUB 33,000 100.00 % FC1)

MM Polygrafoformlenie Rotogravure 
LLC, St. Petersburg (RUS) RUB 33,000 100.00 % FC1)

MMP Neupack Polska Sp.z.o.o., 
Bydgoszcz (POL) PLN 28,700 100.00 % FC1)

MMP Neupack Polska Sp.z.o.o., 
Bydgoszcz (POL) PLN 28,700 100.00 % FC1)

MMP Packetis SAS,  
Chazelles (FRA) EUR 1,677 100.00 % FC1) - - - - -

MMP Premium Printing Center GmbH, 
Trier (DEU) EUR 500 100.00 % FC1)

MMP Premium Printing Center GmbH, 
Trier (DEU) EUR 500 100.00 % FC1)

MMP Premium SAS,  
Ancenis (FRA) EUR 25,566 100.00 % FC1) - - - - -

Neupack Gesellschaft m.b.H., 
Reichenau/Rax (AUT) EUR 1,820 100.00 % FC1)

Neupack Gesellschaft m.b.H., 
Reichenau/Rax (AUT) EUR 1,820 100.00 % FC1)

PacProject GmbH,  
Hamburg (DEU) EUR 26 69.77 % FC1)

PacProject GmbH,  
Hamburg (DEU) EUR 26 69.77 % FC1)

Public Joint Stock Company „Graphia 
Ukraina“, Cherkassy (UKR) UAH 5,880 94.78 % FC1)

Public Joint Stock Company „Graphia 
Ukraina“, Cherkassy (UKR) UAH 5,880 94.78 % FC1)

R + S Stanzformen GmbH, 
Niederdorfelden (DEU) EUR 260 100.00 % FC1) 

R + S Stanzformen GmbH, 
Niederdorfelden (DEU) EUR 260 100.00 % FC1) 

Superpak Ambalaj sanayi ve ticaret 
anonim sirketi, Izmir (TUR) TRY 7,000 100.00 % FC1)

Superpak Ambalaj sanayi ve ticaret 
anonim sirketi, Izmir (TUR) TRY 7,000 100.00 % FC1)

TEC MMP SARL, Sfax (TUN) TND 21,400 100.00 % FC1) TEC MMP SARL, Sfax (TUN) TND 21,400 100.00 % FC1)

VTV Verpackungstechnische Verfahren 
GmbH, Kaiserslautern (DEU) EUR 200 100.00 % FC1)

VTV Verpackungstechnische Verfahren 
GmbH, Kaiserslautern (DEU) EUR 200 100.00 % FC1)

    
The voting rights are equal to the ownership interests. The parent company does not hold any preferred interests in the subsidiary.  
1) FC ... fully consolidated company 

2) NC ... non-consolidated company 
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33 ––– BOARD MEMBERS 

During the financial year 2015, the Board Members were as follows: 

Management Board 

Wilhelm HÖRMANSEDER (Chairman)  

Andreas BLASCHKE (Member of the Management Board)  

Gotthard MAYRINGER (Member of the Management Board as of April 1, 2015) 

Franz RAPPOLD (Member of the Management Board)  

Oliver SCHUMY (Member of the Management Board, until March 31, 2015) 

Supervisory Board 

Rainer ZELLNER (Chairman, as of April 29, 2015) 

Michael GRÖLLER (Chairman, until April 29, 2015) 

Romuald BERTL (Deputy Chairman) 

Johannes GOESS-SAURAU (Deputy Chairman) 

Nikolaus ANKERSHOFEN (Member of the Supervisory Board) 

Guido HELD (Member of the Supervisory Board) 

Alexander LEEB (Member of the Supervisory Board) 

Georg MAYR-MELNHOF (Member of the Supervisory Board) 

Michael SCHWARZKOPF (Member of the Supervisory Board) 

Hubert ESSER (Staff Council Representative, MM Karton, until April 2, 2015) 

Andreas HEMMER (Works Council Representative, MM Karton) 

Gerhard NOVOTNY (Works Council Representative, MM Packaging) 

 

Vienna, February 29, 2016 

 

The Management Board 

Wilhelm Hörmanseder m. p. 

Andreas Blaschke m. p. Gotthard Mayringer m. p. Franz Rappold m. p.
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Auditor’s Report 
Report on the consolidated financial statements 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Mayr-Melnhof Karton AG, 

Vienna, for the fiscal year from January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2015. These consolidated financial 

statements comprise the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2015, the consolidated in-

come statement, the consolidated cash flow statement, and the consolidated statement of changes in 

equity for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015, and the notes thereto. 

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements and for the accounting 

system 

The Company’s management is responsible for the Group’s accounting system and for the preparation 

and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Finan-

cial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU and additional requirements of section 245 a of 

the Austrian Commercial Code. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining 

internal control relevant for the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements 

that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appro-

priate accounting policies; making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 

Auditor’s responsibility and description of type and scope of the statutory audit 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our 

audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with laws and regulations applicable in Austria and Aus-

trian Standards on Auditing, as well as in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing 

(ISAs) issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (IAASB) of the Internation-

al Federation of Accountants (IFAC). Those standards require that we comply with professional guide-

lines and that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated 

financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 

in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, 

including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial state-

ments, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal 

control relevant to the Group’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial state-

ments in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 

purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. An audit also 

includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of ac-

counting estimates made by the management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 

consolidated financial statements. 
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a reason-

able basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion 

Our audit did not give rise to any objections. In our opinion, which is based on the results of our audit, 

the consolidated financial statements comply with legal requirements and give a true and fair view of 

the financial position of the Group as of December 31, 2015 and of its financial performance and its 

cash flows for the fiscal year from January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2015 in accordance with Interna-

tional Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU. 

Comments on the management report for the Group 

Pursuant to statutory provisions, the management report for the Group is to be audited as to whether it 

is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and as to whether the other disclosures are 

not false with respect to the Company’s position. The auditor’s report also has to contain a statement 

as to whether the management report for the Group is consistent with the consolidated financial 

statements and whether the disclosures pursuant to section 243 a UGB (Austrian Commercial Code) 

are appropriate. 

In our opinion, the management report for the Group is consistent with the consolidated financial 

statements. The disclosures pursuant to section 243 a UGB (Austrian Commercial Code) are appropriate. 

 

Vienna, February 29, 2016 

 

Grant Thornton Unitreu GmbH 

Wirtschaftsprüfungs- und Steuerberatungsgesellschaft 

 

Christoph ZIMMEL m. p. 

 

Eginhard KARL m. p. 

 

Austrian Chartered Accountants 
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y  

Lagebericht 
gem. § 243 UGB der Mayr-Melnhof Karton Aktiengesellschaft 
über das Geschäftsjahr 1. Jänner 2015 bis 31. Dezember 2015 

Die Mayr-Melnhof Karton Aktiengesellschaft ist die geschäftsleitende Holdinggesellschaft des Mayr-

Melnhof Konzerns, der in zwei operativen Segmenten geführt wird: Mayr-Melnhof Karton  

(„MM Karton“) und Mayr-Melnhof Packaging („MM Packaging“). MM Karton produziert und vermark-

tet eine vielfältige Palette an Kartonsorten, hauptsächlich gestrichenen Faltschachtelkarton auf Basis 

von Recycling- und Frischfasern. MM Packaging verarbeitet Karton zu Faltschachteln hauptsächlich 

für die Nahrungsmittel-, Zigaretten- und sonstige Konsumgüterindustrie. Die von der Gesellschaft 

wahrgenommenen Führungs- und Steuerungsaufgaben umfassen die Bereiche Strategie, Investitionen, 

Rechnungswesen, Controlling, Steuern, Finanz- und Risikomanagement, Investor Relations, Qualitäts-

wesen, Einkauf, Informationstechnologie und Human Resources. 

 

1 ––– GESCHÄFTSVERLAUF UND WIRTSCHAFTLICHE LAGE IN 2015 

a ––– Allgemeine Wirtschaftslage 

Die Dynamik der Weltwirtschaft hat sich im Jahr 2015 abgeschwächt. Während entwickelte Volkswirt-

schaften wie die USA und Europa einen robusten Konjunkturverlauf verzeichneten, trübte sich die 

wirtschaftliche Lage in vielen Schwellenländern weiter ein. Der Verfall der Energiepreise sowie rück-

läufige Rohstoffpreise fördern auf Sicht zwar das Wachstum in den fortgeschrittenen Industrieländern, 

stellen aber die exportierenden, aufstrebenden Volkswirtschaften vor große Probleme. Im Euroraum 

stärkten die gesunkenen Ölpreise das real verfügbare Einkommen der Haushalte und die geldpoliti-

sche Lockerung die preisliche Wettbewerbsfähigkeit gegenüber den Währungen der wichtigsten Han-

delspartner. Vor dem Hintergrund stabiler Binnennachfrage zeigte auch die Konjunktur in den  

EU-Mitgliedstaaten Zentral- und Osteuropas ein solides Bild. In der Folge entwickelten sich die für 

unser Geschäft bedeutenden Indikatoren, wie private Kaufkraft und Konsum, im Hauptmarkt Europa 

nachhaltig robust. 

 

b ––– Branchenentwicklung 

Unter den stabilen, aber weiterhin schwunglosen, wirtschaftlichen Rahmenbedingungen in Europa 

verlief auch der Absatz von Konsumgütern in 2015 insgesamt solide. Entsprechend war die Nachfrage 

nach Karton und Faltschachteln von einem hohen Maß an Kontinuität geprägt, jedoch ohne Anzeichen 

einer spürbaren Belebung. Aufgrund ausreichend vorhandener Kapazitäten standen sowohl der euro-

päische Karton- als auch der Faltschachtelmarkt weiter unter intensivem Preiswettbewerb. Kurzfristige 

Planung seitens der Kunden setzte sich innerhalb der stark optimierten Supply Chain fort und erforder-

te ein hohes Maß an Flexibilität bei Produktion und Verkauf. Die infolge der robusten Marktentwick-
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lung gegen Jahresmitte deutlich angestiegenen Altpapierpreise stabilisierten sich in der zweiten Jah-

reshälfte auf hohem Niveau. Demgegenüber entwickelten sich die Spotpreise für Energie vorteilhaft. In 

der Zusammensetzung der großen europäischen Kartonproduzenten gab es in 2015 keine  

wesentlichen Veränderungen. Demgegenüber hat sich der Konsolidierungsprozess in der europäischen 

Faltschachtelindustrie weiter fortgesetzt.  

Außerhalb Europas war die Nachfrage insbesondere in den Märkten Türkei, Russland sowie Mittlerer 

Osten und Nordafrika durch die politische und konjunkturelle Situation tendenziell belastet. 

 

c ––– Geschäftsverlauf 2015 in den Divisionen 

MM Karton 

Das Jahr 2015 war in allen Märkten unverändert durch saisonal schwankendes Bestellverhalten und 

verhaltene Abrufe der Kunden geprägt. Eine spürbare Belebung der Nachfrage stellte sich nicht ein. 

Der durchschnittliche Auftragsstand lag mit 80.000 Tonnen über dem Vorjahr (2014: 61.000 Tonnen). 

Durch flexiblen Umgang mit kurzen Planungsintervallen, ein optimiertes Produktportfolio sowie den 

hohen Servicegrad gelang es, Marktanteile zu festigen bzw. selektiv auszubauen. 

Die Kartonwerke konnten mit 1.677.000 Tonnen die Produktionsmenge des Vorjahres (2014:  

1.585.000 Tonnen) um 92.000 Tonnen oder 5,8 % übertreffen. Bezogen auf den durchschnittlichen Mit-

arbeiterstand wurden 657 Tonnen (2014: 622 Tonnen) pro Mitarbeiter erzeugt. Das Werk Frohnleiten 

produzierte nach dem fast einmonatigen Umbaustillstand der Kartonmaschine 3 im November 2014 für 

die Investition FOODBOARDTM wieder ohne Abstellmaßnahmen. Mit 98 % (2014: 97 %) waren die Ka-

pazitäten der Kartondivision daher nahezu voll ausgelastet. Hohe Preisdisziplin in einem eher volatilen 

Marktumfeld ermöglichte es, die Preise gegenüber dem Vorjahr zu halten. 

Auf den Rohstoffmärkten standen einem deutlichen Anstieg der Altpapier- und Faserpreise zur Jah-

resmitte vor allem geringere Kosten für Energie gegenüber. 

Mit 1.660.000 Tonnen (2014: 1.586.000 Tonnen) wurde in 2015 die bisher höchste Verkaufsmenge er-

reicht und damit 4,7 % mehr als im Vorjahr abgesetzt. 

Die Umsatzerlöse stiegen im Gleichklang mit der verkauften Menge um 4,4 % von 1.002,8 Mio. EUR 

auf 1.046,7 Mio. EUR. Davon entfielen unverändert zum Vorjahr rund 63 % auf die Märkte in  

Westeuropa, 20 % auf Osteuropa und 17 % auf das Geschäft außerhalb Europas (2014: 63 %; 20 %;  

17 %). Mit einem Lieferanteil von 11 % bzw. 181.000 Tonnen (2014: 11 %; 174.000 Tonnen) war  

MM Packaging auch in 2015 der größte Kunde von MM Karton. Insgesamt werden mehr als 1.000 

Kunden, zumeist mittelständische Verarbeitungsbetriebe, weltweit beliefert. 

Das betriebliche Ergebnis konnte vor allem aufgrund höherer Produktivität und weiterer Kostensen-

kungen um 10,6 % bzw. 7,9 Mio. EUR auf 82,6 Mio. EUR (2014: 74,7 Mio. EUR) gesteigert werden. Die 

Operating Margin erreichte 7,9 % nach 7,4 % in 2014. Der Return on Capital Employed betrug 15,9 % 

nach 16,1 % im Vorjahr. Cash Earnings wurden in Höhe von 95,4 Mio. EUR (2014: 88,5 Mio. EUR) er-

wirtschaftet, wodurch sich die Cash Earnings Margin auf 9,1 % belief (2014: 8,8 %). 
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FOODBOARDTM, ein neuer, hochwertiger gestrichener Recyclingkarton mit einer einzigartigen funkti-

onellen Barriere für sichere Lebensmittel-Primärverpackungen, wird nach den in 2015 durchgeführten 

Optimierungen für Hochleistungsverarbeitungen ab dem 1. Quartal 2016 im Markt verfügbar sein. 

MM Packaging 

Der Absatz von Konsumgütern in Europa verlief während des Jahres insgesamt solide. Deutliche 

Marktimpulse für das Faltschachtelgeschäft sind aber sowohl in Europa als auch auf den außereuropä-

ischen Märkten ausgeblieben. Infolge der ausreichend im Markt vorhandenen Fertigungskapazitäten 

hält der Preiswettbewerb mit unverminderter Intensität an. 

MM Packaging setzt daher auf Kosten- und Technologieführerschaft durch hocheffiziente industrielle 

Fertigung sowie kontinuierliche Investitionen in modernste Technologie. Verbunden mit einem geogra-

fisch breiten Standortnetzwerk und einer Vielzahl technologischer Spezialisierungen konnte  

MM Packaging auch in 2015 die führende Position in Märkten wie FMCG (Fast Moving Consumer 

Goods), Zigarettenverpackungen und Waschmittel behaupten. 

Zahlreiche Maßnahmen waren auch im Geschäftsjahr 2015 darauf gerichtet, durch Steigerungen bei 

Effizienz und Produktivität die Wettbewerbs- und Ertragsstärke von MM Packaging kontinuierlich zu 

verbessern und weiteres Wachstum zu ermöglichen. 

In Österreich wurde die Faltschachtelproduktion der MM Packaging Austria mit zwei Standorten, Wien 

und Gunskirchen, Oberösterreich, auf den größeren in Wien konzentriert. Dies ermöglicht dessen Absi-

cherung als Hochleistungsstandort. 

In Südostasien wird der Standort MM Packaging Vidon in Vietnam für die weitere Erschließung dieses 

Marktes entwickelt. Die Produktion des Start-up-Betriebes MM Packaging Malaysia wurde daher in 

den vietnamesischen Standort integriert.  

Durch die Akquisition eines führenden französischen Faltschachtelproduzenten gelang ein erster 

Schritt in den Markt für Luxus- und Pharmaverpackungen.  

Die verarbeitete Tonnage erhöhte sich gegenüber dem Vorjahr um 3,8 % von 702.000 Tonnen auf 

729.000 Tonnen. Analog dazu wurde die Anzahl bedruckter Bögen (Bogenäquivalent) um 3,1 % von 

1.996,6 Millionen auf 2.059,3 Millionen gesteigert. Das Bogenäquivalent je Mitarbeiter erhöhte sich von 

290 Tausend auf 303 Tausend. 

Analog zur Menge erhöhten sich die Umsatzerlöse um 4,2 % auf 1.237,3 Mio. EUR (2014:  

1.187,7 Mio. EUR). Die geografische Verteilung der Umsatzerlöse verzeichnete mit 55 % und 32 % für 

West- und Osteuropa sowie 13 % für das außereuropäische Geschäft ein hohes Maß an Kontinuität 

(2014: 56 %; 32 %; 12 %). MM Packaging beliefert mehr als 1.500 Abnehmer in verschiedenen Konsum-

güterbranchen. Verpackungen für Lebensmittel und Zigaretten waren auch 2015 die Hauptabsatzbe-

reiche.  
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Aufgrund der starken Konzentration multinationaler Konsumgüterproduzenten werden mit diesen seit 

Langem gut drei Viertel des Geschäftes der Division erzielt. In 2015 entfielen rund 42 % der Umsatzer-

löse (2014: 40 %) auf die fünf größten Kunden. 

Mit 117,3 Mio. EUR lag das betriebliche Ergebnis vor allem aufgrund verbesserter Kosteneffizienz um 

11,2 % über dem Vorjahreswert (2014: 105,5 Mio. EUR). Die Operating Margin erhöhte sich demnach 

auf 9,5 % (2014: 8,9 %). 

Der Return on Capital Employed erreichte 16,2 % (2014: 15,1 %). Die Cash Earnings beliefen sich auf 

143,0 Mio. EUR (2014: 132,8 Mio. EUR), wodurch die Cash Earnings Margin 11,6 % (2014: 11,2 %)  

betrug. 

 

d ––– Geschäftsverlauf der Gesellschaft im Jahr 2015 

Im Geschäftsjahr 2015 verzeichnete die Gesellschaft verglichen zum Vorjahr höhere Beteiligungserträ-

ge, denen sowohl die Dividendenzahlung für 2014 als auch die Zwischendividende für 2015 gegen-

überstanden.  

 

Mit Spaltungs- und Übernahmeverträgen von 23. März 2015 wurden von der Mayr-Melnhof Cartonboard 

International GmbH jeweils 15 % der Anteile an der Mayr-Melnhof Graphia Beteiligungs- und Verwal-

tungs GmbH sowie an der Mayr-Melnhof Packaging Beteiligungs- und Verwaltungs GmbH auf die Mayr-

Melnhof Packaging International GmbH als aufnehmende Gesellschaft zu Buchwerten übertragen.  

Weiters wurden mit Spaltungs- und Übernahmevertrag vom 19. Oktober 2015 von der Lokalbahn 

Payerbach-Hirschwang Gesellschaft m.b.H. 19 % der Anteile an der Mayr-Melnhof Karton GmbH auf 

die Mayr-Melnhof Cartonboard International GmbH als aufnehmende Gesellschaft zu Buchwerten 

übertragen. 

Diese konzerninternen Umgründungsvorgänge an den von der Mayr-Melnhof Karton AG gehaltenen 

Beteiligungen hatten keine Auswirkung auf die Vermögenslage der Gesellschaft.  
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e ––– Finanzielle Leistungsindikatoren 

Vermögenslage     
          Veränderung 

(in EUR) 31.12.2015 in % 31.12.2014 in % in EUR in % 

Immaterielle Vermögens- 
gegenstände und Sachanlagen 2.132.306,39 0,45% 2.102.264,18 0,39% 30.042,21 1,43 %

Finanzanlagen 291.345.927,59 61,01% 290.255.253,63 54,42% 1.090.673,96 0,38 %

Sonstiges Umlaufvermögen und 
Rechnungsabgrenzungsposten 184.032.413,08 38,54% 241.007.004,52 45,19% (56.974.591,44) (23,64 %)

Gesamtvermögen 477.510.647,06 100,00% 533.364.522,33 100,00% (55.853.875,27) (10,47 %)

Eigenkapital 464.812.188,81 97,34% 461.991.017,32 86,62% 2.821.171,49 0,61 %

Rückstellungen 9.674.482,65 2,03% 10.965.400,51 2,06% (1.290.917,86) (11,77 %)

Verbindlichkeiten und 
Rechnungsabgrenzungsposten 3.023.975,60 0,63% 60.408.104,50 11,33% (57.384.128,90) (94,99 %)

Gesamtkapital 477.510.647,06 100,00% 533.364.522,33 100,00% (55.853.875,27) (10,47 %)
    

 

Die Veränderungen der Posten „Sonstiges Umlaufvermögen und Rechnungsabgrenzungsposten“ von 

EUR 241.007.004,52 auf EUR 184.032.413,08 sowie der Posten „Verbindlichkeiten und Rechnungsab-

grenzungsposten“ von EUR 60.408.104,50 auf EUR 3.023.975,60 resultieren im Wesentlichen aus der 

konzerninternen Cash Pool-Verrechnung.  

Das Eigenkapital veränderte sich von EUR 461.991.017,32 im Jahr 2014 auf EUR 464.812.188,81 in 2015. 

Diese Veränderung resultiert aus der Dividendenzahlung für 2014 in Höhe von EUR 52.000.000,00 so-

wie der Zwischendividende 2015 in Höhe von EUR 32.000.000,00, denen der Jahresüberschuss gegen-

übersteht. 

Die Verminderung der Rückstellungen von EUR 10.965.400,51 auf EUR 9.674.482,65 ist auf die im Be-

richtsjahr erfolgten Veranlagungen der Körperschaftssteuern der Jahre 2012 und 2013 zurückzuführen.  

Die Kennzahlen zur Vermögenslage berechnen sich wie folgt: 

   

            2015 2014 

Eigenkapitalausstattung = 
Eigenkapital 

=
464.812.188,81 

= 97,34 % 86,62 % 
Gesamtkapital 477.510.647,06 
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Finanzlage 

Geldflussrechnung   

(in EUR) 2015 2014 

1. Netto-Geldfluss aus laufender Geschäftstätigkeit     

Ergebnis der gewöhnlichen Geschäftstätigkeit  86.786.750,77 43.487.795,74 

+ / + Abschreibungen auf Vermögensgegenstände des Investitionsbereiches 83.320,59 56.702,05 

+/ - Gewinn aus dem Abgang von Vermögensgegenständen des Investitionsbereiches 0,00 (155.738,09) 

- / - Sonstige zahlungsunwirksame Erträge (152.994,49) (41.821,34) 

Geldfluss aus dem Ergebnis 86.717.076,87 43.346.938,36 

+ / - Veränderung der Forderungen sowie anderer Aktiva 8.810.512,69 (4.184.756,82) 

- / + Veränderung von Rückstellungen (1.290.917,86) 1.753.596,83 

- / + Veränderung der Verbindlichkeiten sowie anderer Passiva (4.971.955,23) 7.206.581,59 

Netto-Geldzufluss aus der gewöhnlichen Geschäftstätigkeit 89.264.716,47 48.122.359,96 

- / + Zahlungen für Ertragsteuern (562.303,58) 4.405.832,56 

Netto-Geldzufluss aus laufender Geschäftstätigkeit 88.702.412,89 52.528.192,52 

2. Netto-Geldfluss aus der Investitionstätigkeit     

+ / + Einzahlungen aus Anlagenabgang (ohne Finanzanlagen) 0,00 18.880,00 

+ / + Einzahlungen aus Finanzanlagenabgang und sonstigen Finanzinvestitionen 77.275,98 245.891,44 

- / - Auszahlungen für Anlagenzugang (ohne Finanzanlagen) (113.362,80) 0,00 

- / - Auszahlungen für Finanzanlagenzugang und sonstige Finanzinvestitionen (1.014.955,45) (6.840,00) 

Netto-Geldfluss aus der Investitionstätigkeit (1.051.042,27) 257.931,44 

3. Netto-Geldfluss aus der Finanzierungstätigkeit     

- / - Auszahlungen für Dividenden (84.000.000,00) (96.000.000,00) 

- / + Veränderung Cash Pool (144.361.788,12) 59.207.776,25 

Netto-Geldabfluss aus der Finanzierungstätigkeit (228.361.788,12) (36.792.223,75) 

Zahlungswirksame Veränderung des Finanzmittelbestandes (Z 1.+2.+3.) (140.710.417,50) 15.993.900,21 

+ / + Finanzmittelbestand am Beginn der Periode 231.190.124,86 215.196.224,65 

4. Finanzmittelbestand am Ende der Periode 90.479.707,36 231.190.124,86 
  

 

Der Netto-Geldzufluss aus laufender Geschäftstätigkeit erhöhte sich von EUR 52.528.192,52 in 2014 

auf EUR 88.702.412,89 im aktuellen Jahr. Diese Veränderung ist im Wesentlichen auf höhere Beteili-

gungserträge in 2015 zurückzuführen. 

Der Netto-Geldabfluss aus der Investitionstätigkeit belief sich auf EUR 1.051.042,27 in 2015 nach ei-

nem Netto-Geldzufluss in Höhe von EUR 257.931,44 in 2014. Die Auszahlungen betreffen nahezu aus-

schließlich Prämienzahlungen für Rückdeckungsversicherungen. 
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Der Netto-Geldabfluss aus der Finanzierungstätigkeit belief sich auf EUR 228.361.788,12 nach  

EUR 36.792.223,75 im Vorjahr. Diese Veränderung ist vor allem auf Abflüsse in die konzerninterne  

Cash Pool-Finanzierung zurückzuführen. 

Ertragslage     
  

2015 

in % des 
Finanzer-

folges 2014 

in % des 
Finanzer-

folges 

Veränderung 

in EUR in EUR in % 

Finanzerfolg 99.978.871,20 100,00 % 58.129.623,28 100,00 % 41.849.247,92 71,99 %

Sonstige betriebliche 
Erträge 14.475.914,94 14,48 % 14.749.065,04 25,37 % (273.150,10) (1,85 %)

Verwaltungsaufwand (27.668.035,37) (27,67 %) (29.390.892,58) (50,56 %) 1.722.857,21 (5,86 %)

Betriebsergebnis (13.192.120,43) (13,19 %) (14.641.827,54) (25,19 %) 1.449.707,11 (9,90 %)

Ergebnis der gewöhnlichen 
Geschäftstätigkeit 86.786.750,77 86,81 % 43.487.795,74 74,81 % 43.298.955,03 99,57 %

Jahresüberschuss 86.821.171,49 86,84 % 44.585.894,65 76,70 % 42.235.276,84 94,73 %
    

 

Der Finanzerfolg veränderte sich bedingt durch höhere Beteiligungserträge im Jahr 2015 auf  

EUR 99.978.871,20 (2014: EUR 58.129.623,28). Diese resultieren im Wesentlichen aus der Dividende der 

Mayr-Melnhof Cartonboard International GmbH in Höhe von EUR 100.000.000,00 (2014:  

EUR 25.000.000,00; Mayr-Melnhof Packaging International GmbH EUR 25.000.000,00; Lokalbahn 

Payerbach-Hirschwang Gesellschaft m.b.H. EUR 7.400.000,00).  

Aufgrund des niedrigen Zinsniveaus und der geringeren Festgeldveranlagungen verringerten sich die 

Zinserträge von EUR 355.618,15 im Vorjahr auf EUR 113.265,87 im aktuellen Geschäftsjahr. 

Der Verwaltungsaufwand verminderte sich infolge niedrigerer konzerninterner Umlagen von  

EUR 29.390.892,58 auf EUR 27.668.035,37. 

Die Kennzahlen zu Ertragslage berechnen sich wie folgt: 

   

            2015 2014 

Cash Earnings = 

+ Jahresüberschuss 

=

86.821.171,49

= 86.904.492,08 44.642.596,70 
+ Abschreibungen (auf 

Sachanlagen und immaterielle 
Vermögensgegenstände) 

83.320,59

+ latente Steuern 0,00

             

Eigenkapitalrentabilität nach 
Steuern 

= 
Jahresüberschuss 

=
86.821.171,49

= 18,74 % 9,14 % 
Durchschnittl. Eigenkapital 463.401.603,07
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f ––– Nichtfinanzielle Leistungsindikatoren 

Personal 

Die Gesellschaft beschäftigt keine Arbeitnehmer. 

Umweltbelange 

Die MM Gruppe bekennt sich in ihrer Unternehmenspolitik zum Schutz der Umwelt und einer effizien-

ten, nachhaltig ressourcenschonenden Leistungserbringung. Unsere Kartonprodukte fertigen wir unter 

Einsatz modernster Technologien aus vorwiegend nachwachsenden und recyclebaren Rohstoffen. 

Karton verarbeiten wir in hocheffizienten Prozessen zu Verpackungen für Konsumgüter, welche nach 

Verwendung nahezu vollständig wiederverwertet werden können. Dadurch ist Kreislaufwirtschaft ein 

immanenter Teil unserer Geschäftstätigkeit und Karton ein Verpackungsmaterial, das neben produkt-

technischen und wirtschaftlichen Vorteilen auch in Bezug auf den Umweltschutz höchste Nachhaltig-

keit aufweist. 

Dem industriellen Führungsanspruch des Konzerns entsprechend ist es Ziel, langfristig bestmögliche 

Standards in sämtlichen Unternehmensbereichen zu erreichen und zu behaupten. Daher verfolgen wir 

den Ansatz, „Best Practice“ einzelner Standorte über ein herausforderndes konzernweites Benchmar-

king allerorts im Konzern zu etablieren. Demzufolge verzeichnen wir auch bei vielen umweltrelevanten 

Werten, wie spezifischen Verbräuchen oder Emissionen, industrielle Spitzenwerte, mit der Ambition, 

diese durch kontinuierlichen technischen Fortschritt weiter zu verbessern.  

Regelmäßig überprüfen wir daher die Einhaltung dieser Werte, um allen Anforderungen zu entspre-

chen. Ferner evaluieren wir unsere Produkte und Prozesse laufend im Hinblick auf die Nutzung neuer 

Optimierungspotentiale. Dabei gilt unser Augenmerk der gesamten Wertschöpfungskette und umfasst 

somit auch der Produktion vor- und nachgelagerte Bereiche wie Einkauf, Logistik, Verbrauch beim 

Konsumenten und Wiederverwertbarkeit. 

 

g ––– Zweigniederlassungen 

Die Gesellschaft betreibt keine Zweigniederlassungen. 

 

h ––– Ereignisse nach dem Abschlussstichtag 

Nach dem Bilanzstichtag sind keine Ereignisse eingetreten, die wesentliche Auswirkungen auf die 

Vermögens-, Finanz- und Ertragslage der Gesellschaft haben. 
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2 ––– DIE VORAUSSICHTLICHE ENTWICKLUNG UND DIE RISIKEN DES 
UNTERNEHMENS 

a ––– Voraussichtliche Entwicklung des Unternehmens in 2016 

Dieser Ausblick entspricht den Einschätzungen des Vorstandes zum 29. Februar 2016 und berücksich-

tigt keine Auswirkungen von möglichen Akquisitionen, Veräußerungen oder anderen strukturellen 

Änderungen innerhalb des Jahres 2016. Die vorangegangenen und nachfolgenden vorausblickenden 

Aussagen unterliegen sowohl bekannten als auch unbekannten Risiken und Unsicherheiten, die dazu 

führen können, dass die tatsächlichen Ereignisse von den hier getroffenen Aussagen abweichen können.  

Vor dem Hintergrund der schwachen konjunkturellen Entwicklung im Hauptmarkt Europa bleiben die 

Rahmenbedingungen für unser Geschäft herausfordernd und durch intensiven Wettbewerb geprägt. 

Zielsetzung für 2016 ist aber, den langfristigen Erfolgskurs sowohl im Karton- als auch Faltschachtelge-

schäft fortzusetzen. Wie bisher sollen organisches und akquisitives Wachstum einander ergänzen. Ge-

steigerte Produktivität wird den Output unserer Anlagen weiter erhöhen und die Einbeziehung der letzt-

jährigen Akquisition in Frankreich die Dynamik in 2016 unterstützen. Maßnahmen zur Steigerung der 

Kosteneffizienz werden konzernweit auf breiter Basis zur Behauptung der erreichten Margen fortgeführt. 

Da aus aktueller Sicht unmittelbar keine wesentlichen Veränderungen auf den Beschaffungsmärkten 

abzusehen sind, bleibt Preisdisziplin in beiden Divisionen ein Gebot der Stunde. 

Mit dem Schwerpunkt auf Reduktion der direkten Kosten werden wir unsere laufende Investitionstä-

tigkeit im bisherigen Ausmaß fortsetzen. 

Erweiterungen bei MM Packaging werden 2016 insbesondere die Standorte in Iran, Polen und Vietnam 

betreffen. 

Als Sonderinvestitionsprojekt von MM Karton wird im Jahr 2016 mit dem Ersatz des Kraftwerkes am 

Standort Frohnleiten in Österreich durch eine neue Gas- und Dampfturbinen-Anlage begonnen. Die 

Errichtung soll bis Ende 2017 erfolgen, jedoch ohne Einschränkungen für den kontinuierlichen Betrieb 

des Werkes. Die Kosten werden sich auf rund 40 Mio. EUR belaufen.  

Infolge der gegebenen Kurzfristigkeit des Geschäftes ist aktuell noch keine Ergebnisprognose für das 

laufende Jahr möglich. Mit den Rekordergebniswerten von 2015 wurde das Anspruchsniveau für 2016 

jedoch wieder weiter nach oben gelegt. 

Unsere Expansion über Akquisitionen bleibt auf Möglichkeiten innerhalb und außerhalb Europas  

gerichtet. 

Aus heutiger Sicht rechnet die Gesellschaft mit niedrigeren Beteiligungserträgen als im Geschäftsjahr 

2015. 
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b ––– Wesentliche Risiken und Ungewissheiten 

Die Gesellschaft ist als geschäftsleitende Holding mit einer Anzahl von Risiken konfrontiert, die ein 

systematisches und kontinuierliches Risikomanagement erforderlich machen. Zu den Finanzinstru-

menten, die in der Gesellschaft in bestimmten Fällen eine Konzentration des Finanzrisikos verursachen 

können, zählen vor allem liquide Mittel, Wertpapiere und Forderungen aus Beteiligungserträgen. Die 

Risiken und ihre potenziellen Auswirkungen werden im Rahmen des Risikomanagements erhoben, 

analysiert und auf Basis der definierten Risikopolitik bewältigt. Ziel ist es, die im Rahmen unserer Tä-

tigkeit entstehenden potenziellen Risiken frühzeitig zu identifizieren, zu bewerten, ihre Folgen abzu-

schätzen und geeignete Vorsorge- und Sicherungsmaßnahmen einzuleiten. 

Finanzinstrumente sind auf Vertrag basierende wirtschaftliche Vorgänge, die einen Anspruch auf Zah-

lungsmittel beinhalten. Dabei unterscheidet man einerseits originäre Finanzinstrumente wie liquide 

Mittel, Wertpapiere, Forderungen und Verbindlichkeiten aus Lieferungen und Leistungen oder auch 

Finanzforderungen und Finanzverbindlichkeiten. Andererseits gehören hierzu auch die derivativen 

Finanzinstrumente, die als Sicherungsgeschäfte zur Absicherung gegen Risiken aus Änderungen von 

Währungskursen eingesetzt werden. 

Ein aktives Cash- und Credit-Management stellt sicher, dass ausreichend Liquidität (eigene Mittel 

bzw. jederzeit ausnutzbare Kreditlinien) verfügbar ist, um eingegangene Verbindlichkeiten zu beglei-

chen. 

Die Forderungen aus Lieferungen und Leistungen bestehen ausschließlich gegenüber verbundenen 

Unternehmen. Für diese wurden daher keine Kundenkreditversicherungen abgeschlossen. 

Für unser Geschäft können zusätzlich zu den aufgeführten Risiken weitere Risiken bestehen. Zum 

gegenwärtigen Zeitpunkt sind solche Risiken nicht bekannt oder werden diese von uns für vernach-

lässigbar gehalten. 

Die Gesamteinschätzung der Risikosituation der Gesellschaft weist keine bestandsgefährdenden Ele-

mente auf. Derartige Risiken sind auch im kommenden Geschäftsjahr nicht zu erwarten. 
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3 ––– FORSCHUNG UND ENTWICKLUNG 

Ziel der Forschungs- und Entwicklungsarbeiten des Mayr-Melnhof Konzerns ist die langfristige Absi-

cherung sowie Stärkung der Wettbewerbsfähigkeit in den Kernkompetenzbereichen Karton und Falt-

schachtel. Die Gewährleistung einer verlässlichen Produktion auf dem Stand der Technik sowie früh-

zeitige, zukunftsgerichtete Optimierungen und Innovationen bei Produkten und Prozessen sind dabei 

wesentliche strategische Aspekte unserer Differenzierung auf dem Markt zur Behauptung von Kosten- 

und Technologieführerschaft. Die Innovationen der MM Gruppe orientieren sich stets an den Marktbe-

dürfnissen und werden nachhaltig durch spezifisches, konzerneigenes Know-how vorangetrieben. 

Unser Ansatz erstreckt sich über die gesamte Supply Chain und bezieht auch Ideen mit ein, welche 

über die klassischen Anwendungsfelder von Karton und Faltschachteln hinausgehen. 

Ein systematisches Innovationsmanagement ist Grundlage der F&E-Aktivitäten im Konzern und steu-

ert das Zusammenwirken von Experten aus verschiedenen Bereichen. Dazu ist in beiden Divisionen 

ein eigener Prozess eingerichtet, welcher Innovationsleistungen fördert, koordiniert und bis zur Um-

setzung begleitet. Durch die langfristige Zusammenarbeit mit Forschungsstätten und Gremien der 

Normung und Gesetzgebung stellen wir sicher, dass unsere Produkte und Serviceleistungen stets 

frühzeitig den neuesten Anforderungen entsprechen. Mit einem proaktiven Business Development 

verfolgen wir das Ziel, innovative Lösungen in enger Zusammenarbeit mit dem Kunden zügig auf den 

Markt zu bringen. 

Die aktuellen Anforderungstrends stellen insbesondere Themen wie Nachhaltigkeit, Sicherheit, Digita-

lisierung, E-Commerce, Convenience, Take-away, Individualisierung, Kreativität und Hochwertigkeit in 

den Mittelpunkt. Diesen widmen wir unsere Entwicklungsarbeiten stets mit dem Anspruch auf 

höchstmögliche Performance und Effizienz in der Umsetzung. 

 

a ––– Innovationstätigkeit 2015 in der Division MM Karton 

Unsere Innovationen in der Herstellung von Faltschachtelkarton gelten sowohl der laufenden Verbes-

serung von Produktparametern wie Festigkeit, Glanz, Glätte und Weißgrad als auch der Erarbeitung 

von individuellen Gesamtlösungen für spezifische Einsatzbereiche. Im Zuge dessen wird der Produkti-

onsprozess kontinuierlich modernisiert und das Angebotsspektrum sukzessive optimiert und erweitert. 

Organisatorisch werden die Innovationsleistungen von MM Karton schwerpunktmäßig durch das im 

Kartonwerk Frohnleiten eingerichtete F&E-Zentrum getragen, welches als Know-how-Pool Service-

leistungen sowohl für den Gesamtkonzern als auch für Dritte, insbesondere Kunden, erbringt. 

Ein besonderes Augenmerk lag im Jahr 2015 auf Karton mit funktionellen Barrieren sowie optimierten 

Oberflächeneigenschaften zur verbesserten Erschließung attraktiver Absatzbereiche. 

Mit Starcolor MirabellTM aus dem deutschen Kartonwerk in Neuss wurde ein hochwertiger  

GD2-Recyclingkarton für den Pharmamarkt geschaffen, welcher mit hervorragender Oberflächenquali-

tät optimale Ergebnisse bei Druck, Verarbeitung und Inkjet- bzw. Laser-Codierung liefert. 
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UD Braun aus dem österreichischen Werk in Hirschwang ist ein neuer Recyclingkarton mit brauner 

Vorder- und Rückseite, maßgeschneidert für die Verwendung im Online-Handel, bei natürlichen Kos-

metika, Heimwerkerprodukten und Ersatzteilen der Automobilindustrie. 

Multicolor BelvedereTM Flexo aus dem österreichischen Werk in Frohnleiten ist eine spezielle  

GT2-Recyclingkartonlösung, die dem verstärkten Take-away-Trend Rechnung trägt. Mit einer speziel-

len Oberfläche eignet sich dieser Recyclingkarton besonders für die äußere Schicht doppelwandiger 

Becher sowie für den Flexodruck. 

Mit dem MM LinerTM 180 gsm (Gramm/m2) aus dem slowenischen Werk in Kolicevo ist MM Karton nun 

auch im niedrigen Grammaturbereich des attraktiven Marktes gestrichener Deckstoffe für die Well-

pappenindustrie vertreten und bietet nun eine Bandbreite von 180 gsm bis 250 gsm. 

Multicolor MirabellTM Freeze, ein hochwertiger GD2-Recyclingkarton des deutschen Kartonwerkes in 

Gernsbach, gewährleistet durch eine effektive und umweltfreundliche Feuchtigkeitsbarriere besonde-

ren Schutz für Verpackungen gekühlter und gefrorener Lebensmittel.  

Optimus TopTM (GC1) aus unserem deutschen Frischfaserkartonwerk in Baiersbronn verbindet durch 

den auf 90 % verbesserten Weißgrad attraktives Aussehen mit ausgeprägter ökonomischer und ökolo-

gischer Anwenderfreundlichkeit. 

Für alle Frischfaserkartonqualitäten von MM Karton bestätigte die Papiertechnische Stiftung (PTS) 

optimale Laser- und Inkjet-Codiereigenschaften. Darüber hinaus konnten bei vielen dieser hochwerti-

gen Kartonsorten exzellente sensorische Werte erreicht werden. 

Mit FOODBOARDTM hat MM Karton einen neuen, hochwertigen gestrichenen Karton geschaffen, 

welcher durch eine innovative, verbraucherfreundliche und funktionelle Barriere optimalen Schutz vor 

definierten unerwünschten Substanzen für verpackte Lebensmittel bietet. Nach den in 2014 und 2015 

erfolgten Umbauten an der Kartonmaschine 3 in Frohnleiten und weiteren Optimierungen wird die 

Auslieferung von FOODBOARDTM im 1. Quartal 2016 aufgenommen. 

 

 

b ––– Innovationstätigkeit 2015 in der Division MM Packaging 

MM Packaging hat für seine Innovationsarbeit eine eigene internationale Teamstruktur geschaffen, 

welche Kompetenz, Erfahrung und Kreativität unterschiedlicher Disziplinen bündelt. Dadurch steht 

den Kunden das gesamte Know-how des MMP-Innovationsnetzwerkes für Produkt- und Prozessinno-

vationen zur Verfügung. Sämtliche in den Innovationsprozess involvierte Personen sind dabei in einem 

Competence Pool zusammengefasst und halten über die virtuelle Kommunikationsplattform,  

MMP Innovation Plaza, kontinuierlich Austausch. 

Den jeweiligen Aufgabenstellungen entsprechend werden maßgeschneiderte Projektteams gebildet. 

Innerhalb einzelner Projekte nimmt jeweils eine Person sowohl die interne als auch die zum Kunden 

gerichtete Leitungsfunktion wahr. Schließlich werden nur jene Lösungen dem Kunden präsentiert, 
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welche sowohl von den Produktionsstandorten als auch durch das Divisional Technical Support Team 

genehmigt wurden. 

Institutionelle Einrichtungen im Innovationsprozess von MM Packaging sind das Kreativzentrum 

PacProject in Hamburg, das Premium Packaging Center in Trier sowie die lokalen Packaging Develop-

ment Center einzelner Produktionsstandorte. 

Zielsetzung der Innovationstätigkeit von MM Packaging ist es, überzeugende Win-win-Lösungen zu 

schaffen, die einerseits dem Kunden Wettbewerbsvorteile durch die enge Verbindung von technischem 

Know-how und Marktkenntnis verschaffen und andererseits die Wertschöpfung und Wettbewerbskraft 

von MMP erhöhen. Das Spektrum der angebotenen Innovationsleistungen ist breit gefasst und reicht 

von der Strategieentwicklung über verschiedene Ideenentwicklungsmethoden bis zum individuellen 

Designkonzept, von Consumer Insights zur ersten Musterentwicklung sowie von hochwertigen Proto-

typen über Maschinenkonzeptentwicklungen bis zur Realisierung auf den Produktionsmaschinen. 

Die Umsetzung der Designs, Prototypen und Funktionalitäten erfolgt jeweils optimiert unter Rückgriff 

auf sämtliche Druck- und Veredelungsverfahren. In der Umsetzung gewährleisten wir höchste Effizi-

enz durch kontinuierliche Optimierung von Produktions- und Supply-Chain-Parametern. Durch lau-

fende Investitionen in modernste Technologien und ein nachhaltiges Wissensmanagement schaffen 

wir dafür eine solide Grundlage. 

Interaktive und für den E-Commerce optimierte Verpackungslösungen sind bereits ein fester Bestand-

teil der verfügbaren Innovationsleistungen, welche von einem Team aus Designern und Verpackungs-

spezialisten permanent auf dem neuesten Stand gehalten werden. Gerüstet mit diesem Wissen und 

der engen Zusammenarbeit mit Lieferanten und Instituten ist MM Packaging auch für die digitale 

Zukunft ein starker Innovationspartner seiner Kunden. 

Verschiedene Auszeichnungen der Verpackungsindustrie, vom Deutschen Verpackungspreis bis zum 

Pro Carton ECMA Award, belegten auch im Jahr 2015 wieder die positive Resonanz des Marktes auf 

die Innovationsleistungen von MM Packaging. 
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4 ––– DIE WESENTLICHEN MERKMALE DES INTERNEN KONTROLL- UND DES 
RISIKOMANAGEMENTSYSTEMS IM HINBLICK AUF DEN 
RECHNUNGSLEGUNGSPROZESS 

Das interne Kontrollsystem im Hinblick auf den Rechnungslegungsprozess und die Finanzberichter-

stattung gewährleistet die Vollständigkeit, Zuverlässigkeit und Nachvollziehbarkeit der Finanzinforma-

tionen und Datenverarbeitungssysteme. Darüber hinaus werden die Zweckmäßigkeit und Wirtschaft-

lichkeit der Prozesse sowie die Einhaltung der gesetzlichen, vertraglichen und internen Regelungen 

sichergestellt.  

Der Rechnungslegungsprozess umfasst dabei alle wesentlichen Arbeitsschritte, die gewährleisten, 

dass die rechnungslegungsrelevanten Informationen vollständig erfasst werden und die Abbildung in 

der Finanzberichterstattung den Vorschriften des Unternehmensgesetzbuches entspricht. 

In der Aufbau- und Ablauforganisation sind klare und eindeutige Verantwortungen bezogen auf die 

Einzelgesellschaften und den Konzern vorgegeben. Den zentralen Funktionsbereichen „Konzernrech-

nungslegung“ sowie „Berichtswesen und Planungsrechnung“ obliegt dabei die Ausgestaltung einheit-

licher Konzernrichtlinien auf dem neuesten fachlichen Stand sowie die Organisation und Kontrolle der 

Finanzberichterstattung im Konzern.  

Die Finanzberichterstattung an Aufsichtsrat und Vorstand erfolgt regelmäßig, umfassend und zeitnah. 

Die Einhaltung der gesellschaftsinternen Richtlinien und Verfahren für die Erfassung, Verbuchung und 

Bilanzierung von Geschäftsfällen wird regelmäßig kontrolliert. Wesentliche vordefinierte Kontrollaktivi-

täten müssen nachweislich erbracht und umgehend berichtet werden. Die verwendeten Datenverar-

beitungssysteme werden gezielt weiterentwickelt und laufend optimiert. 

Der Rechnungslegungsprozess und die Finanzberichterstattung werden systematisch auf mögliche 

Risiken geprüft und regelmäßig evaluiert. Optimierungsmaßnahmen werden rasch eingeleitet und 

zügig umgesetzt. 

 

  



 

 
 

 LAGEBERICHT DER MAYR-MELNHOF KARTON AG 

MAYR-MELNHOF KARTON AG, ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2015 136 

5 ––– ANGABEN ZU KAPITAL-, ANTEILS-, STIMM- UND KONTROLLRECHTEN UND 
DAMIT VERBUNDENEN VERPFLICHTUNGEN 

Zusammensetzung des Kapitals, Aktiengattungen 

Es wird auf die Anhangangabe 3e verwiesen. 

Beschränkungen hinsichtlich der Stimmrechte bzw. der Übertragung von Aktien 

Rund 59 % der Aktien werden von den Kernaktionärsfamilien in einem Syndikat gehalten. Es besteht 

ein Syndikatsvertrag, welcher die Übertragbarkeit der Aktien innerhalb des Syndikates und nach außen 

regelt. Angelegenheiten, die die Hauptversammlung betreffen, beschließt das Syndikat mit 65 % der 

Stimmen. Änderungen des Syndikatsvertrages bedürfen 90 % der Stimmen. 

Direkte oder indirekte Beteiligungen am Kapital, die zumindest 10 vom Hundert betragen 

Nach den der Gesellschaft bekannt gegebenen Informationen bestanden per Jahresende 2015 folgende 

Beteiligungen von mindestens 10 Prozent am Kapital: 

MMS Mayr-Melnhof-Saurau Beteiligungsverwaltung KG 

CAMA Privatstiftung 

Die Inhaber von Aktien mit besonderen Kontrollrechten und eine Beschreibung dieser 

Rechte 

Es bestehen keine Aktien mit besonderen Kontrollrechten. 

Die Art der Stimmrechtskontrolle bei einer Kapitalbeteiligung der Arbeitnehmer, wenn 

sie das Stimmrecht nicht unmittelbar ausüben 

Es besteht kein derartiges Kapitalbeteiligungsmodell für Mitarbeiter. 

Die sich nicht unmittelbar aus dem Gesetz ergebenden Bestimmungen über die 

Ernennung und Abberufung der Mitglieder des Vorstandes und des Aufsichtsrates und 

über die Änderung der Satzung der Gesellschaft 

Es bestehen keine Bestimmungen dieser Art. 

Die sich nicht unmittelbar aus dem Gesetz ergebenden Befugnisse der Mitglieder des 

Vorstandes, insbesondere hinsichtlich der Möglichkeit, Aktien auszugeben oder 

zurückzukaufen 

Es bestehen keine Befugnisse dieser Art. 

Alle bedeutenden Vereinbarungen, an denen die Gesellschaft beteiligt ist und die bei 

einem Kontrollwechsel in der Gesellschaft infolge eines Übernahmeangebotes wirksam 

werden, sich ändern oder enden, sowie ihre Wirkungen; ausgenommen hiervon sind 

Vereinbarungen, deren Bekanntmachung der Gesellschaft erheblich schaden würde, es 

sei denn, die Gesellschaft ist zur Bekanntgabe derartiger Informationen aufgrund anderer 

Rechtsvorschriften ausdrücklich verpflichtet 

Es wird von der Schutzklausel hinsichtlich der Bekanntgabe Gebrauch gemacht. Die Größenordnung 

des betroffenen Geschäftes ist als überschaubar einzustufen. 
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Bestand und wesentlicher Inhalt von Entschädigungsvereinbarungen zwischen der 

Gesellschaft und ihren Vorstands- und Aufsichtsratsmitgliedern oder Arbeitnehmern für 

den Fall eines öffentlichen Übernahmeangebotes 

Es bestehen keine Vereinbarungen dieser Art. 

 

Wien, am 29. Februar 2016 

 

Der Vorstand 

Mayr-Melnhof Karton Aktiengesellschaft 

Dr. Wilhelm HÖRMANSEDER e.h. 

Dr. Andreas BLASCHKE e.h. Mag. Gotthard MAYRINGER e.h. Ing. Franz RAPPOLD e.h. 
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Bilanz 
 

AKTIVA 
(in EUR) 

Stand 
31. Dez. 2015 

Stand 
31. Dez. 2014 

PASSIVA 
(in EUR)                    

Stand 
31. Dez. 2015 

Stand 
31. Dez. 2014 

A. ANLAGEVERMÖGEN   A. EIGENKAPITAL     

I. Sachanlagen   I. Grundkapital 80.000.000,00 80.000.000,00 

1. Grundstücke, grundstückgleiche Rechte und Bauten, einschließlich der Bauten auf 
fremdem Grund 2.046.504,60 2.102.264,18

      

2. Andere Anlagen, Betriebs- und Geschäftsausstattung 85.801,79 0,00 II. Kapitalrücklagen     

  2.132.306,39 2.102.264,18 1. Gebundene Kapitalrücklagen 172.658.448,08 172.658.448,08 

II. Finanzanlagen         

1. Anteile an verbundenen Unternehmen 284.036.939,31 284.036.939,31 III. Gewinnrücklagen     

2. Beteiligungen 494.917,78 494.917,78 1. Andere Rücklagen (freie Rücklagen) 184.153.740,73 149.332.569,24 

3. Wertpapiere (Wertrechte) des Anlagevermögens 6.814.070,50 5.723.396,54       

  291.345.927,59 290.255.253,63 IV. Bilanzgewinn 28.000.000,00 60.000.000,00 

  293.478.233,98 292.357.517,81 davon Gewinnvortrag EUR 8.000.000,00 (2014: EUR 4.000.000,00)     

      464.812.188,81 461.991.017,32 

B. UMLAUFVERMÖGEN         

I. Forderungen und sonstige Vermögensgegenstände   B. RÜCKSTELLUNGEN     

1. Forderungen gegenüber verbundenen Unternehmen 90.956.158,90 4.618.659,62 1. Rückstellungen für Abfertigungen 769.288,00 668.895,00 

2. Sonstige Forderungen und Vermögensgegenstände 2.410.764,48 5.051.247,29 2. Rückstellungen für Pensionen 8.194.349,00 8.791.524,00 

  93.366.923,38 9.669.906,91 3. Steuerrückstellungen 77.683,83 1.071.196,98 

II. Kassenbestand und Guthaben bei Kreditinstituten 90.479.707,36 231.190.124,86 4. Sonstige Rückstellungen 633.161,82 433.784,53 

  183.846.630,74 240.860.031,77   9.674.482,65 10.965.400,51 

          

C. RECHNUNGSABGRENZUNGSPOSTEN 185.782,34 146.972,75 C. VERBINDLICHKEITEN     

    1. Verbindlichkeiten aus Leistungen 190.891,67 39.876,64 

    2. Verbindlichkeiten gegenüber verbundenen Unternehmen 2.812.293,58 60.354.806,19 

    3. Sonstige Verbindlichkeiten     

    a) Steuern 11.496,30 7.404,30 

    b) Soziale Sicherheit 7.288,78 5.789,25 

    c) Übrige 2.005,27 228,12 

      20.790,35 13.421,67 

      3.023.975,60 60.408.104,50 

SUMME AKTIVA 477.510.647,06 533.364.522,33 SUMME PASSIVA 477.510.647,06 533.364.522,33  
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Gewinn- und Verlustrechnung  
  

(in EUR) 2015 2014 

1. Erträge aus Beteiligungen    

a) Verbundene Unternehmen 100.000.000,00 57.716.283,85

b) Übrige 140.000,00 70.000,00

  100.140.000,00 57.786.283,85

2. Sonstige Zinsen und ähnliche Erträge    

a) Verbundene Unternehmen 8,33 17.631,95

b) Übrige 144.332,61 357.197,52

  144.340,94 374.829,47

3. Erträge aus dem Abgang von und der Zuschreibung zu Finanzanlagen und Wertpapieren des 
Umlaufvermögens 0,00 155.128,25

4. Zinsen und ähnliche Aufwendungen    

a) Verbundene Unternehmen (116.202,04) (104.314,49)

b) Übrige (189.267,70) (82.303,80)

  (305.469,74) (186.618,29)

5. Zwischensumme aus Z 1 bis 4 (Finanzerfolg) 99.978.871,20 58.129.623,28

6. Sonstige betriebliche Erträge    

a) Erträge aus dem Abgang vom und der Zuschreibung zum Anlagevermögen mit Ausnahme 
der Finanzanlagen 0,00 609,84

b) Übrige 14.475.914,94 14.748.455,20

  14.475.914,94 14.749.065,04

7. Personalaufwand    

a) Gehälter (4.218.113,23) (2.781.207,89)

b) Aufwendungen für Abfertigungen und Leistungen an betriebliche 
Mitarbeitervorsorgekassen (102.192,92) (99.893,42)

c) Aufwendungen für Altersversorgung 673.884,99 (304.651,02)

d) Aufwendungen für gesetzlich vorgeschriebene Sozialabgaben sowie vom Entgelt 
abhängige Abgaben und Pflichtbeiträge (276.459,07) (183.880,50)

  (3.922.880,23) (3.369.632,83)

8. Abschreibungen    

a) auf Sachanlagen (83.320,59) (56.702,05)

  (83.320,59) (56.702,05)

9. Sonstige betriebliche Aufwendungen    

a) Steuern, soweit sie nicht unter Steuern vom Einkommen und vom Ertrag fallen (1.714,35) (1.714,35)

b) Übrige (23.660.120,20) (25.962.843,35)

  (23.661.834,55) (25.964.557,70)

10. Zwischensumme aus Z 6 bis 9 (Betriebserfolg) (13.192.120,43) (14.641.827,54)

11. Ergebnis der gewöhnlichen Geschäftstätigkeit 86.786.750,77 43.487.795,74

12. Steuern vom Einkommen und vom Ertrag 34.420,72 1.098.098,91

13. Jahresüberschuss 86.821.171,49 44.585.894,65

14. Auflösung von Gewinnrücklagen 0,00 11.414.105,35

15. Zuweisung zu Gewinnrücklagen (34.821.171,49) 0,00

16. Jahresgewinn 52.000.000,00 56.000.000,00

17. Gewinnvortrag aus dem Vorjahr 8.000.000,00 4.000.000,00

18. Abschlagszahlung auf den Bilanzgewinn (32.000.000,00) 0,00

19. Bilanzgewinn 28.000.000,00 60.000.000,00
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Anhang 
der Mayr-Melnhof Karton Aktiengesellschaft für das 
Geschäftsjahr 1. Jänner 2015 bis 31. Dezember 2015 

1 ––– ALLGEMEINE ERLÄUTERUNGEN 

Der vorliegende Jahresabschluss wurde unter Beachtung der Grundsätze ordnungsmäßiger 

Buchführung und der Generalnorm, ein möglichst getreues Bild der Vermögens-, Finanz- und 

Ertragslage des Unternehmens zu vermitteln, aufgestellt. Die Bestimmungen des 

Unternehmensgesetzbuches stellen die Grundlage dieses Jahresabschlusses dar. 

Die auf den vorjährigen Jahresabschluss angewandten Bewertungsmethoden wurden beibehalten. 

Der Grundsatz der Vollständigkeit wurde bei der Erstellung des Jahresabschlusses eingehalten. 

Bei der Bewertung der einzelnen Vermögensgegenstände und Schulden wurde der Grundsatz der 

Einzelbewertung beachtet und eine Fortführung des Unternehmens unterstellt. 

Dem Vorsichtsprinzip wurde dadurch Rechnung getragen, dass nur die am Abschlussstichtag 

verwirklichten Gewinne ausgewiesen wurden. Alle erkennbaren Risiken und drohenden Verluste 

wurden berücksichtigt. 

Die Gliederung der Gewinn- und Verlustrechnung wird nach dem Gesamtkostenverfahren aufgestellt 

und entsprechend der Holdingfunktion der Mayr-Melnhof Karton Aktiengesellschaft so dargestellt, 

dass der Finanzerfolg an den Anfang der Gewinn- und Verlustrechnung gestellt wird. 
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2 ––– BILANZIERUNGS- UND BEWERTUNGSMETHODEN 

a ––– Anlagevermögen 

Sachanlagen 

Das Sachanlagevermögen ist mit Anschaffungs- zuzüglich Anschaffungsnebenkosten bewertet. 

Die Ermittlung der planmäßigen Abschreibung erfolgt linear unter Anwendung folgender 

Nutzungsdauern: 

Gebäude 10 - 50 Jahre 

Andere Anlagen, Betriebs- und Geschäftsausstattung 3 - 7 Jahre 

Geringwertige Wirtschaftsgüter werden im Jahr der Anschaffung gemäß § 13 EStG in Verbindung mit 

§ 205 Abs. 1 UGB sofort abgeschrieben und als Aufwand verbucht. 

Finanzanlagen 

Die Anteile an verbundenen Unternehmen und die Beteiligungen sind zu Anschaffungskosten 

bewertet. Voraussichtlich dauerhafte und wesentliche Wertminderungen werden durch 

außerplanmäßige Abschreibungen berücksichtigt. 

Als verbundene Unternehmen werden alle Gesellschaften bezeichnet, die unmittelbar oder mittelbar 

im Mehrheitsbesitz oder unter einheitlicher Leitung der Gesellschaft stehen (§ 244 Absatz 1 UGB). 

Die Wertpapiere (Wertrechte) des Anlagevermögens (Rückdeckungsversicherungen) sind mit dem 

Deckungswert bewertet. 

 

b ––– Umlaufvermögen 

Forderungen und sonstige Vermögensgegenstände 

Forderungen und sonstige Vermögensgegenstände sind mit dem Nennwert angesetzt. Erkennbare 

Einzelrisiken werden durch Wertberichtigungen berücksichtigt. 

 

c ––– Rückstellungen 

Rückstellungen werden nach dem Grundsatz der kaufmännischen Vorsicht in Höhe des 

voraussichtlichen Anfalls gebildet. 

Die Pensions- und Abfertigungsrückstellungen werden zum 31. Dezember 2015 methodisch 

unverändert aber erstmals gemäß der Stellungnahme des Austrian Financial Reporting and Auditing 

Committee (AFRAC) „Rückstellungen für Pensions-, Abfertigungs-, Jubiläumsgeld- und vergleichbare 

langfristig fällige Verpflichtungen nach den Vorschriften des Unternehmensgesetzbuches“, Stand Juni 

2015, bilanziert. Bei der Berechnung, die nach dem Anwartschaftsbarwertverfahren ("Projected Unit 

Credit Method") erfolgt, werden zukünftige Lohn- und Gehaltssteigerungen in Form einer langfristigen 
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Prognose berücksichtigt. Der Zinssatz wird nach dem aktuellen langfristigen Zinssatz am Kapitalmarkt 

zum Bilanzstichtag bemessen. 

Der Berechnung der Pensions- und Abfertigungsrückstellungen wurde das frühest mögliche 

Anfallsalter für die (vorzeitige) Alterspension gemäß Pensionsreform 2004 (Budgetbegleitgesetz 2003) 

unter Berücksichtigung der Übergangsregelungen sowie die biometrischen Richttafeln AVÖ 2008-P 

„Angestellte“ bzw. „Gemischt“ Pagler & Pagler zugrunde gelegt. Für Vorstandsmitglieder wurde 

ausschließlich auf die Dauer des Vorstandsmandats abgestellt. 

 
d ––– Verbindlichkeiten 

Die Verbindlichkeiten sind mit ihrem Rückzahlungsbetrag erfasst.  

 

e ––– Währungsumrechnung 

Fremdwährungsforderungen sowie die Zahlungsmittel in Fremdwährungen sind mit dem 

Anschaffungskurs bzw. dem niedrigeren Devisenkurs zum Bilanzstichtag bewertet worden. 

Die Fremdwährungsverbindlichkeiten sind mit dem Anschaffungskurs bzw. dem höheren Devisenkurs 

zum Bilanzstichtag bewertet worden. 
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3 ––– ERLÄUTERUNGEN ZU EINZELNEN POSTEN DER BILANZ UND GEWINN- UND VERLUSTRECHNUNG 

BILANZ  

a ––– Anlagenspiegel gemäß § 226 UGB 

   

  Anschaffungs- bzw. Herstellungskosten Kumulierte Abschreibungen 

Buchwert Buchwert 

Ab- bzw. 
Zuschreibungen 

des 
Geschäftsjahres   Stand  Zugänge Abgänge Stand Stand Zugänge Abgänge Stand 

(in EUR) 01.01.2015 2015 2015 31.12.2015 01.01.2015 2015 2015 31.12.2015 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 2015 

I. Sachanlagen                

1. Grundstücke und Bauten                

a) Grundwert 577.352,82 0,00 0,00 577.352,82 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 577.352,82 577.352,82 0,00 

b) Gebäudewert 2.641.168,05 0,00 0,00 2.641.168,05 1.116.256,69 55.759,58 0,00 1.172.016,27 1.469.151,78 1.524.911,36 55.759,58 

2. Andere Anlagen, Betriebs- und 
Geschäftsausstattung 0,00 113.362,80 0,00 113.362,80 0,00 27.561,01 0,00 27.561,01 85.801,79 0,00 27.561,01 

Summe I 3.218.520,87 113.362,80 0,00 3.331.883,67 1.116.256,69 83.320,59 0,00 1.199.577,28 2.132.306,39 2.102.264,18 83.320,59 

II. Finanzanlagen                

1. Anteile an verbundenen Unternehmen 284.036.939,31 0,00 0,00 284.036.939,31 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 284.036.939,31 284.036.939,31 0,00 

2. Beteiligungen   494.917,78 0,00 0,00 494.917,78 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 494.917,78 494.917,78 0,00 

3. Wertpapiere (Wertrechte) des Anlagevermögens 5.723.396,54 1.167.949,94 77.275,98 6.814.070,50 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 6.814.070,50 5.723.396,54 0,00 

Summe II 290.255.253,63 1.167.949,94 77.275,98 291.345.927,59 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 291.345.927,59 290.255.253,63 0,00 

Gesamt 293.473.774,50 1.281.312,74 77.275,98 294.677.811,26 1.116.256,69 83.320,59 0,00 1.199.577,28 293.478.233,98 292.357.517,81 83.320,59 
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b ––– Aufgliederung der Anteile an verbundenen Unternehmen 

  
  31.12.2015 Geschäftsjahr 2014 

(in EUR) Anteil in %  Eigenkapital Jahresergebnis

Lokalbahn Payerbach-Hirschwang Gesellschaft m.b.H., 
Reichenau an der Rax (AUT) 1) 100,00 14.550.974,96 k. A

Mayr-Melnhof Cartonboard International GmbH, 
Wien (AUT) 1) 100,00 283.799.426,79 k. A

Mayr-Melnhof Packaging International GmbH, 
Wien (AUT) 1) 100,00 322.574.788,99 k. A

  
1) Hinsichtlich der Angabe der Jahresergebnisse wird von der Schutzklausel gemäß § 241 Abs. 2 UGB Gebrauch gemacht. 

 
c ––– Wertpapiere (Wertrechte) des Anlagevermögens 

Unter Wertpapiere (Wertrechte) sind die Rückdeckungsversicherungen zu den 

Pensionsverpflichtungen ausgewiesen. Diese sind zugunsten der Pensionsberechtigten verpfändet.  

 
d ––– Forderungenspiegel 

Zum 31. Dezember 2015 gliedern sich die Forderungen wie folgt: 

  

(in EUR) Gesamtbetrag 

Davon 
Restlaufzeit 
unter 1 Jahr 

1. Forderungen gegenüber verbundenen Unternehmen    

a) aus Lieferungen und Leistungen 752.526,88  752.526,88 

b) aus sonstigen Forderungen 90.203.632,02  90.203.632,02 

  90.956.158,90 90.956.158,90 

2. Sonstige Forderungen und Vermögensgegenstände 2.410.764,48 2.410.764,48

Gesamt 93.366.923,38 93.366.923,38
  

 

In den sonstigen Forderungen und Vermögensgegenständen sind Erträge von unwesentlicher Höhe 

enthalten, welche erst nach dem Bilanzstichtag zahlungswirksam werden. 
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Zum 31. Dezember 2014 gliederten sich die Forderungen wie folgt: 

  

(in EUR) Gesamtbetrag 

Davon 
Restlaufzeit 
unter 1 Jahr 

1. Forderungen gegenüber verbundenen Unternehmen    

a) aus Lieferungen und Leistungen 689.455,43  689.455,43 

b) aus sonstigen Forderungen 3.929.204,19  3.929.204,19 

  4.618.659,62 4.618.659,62 

2. Sonstige Forderungen und Vermögensgegenstände 5.051.247,29 5.051.247,29

Gesamt 9.669.906,91 9.669.906,91
  

 

e ––– Eigenkapital 

Grundkapital 

Das Grundkapital in der Höhe von EUR 80.000.000,00 ist in 20.000.000 Stück nennbetragslose 

Stückaktien eingeteilt, von denen jede am Grundkapital in gleichem Umfang beteiligt ist. 

Im Geschäftsjahr 2015 wurde zusätzlich zur Dividendenzahlung für das Geschäftsjahr 2014 in Höhe 

von EUR 2,60 je Aktie eine Zwischendividende für 2015 von EUR 1,60 je Aktie ausbezahlt. Dies 

entspricht einer Auszahlungssumme von EUR 52.000.000,00 für 2014 und EUR 32.000.000,00 für 2015. 

Des Weiteren schlägt der Vorstand vor, aus dem Bilanzgewinn 2015 eine Dividende von weiteren  

EUR 1,20 je Aktie auszuschütten. 
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f ––– Rückstellungen 

Abfertigungs-und Pensionsverpflichtungen 

Die Rechenparameter zu den jeweiligen Stichtagen stellen sich wie folgt dar: 

 
  31.12.2015 31.12.2014 

(in %) Abfertigungen Pensionen Abfertigungen Pensionen 

Abzinsungsfaktor 2,15 % 2,15 % 1,90 % 1,90 %

Langfristige Gehaltssteigerungsraten 2,50 % 2,50 % 2,50 % 2,50 %

Langfristige Rentensteigerungsraten - 2,00 % - 2,00 %
 

 

Versicherungsmathematische Gewinne bzw. Verluste, die sich aufgrund von Änderungen im Bestand 

der Versorgungsberechtigten und Abweichungen der tatsächlichen Entwicklung gegenüber den der 

Berechnung zugrunde gelegten Annahmen ergeben, werden zur Gänze erfolgswirksam erfasst.  

Die Pensionsrückstellungen wurden aufgrund des Saldierungsverbots nicht mit den zu ihrer Deckung 

bestimmten Vermögenswerten saldiert. 

Die Anwartschaftsbarwerte betreffend Abfertigungs- bzw. Pensionsverpflichtungen sowie die 

Überleitung zum bilanzierten Rückstellungsbetrag stellen sich wie folgt dar: 

  

(in EUR) Abfertigungen Pensionen 

Bilanzierte langfristige Rückstellung 31.12.2014 668.895,00 8.791.524,00

Zuführung Dienstzeitaufwand 2015 27.744,00 312.632,00

Zuführung Zinsaufwand 2015 12.182,00 164.881,00

Auszahlungen 2015 0,00 (241.166,00)

Versicherungsmathematische (Gewinne) bzw. Verluste 2015 60.467,00 (833.522,00)

Bilanzierte langfristige Rückstellung 31.12.2015 769.288,00 8.194.349,00
  

 

Sonstige Rückstellungen 

Die sonstigen Rückstellungen enthalten im Wesentlichen Rückstellungen für Rechts-, Prüfungs- und 

Beratungsaufwand und die Vergütung für die Aufsichtsratstätigkeit. 
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g ––– Verbindlichkeitenspiegel 

Die Restlaufzeiten der Verbindlichkeiten zum 31. Dezember 2015 stellen sich wie folgt dar: 

 

(in EUR) Gesamtbetrag

Davon 
Restlaufzeit
unter 1 Jahr 

Davon 
Restlaufzeit 
über 1 Jahr 
bis 5 Jahre 

Davon 
Restlaufzeit 
über 5 Jahre 

1. Verbindlichkeiten aus Lieferungen und 
Leistungen 190.891,67 190.891,67 0,00 0,00

2. Verbindlichkeiten gegenüber verbundenen 
Unternehmen      

a) aus Lieferungen und Leistungen 4.991.115,55 4.991.115,55 0,00 0,00

b) aus sonstigen Verbindlichkeiten (2.178.821,97) (2.178.821,97) 0,00 0,00

  2.812.293,58 2.812.293,58 0,00 0,00

3. Sonstige Verbindlichkeiten      

a) Steuern 11.496,30 11.496,30 0,00 0,00

b) Soziale Sicherheit 7.288,78 7.288,78 0,00 0,00

c) Übrige 2.005,27 2.005,27 0,00 0,00

  20.790,35 20.790,35 0,00 0,00

Gesamt 3.023.975,60 3.023.975,60 0,00 0,00
 

 
Aufgrund des saldierten Ausweises von Forderungen und Verbindlichkeiten einzelner 

Konzerngesellschaften sind in den Verbindlichkeiten gegenüber verbundenen Unternehmen auch 

Forderungen gegenüber verbundenen Unternehmen in Höhe von EUR 2.410.654,58 enthalten. 

In den sonstigen Verbindlichkeiten sind Aufwendungen in Höhe von EUR 20.105,33 enthalten, welche 

erst nach dem Bilanzstichtag zahlungswirksam werden. 
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Die Restlaufzeiten der Verbindlichkeiten zum 31. Dezember 2014 stellten sich wie folgt dar: 

 

(in EUR) Gesamtbetrag

Davon 
Restlaufzeit
unter 1 Jahr 

Davon 
Restlaufzeit 
über 1 Jahr 
bis 5 Jahre 

Davon 
Restlaufzeit 
über 5 Jahre 

1. Verbindlichkeiten aus Lieferungen und 
Leistungen 39.876,64 39.876,64 0,00 0,00

2. Verbindlichkeiten gegenüber verbundenen 
Unternehmen 

     

a) aus Lieferungen und Leistungen 11.112.289,94 11.112.289,94 0,00 0,00

b) aus sonstigen Verbindlichkeiten 49.242.516,25 49.242.516,25 0,00 0,00

  60.354.806,19 60.354.806,19 0,00 0,00

3. Sonstige Verbindlichkeiten      

a) Steuern 7.404,30 7.404,30 0,00 0,00

b) Soziale Sicherheit 5.789,25 5.789,25 0,00 0,00

c) Übrige 228,12 228,12 0,00 0,00

  13.421,67 13.421,67 0,00 0,00

Gesamt 60.408.104,50 60.408.104,50 0,00 0,00
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GEWINN- UND VERLUSTRECHNUNG 

a ––– Sonstige betriebliche Erträge 

Die sonstigen betrieblichen Erträge enthalten im Wesentlichen Erlöse für Dienstleistungen an 

verbundene Unternehmen.  

 

b ––– Personalaufwand 

Die unter den Aufwendungen für Abfertigungen und Leistungen an betriebliche 

Mitarbeitervorsorgekassen enthaltenen Beiträge an die Mitarbeitervorsorgekasse betragen EUR 13.981,92 

(2014: EUR 6.463,42). 

Der Gesamtbetrag der Aufwendungen für Abfertigungen und Altersversorgung für den Vorstand gliedert 

sich wie folgt: 

  

(in EUR) 2015 2014 

Anpassung der Abfertigungsrückstellung 100.393,00 110.863,00

Anpassung der Pensionsrückstellung 69.190,00 0,00
  

 

c ––– Sonstige betriebliche Aufwendungen 

Zu den Aufwendungen, die im Geschäftsjahr auf die Tätigkeit des Abschlussprüfers entfallen, wird auf 

die Angaben im Konzernabschluss zum 31. Dezember 2015 der Mayr-Melnhof Karton 

Aktiengesellschaft verwiesen.  

 

d ––– Steuern vom Einkommen und vom Ertrag 

Im Dezember 2005 hat die Gesellschaft als Gruppenträger einen Antrag auf Feststellung einer 

Unternehmensgruppe gemäß § 9 Abs. 8 KStG 1988 mit nachfolgend angeführten verbundenen 

Unternehmen als Gruppenmitglieder zum Zwecke der Gruppenbesteuerung ab dem Veranlagungsjahr 

2005 eingebracht. Es wurde ein Steuerumlagevertrag abgeschlossen, der die Belastungsmethode vorsieht. 

Die Gruppenmitglieder sind: 

Mayr-Melnhof Karton Gesellschaft m.b.H., Frohnleiten 

Mayr-Melnhof Cartonboard International GmbH, Wien 

Mayr-Melnhof Packaging International GmbH, Wien 

Neupack Gesellschaft m.b.H., Reichenau an der Rax 

Mayr-Melnhof Packaging Austria GmbH, Wien 

free-com solutions GmbH (ab 1. Jänner 2015) 
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Aufgrund des Umlagevertrages zwischen den inländischen Gesellschaften wurden im Geschäftsjahr 

2015 EUR 41.371,26 (2014: EUR 1.528.492,37) an die Gruppenmitglieder weiterverrechnet.  

Die Steuern vom Einkommen und vom Ertrag weisen in 2015 einen Aufwand von EUR 140.067,43 auf 

(2014: Ertrag EUR 1.136.531,79).  

 

Die aktivierbaren latenten Ertragsteuern, die in Ausübung des Wahlrechts gemäß § 198 Abs. 10 UGB in 

der Bilanz nicht angesetzt sind, betragen zum 31. Dezember 2015  

EUR 1.221.947,25 (31. Dezember 2014: EUR 1.333.970,20). 

 

4 ––– SONSTIGE ANGABEN 

a ––– Angaben über Organe und Mitglieder 

Die Gesellschaft beschäftigt keine Arbeitnehmer. 

Die Organbezüge gliedern sich wie folgt: 

Bezüge des Vorstandes 
  

(in EUR) 2015 2014 

a) von der Gesellschaft 4.163.815,05 2.781.434,87

b) von verbundenen Unternehmen 1.586.913,67 2.699.779,06

Gesamt 5.750.728,72 5.481.213,93

Davon    

a) fixe Bezüge 2.778.075,85 2.699.779,06

b) variable Bezüge 2.972.652,87 2.781.434,87

Gesamt 5.750.728,72 5.481.213,93
  

 

Bezüge des Aufsichtsrates 

  

(in EUR) 2015 2014 

von der Gesellschaft 314.000,00 292.000,00

Gesamt 314.000,00 292.000,00
  

 

Hinsichtlich der Bezüge an ehemalige Organmitglieder wird von der Schutzklausel des 

§ 241 Abs. 4 UGB Gebrauch gemacht. 
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Die Organe der Gesellschaft setzten sich im abgelaufenen Geschäftsjahr wie folgt zusammen: 

Vorstand 

Dr. Wilhelm HÖRMANSEDER (Vorsitzender) 

Dr. Andreas BLASCHKE (Mitglied des Vorstandes) 

Mag. Gotthard MAYRINGER (Mitglied des Vorstandes, seit 1. April 2015) 

Ing. Franz RAPPOLD (Mitglied des Vorstandes) 

Dr. Oliver SCHUMY (Mitglied des Vorstandes, bis 31. März 2015) 

Aufsichtsrat 

Dipl.-Ing. Rainer ZELLNER (Vorsitzender, seit 29. April 2015) 

Dkfm. Michael GRÖLLER (Vorsitzender, bis 29. April 2015) 

o. Univ.-Prof. Dr. Romuald BERTL (Stellvertretender Vorsitzender) 

Mag. Johannes GOESS-SAURAU (Stellvertretender Vorsitzender) 

Dr. Nikolaus ANKERSHOFEN (Mitglied des Aufsichtsrates) 

Dr. Guido HELD (Mitglied des Aufsichtsrates) 

Dr. Alexander LEEB (Mitglied des Aufsichtsrates) 

MMMag. Georg MAYR-MELNHOF (Mitglied des Aufsichtsrates) 

Dipl.-Ing. Dr. Michael SCHWARZKOPF (Mitglied des Aufsichtsrates) 

Hubert ESSER (Delegierter des Europäischen Betriebsrates von MM Karton, bis 2. April 2015) 

Andreas HEMMER (Delegierter des Europäischen Betriebsrates von MM Karton ) 

Gerhard NOVOTNY (Delegierter der Divisionsvertretung von MM Packaging) 

 

b ––– Gewinnverwendung 

Für das Geschäftsjahr 2015 soll insgesamt eine Dividende von EUR 2,80 je Aktie ausgeschüttet 

werden. Da hiervon am 10. November 2015 bereits EUR 1,60 je Aktie als Zwischendividende 

(Abschlagszahlung auf den Bilanzgewinn) ausbezahlt wurden, schlägt der Vorstand vor, aus dem 

Bilanzgewinn eine Dividende von weiteren EUR 1,20 je Aktie auszuschütten.  

Wien, am 29. Februar 2016 

 

Der Vorstand 

Mayr-Melnhof Karton Aktiengesellschaft 

Dr. Wilhelm HÖRMANSEDER e.h.  

Dr. Andreas BLASCHKE e.h. Mag. Gotthard MAYRINGER e.h. Ing. Franz RAPPOLD e.h.
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Bestätigungsvermerk 
 

Bericht zum Jahresabschluss 

Wir haben den beigefügten Jahresabschluss der 

Mayr-Melnhof Karton Aktiengesellschaft, 

Wien, 

für das Geschäftsjahr vom 1. Jänner 2015 bis zum 31. Dezember 2015 unter Einbeziehung der 

Buchführung geprüft. Dieser Jahresabschluss umfasst die Bilanz zum 31. Dezember 2015, die Gewinn- 

und Verlustrechnung für das am 31. Dezember 2015 endende Geschäftsjahr sowie den Anhang. 

Verantwortung der gesetzlichen Vertreter für den Jahresabschluss und für die 

Buchführung  

Die gesetzlichen Vertreter der Gesellschaft sind für die Buchführung sowie für die Aufstellung eines 

Jahresabschlusses verantwortlich, der ein möglichst getreues Bild der Vermögens-, Finanz- und 

Ertragslage der Gesellschaft in Übereinstimmung mit den österreichischen unternehmensrechtlichen 

Vorschriften vermittelt. Diese Verantwortung beinhaltet die Gestaltung, Umsetzung und 

Aufrechterhaltung eines internen Kontrollsystems, soweit dieses für die Aufstellung des 

Jahresabschlusses und die Vermittlung eines möglichst getreuen Bildes der Vermögens-, Finanz- und 

Ertragslage der Gesellschaft von Bedeutung ist, damit dieser frei von wesentlichen Fehldarstellungen 

ist, sei es auf Grund von beabsichtigten oder unbeabsichtigten Fehlern; die Auswahl und Anwendung 

geeigneter Bilanzierungs- und Bewertungsmethoden; die Vornahme von Schätzungen, die unter 

Berücksichtigung der gegebenen Rahmenbedingungen angemessen erscheinen. 

Verantwortung des Abschlussprüfers und Beschreibung von Art und Umfang der 

gesetzlichen Abschlussprüfung 

Unsere Verantwortung besteht in der Abgabe eines Prüfungsurteils zu diesem Jahresabschluss auf der 

Grundlage unserer Prüfung. Wir haben unsere Prüfung unter Beachtung der in Österreich geltenden 

gesetzlichen Vorschriften und Grundsätze ordnungsgemäßer Abschlussprüfung durchgeführt. Diese 

Grundsätze erfordern, dass wir die Standesregeln einhalten und die Prüfung so planen und 

durchführen, dass wir uns mit hinreichender Sicherheit ein Urteil darüber bilden können, ob der 

Jahresabschluss frei von wesentlichen Fehldarstellungen ist. 

Eine Prüfung beinhaltet die Durchführung von Prüfungshandlungen zur Erlangung von 

Prüfungsnachweisen hinsichtlich der Beträge und sonstigen Angaben im Jahresabschluss. Die 

Auswahl der Prüfungshandlungen liegt im pflichtgemäßen Ermessen des Abschlussprüfers unter 

Berücksichtigung seiner Einschätzung des Risikos eines Auftretens wesentlicher Fehldarstellungen, 

sei es auf Grund von beabsichtigten oder unbeabsichtigten Fehlern. Bei der Vornahme dieser 

Risikoeinschätzung berücksichtigt der Abschlussprüfer das interne Kontrollsystem, soweit es für die 

Aufstellung des Jahresabschlusses und die Vermittlung eines möglichst getreuen Bildes der 

Vermögens-, Finanz- und Ertragslage der Gesellschaft von Bedeutung ist, um unter Berücksichtigung 
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der Rahmenbedingungen geeignete Prüfungshandlungen festzulegen, nicht jedoch um ein 

Prüfungsurteil über die Wirksamkeit der internen Kontrollen der Gesellschaft abzugeben. Die Prüfung 

umfasst ferner die Beurteilung der Angemessenheit der angewandten  Bilanzierungs- und 

Bewertungsmethoden und der von den gesetzlichen Vertretern vorgenommenen wesentlichen 

Schätzungen sowie eine Würdigung der Gesamtaussage des Jahresabschlusses. 

Wir sind der Auffassung, dass wir ausreichende und geeignete Prüfungsnachweise erlangt haben, 

sodass unsere Prüfung eine hinreichend sichere Grundlage für unser Prüfungsurteil darstellt. 

Prüfungsurteil  

Unsere Prüfung hat zu keinen Einwendungen geführt. Auf Grund der bei der Prüfung gewonnenen 

Erkenntnisse entspricht der Jahresabschluss nach unserer Beurteilung den gesetzlichen Vorschriften 

sowie den ergänzenden Bestimmungen der Satzung und vermittelt ein möglichst getreues Bild der 

Vermögens- und Finanzlage der Gesellschaft zum 31. Dezember 2015 sowie der Ertragslage der 

Gesellschaft für das Geschäftsjahr vom 1. Jänner 2015 bis zum 31. Dezember 2015 in 

Übereinstimmung mit den österreichischen Grundsätzen ordnungsmäßiger Buchführung. 

Aussagen zum Lagebericht  

Der Lagebericht ist auf Grund der gesetzlichen Vorschriften darauf zu prüfen, ob er mit dem 

Jahresabschluss in Einklang steht und ob die sonstigen Angaben im Lagebericht nicht eine falsche 

Vorstellung von der Lage der Gesellschaft erwecken. Der Bestätigungsvermerk hat auch eine Aussage 

darüber zu enthalten, ob der Lagebericht mit dem Jahresabschluss in Einklang steht und ob die 

Angaben nach § 243a UGB zutreffen. 

Der Lagebericht steht nach unserer Beurteilung in Einklang mit dem Jahresabschluss. Die Angaben 

gemäß § 243a UGB sind zutreffend. 

 

Wien, am 29. Februar 2016 

 

Grant Thornton Unitreu GmbH 

Wirtschaftsprüfungs- und Steuerberatungsgesellschaft 

MMag Christoph ZIMMEL e. h. Mag Eginhard KARL e. h. 

Wirtschaftsprüfer Wirtschaftsprüfer 
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Corporate Governance Report 
The Mayr-Melnhof Group pursues a responsible business activity focusing on sustainable profitability and 

solidity in both core competence areas, cartonboard and folding carton production. In order to ensure this, 

we have consistently complied with the principles of proper Corporate Governance. They are the basis for 

the trust our employees, shareholders, customers, suppliers, and the public place in the management and 

control of the Company, striving for long-term value creation. 

 

COMMITMENT TO THE AUSTRIAN CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE 

Mayr-Melnhof Karton AG has voluntarily committed to compliance with the Austrian Corporate Govern-

ance Code ever since it became effective and admits to compliance with the Code in the respectively 

applicable version. The Code is based on the provisions of Austrian stock corporation, stock exchange 

and capital market laws, EU recommendations as well as the guidelines contained in the OECD Princi-

ples of Corporate Governance. The Code is regularly reviewed in accordance with national and interna-

tional developments and adjusted accordingly. The applicable version of the Austrian Corporate Govern-

ance Code (Österreichischer Corporate Governance Kodex – ÖCGK) can be downloaded from the website 

of the Austrian Working Group for Corporate Governance at www.corporate-governance.at. Part of the 

Company's Corporate Governance Program is the annual evaluation of compliance with the Code.  

The implementation and evaluation for the business year 2015 is based on the version of the Code of  

January 2015. As before, Mayr Melnhof Karton AG complies with all legal provisions without any re-

strictions. Almost all additional C Rules (Comply or Explain) and R Rules (Recommendations) contained 

in the Code, which do not require any explanation in case of deviations, have been complied with. 

The Company gives the following explanations for deviations from C Rules in 2015: 

Rule 27 Non-financial criteria are not taken into account for the variable compensation of the 

members of the Management Board. 

 Explanation: Contents of current contracts with the members of the Management Board 

Rule 27a In case of an early termination of a member of the Management Board without any 

good cause, such member shall be compensated for no more than the remaining term 

of the contract. The economic situation of the company is not considered. 

 Explanation: Contents of current contracts with the members of the Management Board 

Rule 30 The upper limits currently applicable for variable compensation are not stated. 

 Explanation: We do not believe this information is material or relevant for any decisions. 

A cap is designated by all means. 

Rule 51 No disclosure of the compensation of each individual member of the Supervisory Board 

 Explanation: We do not believe this information is material or relevant for any decisions. 
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COMPOSITION AND REMUNERATION OF THE BOARD 

THE MANAGEMENT BOARD 

Wilhelm HÖRMANSEDER 

Chairman 

Member of the Management Board 

since March 9, 1994 

appointed until December 31, 2019 

born 1954 

 

Andreas BLASCHKE 

Member of the Management Board 

since May 14, 2002 

appointed until May 14, 2020 

born 1961 
 

 

Gotthard MAYRINGER 

Member of the Management Board 

since April 1, 2015 

appointed until May 14, 2018 

born 1966  
 
 
 

Franz RAPPOLD 

Member of the Management Board 

since May 14, 2002 

appointed until May 14, 2020 

born 1952 

 

The members of the Management Board do not hold any mandates in Group-external supervisory 

boards. 

Gotthard Mayringer succeeded Oliver Schumy as CFO in the Management Board as of April 1, 2015.  

 

THE SUPERVISORY BOARD 

Rainer ZELLNER  

Chairman since April 29, 2015 

born 1947 

Independent Entrepreneur, Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Mayr-Melnhof Holz Holding AG, 

Leoben 

 

Michael GRÖLLER  

Chairman from June 8, 2002 to April 29, 2015 

born 1941 

Manager of his own consulting company 

 

Romuald BERTL  

Deputy Chairman since March 2, 1994 

born 1953 

Auditor and tax consultant, Ordinary University Professor of Accounting and Auditing at the Vienna 

University of Economics and Business, Head of the Institute of Accounting and Auditing at the Vienna 

University of Economics and Business, President of the Austrian Financial Reporting and Auditing

Committee (AFRAC), Management Board member of Austrian family trusts and Supervisory Board 

member in Austrian family-owned companies 
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Johannes GOESS-SAURAU 

Deputy Chairman since May 7, 2008 

Member of the Supervisory Board since May 18, 2005 

born 1955 

Manager of several own companies 

 

Nikolaus ANKERSHOFEN 

Member of the Supervisory Board since April 28, 2010 

born 1969 

Lawyer and partner at Ankershofen-Goess-Hinteregger Rechtsanwälte OG, Supervisory Board mem-

ber at Mayr-Melnhof Holz Holding AG, Leoben, Management Board member of several private trusts 

 

Guido HELD 

Member of the Supervisory Board since May 7, 2008 

born 1944 

Lawyer and managing partner at hba Rechtsanwälte GmbH, Management Board member of several 

private trusts, member of the management of various companies 

 

Alexander LEEB 

Member of the Supervisory Board since May 7, 2008 

born 1959 

Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Plansee Holding AG, Reutte, Supervisory Board member of

Industrieliegenschaftsverwaltung AG, Vienna, Chairman of the Board of Trustees of LGT Venture Phi-

lanthropy Foundation, Vaduz, Chairman of Impact Ventures S.A., Luxembourg 

 

Georg MAYR-MELNHOF 

Member of the Supervisory Board since May 7, 2008 

born 1968 

Employee of the archdiocese Salzburg 

 

Michael SCHWARZKOPF 

Member of the Supervisory Board since April 29, 2009 

born 1961 

Chairman of the Management Board of Plansee Holding AG, Reutte 

 

Hubert ESSER 

Member of the Supervisory Board from May 10, 1995 to April 2, 2015 

born 1959 

Delegate of the European Works Council of MM Karton 

 

Andreas HEMMER 

Member of the Supervisory Board since October 20, 2009 

born 1968 

Delegate of the European Works Council of MM Karton 
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Gerhard NOVOTNY 

Member of the Supervisory Board since May 10, 1995 

born 1963 

Divisional representative of MM Packaging  

 
 

The current mandates of all members of the Supervisory Board delegated by the shareholders will 
expire upon the 26th Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting in 2020, which resolves on the discharge for the 
financial year 2019. 

All mandates of the Supervisory Board members delegated by the employees' representation bodies 
are awarded for an indefinite period of time. 

Members of the Committees of the Supervisory Board 

Presidium (Committee for Management Board Issues) 
Michael GRÖLLER, Chairman (until April 29, 2015) 

Rainer ZELLNER, Chairman (since April 29, 2015) 

Romuald BERTL  

Johannes GOESS-SAURAU 
Nikolaus ANKERSHOFEN 

Audit Committee 

Romuald BERTL, Chairman 

Michael GRÖLLER (until April 29, 2015) 

Rainer ZELLNER (since April 29, 2015) 

Johannes GOESS-SAURAU 

Nikolaus ANKERSHOFEN  

Gerhard NOVOTNY 

 

Members of the Supervisory Board with additional Supervisory Board mandates in 

publicly listed companies 

Michael SCHWARZKOPF 

Member of the Supervisory Board, voestalpine AG, Linz, Austria 
Member of the Supervisory Board, Molibdenos y Metales S.A., Santiago, Chile 

Independence of the members of the Supervisory Board 
The members of the Supervisory Board have orientated themselves towards the guidelines of the 
Austrian Corporate Governance Code for determining the criteria of their independence: 

The Supervisory Board member must not maintain, or have maintained in the past year, any business 
relations with the Company or any of its subsidiaries with significance for the member of the Supervi-
sory Board. This also applies to relationships with companies in which a member of the Supervisory 
Board has a considerable economic interest, but not to the performance of institutional functions in the 
Group. The approval of individual transactions by the Supervisory Board in accordance with L Rule 48 
(Company Contracts with Members of the Supervisory Board outside their activity in the Supervisory 
Board) does not automatically qualify the person as not independent. 
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The Supervisory Board member must not have acted as an auditor of the Company or have owned 
a share in the auditing company or have worked there as an employee in the past three years. 

The Supervisory Board member must not be a member of the Management Board of another com-
pany in which a member of the Company's Management Board is a Supervisory Board member. 

The Supervisory Board member must not be closely related (direct offspring, spouse, life partner, 
parent, uncle, aunt, brother, sister, niece, nephew) to a member of the Management Board or to 
employees in leading positions, to the auditor or to employees of the auditing company. 

All members of the Supervisory Board have declared their independence in accordance with these 
criteria. Consequently this also applies to any members of Committees of the Supervisory Board. 

Share owners or representation of interests of a share > 10 % in Mayr-Melnhof Karton AG 
In the Supervisory Board of Mayr-Melnhof Karton AG there is only one independent member representing 
a legal entity with a shareholding beyond 10 %:  

Nikolaus ANKERSHOFEN 

Contracts between members of the Supervisory Board and the Company subject to approval 
There are no such contracts. 

Compensation of the Management Board 
The compensation of the members of the Management Board is based on responsibility, personal 

performance, and the tasks accomplished by each member of the Management Board as well as the 

achievement of the Company's objectives and the economic situation of the Company. The compensa-

tion comprises fixed and variable components. The variable compensation depends particularly on 

sustainable, long-term, and multi-year performance criteria without giving rise to unreasonable risk-

taking. Non-financial criteria are currently not taken into account. 

The variable component of the compensation of the members of the Management Board, which is 

proportionally high in comparison to the fixed compensation, is subject to an upper limit and depends 

on the annual result, cash earnings, dividend payments, and the return on capital employed. The varia-

ble compensation of the members of the Management Board is paid on the basis of the data audited 

by the auditor in the following year of the economic reference base. 

In the business year 2015, the total amount of compensation of the members of the  

Management Board was thous. EUR 5,751 (2014: thous. EUR 5,481). Thereof, thous. EUR 2,778 (2014: 

thous. EUR 2,700) were related to fixed compensation and thous. EUR 2,973 (2014: thous. EUR 2,781) to 

variable compensation. The compensations of the individual members are as follows: Wilhelm  

Hörmanseder accounts for a fixed compensation of thous. EUR 909 and a variable compensation of  

thous. EUR 1,071, Franz Rappold accounts for a fixed compensation of thous. EUR 432 and a variable 

compensation of thous. EUR 643, Andreas Blaschke accounts for a fixed compensation of thous. EUR 430 

and a variable compensation of thous. EUR 643, Gotthard Mayringer accounts for a fixed compensation of  
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thous. EUR 329 and a variable compensation of thous. EUR 0 and Oliver Schumy accounts for a fixed 

compensation of thous. EUR 678 and a variable compensation of thous. EUR 616. 

Regarding the Company pension scheme, there is an entitlement to receive a pension from the  

65th year of age depending on the qualifying period. This includes defined benefit plans and defined con-

tribution plans, which primarily depend on the length of service and the beneficiaries' compensation. 

In case of the termination of a function, statutory rights on the basis of the employment contract shall 

apply. Severance payments in case of early terminations shall not exceed the compensation of the 

member of the Management Board for the remaining term of the member’s contract and take into 

account the circumstances of such termination of the respective member of the Management Board. 

The Company took out a D&O (Directors-and-Officers) insurance. 

The compensation of senior management in the Group also comprises fixed and variable components, 

whereby the variable compensations are based on the achievement of financial corporate goals as well 

as individually defined objectives. 

Compensation of the Supervisory Board 
The compensation of the Supervisory Board for the current business year will be determined by the 

Shareholders’ Meeting in the following year and paid subsequently. The Supervisory Board’s compen-

sation for 2014 amounted to thous. EUR 314. The allocation of the total compensation among the 

members is the Supervisory Board’s responsibility. In addition to this, the members of the Supervisory 

Board are granted a compensation for additional expenses incurred in exercising their duties. 

 

INFORMATION ON THE PROCEDURES OF THE MANAGEMENT BOARD 
AND THE SUPERVISORY BOARD 

Allocation of rights and duties within the Management Board 

Wilhelm HÖRMANSEDER CEO 

Gotthard MAYRINGER CFO 

Andreas BLASCHKE Sales, Marketing MM Packaging 

Franz RAPPOLD Sales, Marketing MM Karton 

 

The Management Board manages the business in accordance with the law, the bylaws, and the Arti-

cles of Association of the Company. The bylaws of the Management Board govern the assignment of 

responsibilities as well as the cooperation within the Management Board and include a catalogue of 

business cases which require the prior consent of the Supervisory Board. The members of the  

Management Board cooperate closely as colleagues, informing one another of all significant measures 

and occurrences within their respective areas of operation. The Management Board of Mayr-Melnhof 

Karton AG holds regular Board meetings on material Group- and division-relevant topics. The Chair-

man of the Management Board is responsible for chairing and preparing the meetings and for ex-

changing information with the Supervisory Board. 
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Type and decision-making power of the Committees of the Supervisory Board 

The Supervisory Board has established the following Committees from among its members: 

 

Presidium (Committee for Management Board Issues) 
The principal task of the Presidium is to discuss the Company's strategy and direction on a continuous 

basis as well as to prepare resolutions for the Supervisory Board concerning all strategic matters. Fur-

thermore, this Committee decides on issues concerning the Management Board in accordance with 

statutory regulations and also fulfills the appointment and compensation committees’ functions. The 

quality of the Committee’s work is guaranteed by its long-standing experience and know-how in 

compensation policy. 

Audit Committee 

The decision-making power derives from statutory regulations. The quality of the Committee’s work is 

guaranteed by its long-standing experience and know-how in finance and accounting as well as  

reporting. 

It is guaranteed that the Supervisory Board and the Committees are able to take decisions promptly in 

urgent cases. Each Chairman of the Committee informs the Supervisory Board on a regular basis about 

the activities of the Committee.  

Focus of the Supervisory Board 

The Supervisory Board held six meetings in the business year 2015, with the participation of the  

Management Board, and fulfilled its tasks and obligations in accordance with the law and the Articles 

of Association. Two members of the Supervisory Board were unable to attend one meeting each.  

In addition to analyzing ongoing business development, the main areas of focus were further strategic 

development in both corporate divisions, acquisition projects, investment plans, financing, risk evalua-

tion, and topics of Corporate Governance. 

The Supervisory Board carried out a self-evaluation for the financial year 2015. The result of the self-

evaluation shows that the activity of the Supervisory Board of Mayr-Melnhof Karton AG is assessed as 

overall efficient. The bylaws, the regular exchange of information as well as cooperation with the  

Management Board and the Group Auditor contribute significantly to this. 

Also in 2015, discussions in the Supervisory Board and Management Board meetings were character-

ized by a high degree of openness. All participants had sufficient opportunity to pose questions and to 

discuss. 
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Focus of the Committees of the Supervisory Board 

In 2015, the Presidium (Committee for Management Board Issues) met four times. It dealt in particular 

with Group strategy as well as matters relating to the Management Board and prepared the meetings 

of the Supervisory Board. The implementation of the Governance regulations applicable to the com-

pensation of the members of the Management Board as well as the review of the underlying compen-

sation policy has been taken care of. 

In 2015, the Audit Committee held two meetings and fulfilled its statutory duties. The focus was placed 

on dealing with the financial statements of the Group and the individual financial statements for 2014 

as well as the preparation of the individual and the Group financial statements for 2015. Due to the 

regular exchange between the Chairman of the Audit Committee and the Group Auditor outside the 

meetings, a discussion during the meetings without the presence of the participating Management 

Board members was not necessary. 

 

ADVANCEMENT OF WOMEN AS MEMBERS OF THE MANAGEMENT 
BOARD, SUPERVISORY BOARD, AND IN LEADING POSITIONS 

Positions on the Management Board, the Supervisory Board as well as all leading positions are staffed 

based on professional and personal qualifications. 

Women have been holding leading positions within the Group for a long time, in particular in the areas 

of human resources, legal matters, sales, and quality management.  

However, for reappointment to the position Chairman of the Supervisory Board no female candidate 

stood for election. 

Owing to the Group's activities in heavy industry and the shift systems, the proportion of women 

within the Group and in the recruitment process tends to be low. We nevertheless aspire to increase 

the share of women at all levels within the Group, in particular through appropriate development pro-

grams as well as by offering flexible working time models. Being an attractive employer for women, 

also in technical occupations, is a long-term objective.  
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EXTERNAL EVALUATION 

In the course of the annual audit of the financial statements 2015, Grant Thornton Unitreu GmbH 

Wirtschaftsprüfungs- und Steuerberatungsgesellschaft has carried out an evaluation of compliance 

with the C Rules of the Austrian Corporate Governance Code. The review of compliance with the rules 

of the Code regarding the audit was conducted by Georg Eckert, professor at Innsbruck University. As 

a result of this evaluation, the auditors have determined that the declaration given by  

Mayr-Melnhof Karton AG with regard to compliance with the Corporate Governance Code in the ver-

sion of January 2015 corresponds to the actual conditions. 

 

 

Vienna, February 29, 2016 

 

The Management Board 

Wilhelm Hörmanseder m. p. 

Andreas Blaschke m. p. Gotthard Mayringer m. p. Franz Rappold m. p.
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Statement of the 
Management Board 
according to section 82 (4) of the Austrian Stock  
Exchange Act 

We confirm to the best of our knowledge that the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair 

view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Group as required by the applicable 

accounting standards and that the Group management report gives a true and fair view of the develop-

ment and performance of the business and the position of the Group, together with a description of the 

principal risks and uncertainties the Group faces. 

We confirm to the best of our knowledge that the separate financial statements give a true and fair view of 

the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the parent company as required by the applica-

ble accounting standards and that the management report gives a true and fair view of the development 

and performance of the business and the position of the company, together with a description of the prin-

cipal risks and uncertainties the company faces. 

 

Vienna, February 29, 2016 

 

The Management Board 

Wilhelm Hörmanseder m. p. 
Chairman of the Management Board 

Andreas Blaschke m. p. 
Member of the 

Management Board 

Gotthard Mayringer m. p. 
Member of the  

Management Board 

Franz Rappold m. p. 
Member of the  

Management Board 

 


